University of Massachusetts Amherst ScholarWorks@UMass Amherst

Doctoral Dissertations

Dissertations and Theses

November 2016

Sperm Capacitation associated increase in Tyrosine Phosphorylation: kinetic of the increase and novel members involved in the process.

Antonio Alvau University of Massachusetts, Amherst

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.umass.edu/dissertations_2

Recommended Citation

Alvau, Antonio, "Sperm Capacitation associated increase in Tyrosine Phosphorylation: kinetic of the increase and novel members involved in the process." (2016). *Doctoral Dissertations*. 848. https://scholarworks.umass.edu/dissertations_2/848

This Open Access Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Dissertations and Theses at ScholarWorks@UMass Amherst. It has been accepted for inclusion in Doctoral Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks@UMass Amherst. For more information, please contact scholarworks@library.umass.edu.

SPERM CAPACITATION ASSOCIATED INCREASE IN TYROSINE PHOSPHORYLATION: KINETIC OF THE INCREASE AND NOVEL CANDIDATES INVOLVED IN THE PROCESS

A Dissertation presented

By

ANTONIO ALVAU

Submitted to the Graduate School of the University of Massachusetts Amherst in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

September 2016

Animal Biotechnology and Biomedical Sciences

© Copyright by Antonio Alvau 2016

All Rights Reserved

SPERM CAPACITATION ASSOCIATED INCREASE IN TYROSINE PHOSPHORYLATION: KINETIC OF THE INCREASE AND NOVEL CANDIDATES INVOLVED IN THE PROCESS.

A Dissertation Presented

By

ANTONIO ALVAU

Approved as to style and content by:

Pablo E. Visconti, chair

Rafael Fissore, member

Lisa Minter, member

Thomas Maresca, external member

Cynthia Baldwin, Graduate Program Director Veterinary and Animal Science Department

DEDICATION

To my parents Clara and Giovanni, because this is what happened when you use the Odyssey as bedtime story, thank you.

To Franco, because he is not just an uncle, he's a lifetime friend.

EPIGRAPH

"A Negroni, Signor Barone?" asked Mr. Cipriani. But the good lion had flown all the way from Africa and Africa had changed him. "Do you have any Hindu trader sandwiches?" he asked Cipriani. "No, but I can get some." "While you are sending for them make me a very dry martini." He added, "With Gordon's gin." "Very good," said Cipriani. "Very good indeed." Now the lion looked about him at the faces of all the nice people and he knew that he was at home but that he had also traveled. He was very happy.

Ernest Hemingway, The good Lion.

"Considerate la vostra semenza: fatti non foste a viver come bruti, ma per seguir virtute e canoscenza

Call to mind from whence ye sprang: Ye were not form'd to live the life of brutes, But virtue to pursue and knowledge high."

> Dante Alighieri, The Comedy, Hell Canto XXVI 118-120.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to acknowledge various colleagues and friends for their help, availability and scientific support. Dr. Cuasnicu and Dr. Battistone from Instituto de Biología y Medicina Experimental in Buenos Aires, for a long profitable collaboration. Dr. Alberto Darszon from Dept. de Genética del Desarrollo y Fisiología Molecular in Cuernavaca, for the great scientific discussion and the constructive criticism.

My doctoral committee members: Rafael Fissore, Lisa Minter and Tom Maresca, for guidance, support and the all the great scientific discussions. Pablo, you realized that with me, a good old argument works better than thousand words. Thank you but whom I'm going to discuss with now? Ana Maria, for always going beyond your role for me, from your scientific dedication to our projects to the constant personal support. Also, I will miss our laugh.

Felipe, we went through this together, I couldn't have ask for a better buddy, we were a great team, mostly during conferences.

David unfortunately we worked only few months together, very intense though. Thanks for your support, hope we can work together again in the future.

Maria Gracia, my big doctorate sister, your constant scientific support and suggestions, were invaluable. I miss already our coffees, talks, beers, laughs, arguments. Ti Voglio Bene.

vi

My long life friend Gian Battista, always on my side, although thousands miles apart.

Ilaria and Lorenzo for this great last year of trips, movies, spritz, parties and fun, I wouldn't have made it without you.

ABSTRACT

SPERM CAPACITATION ASSOCIATED INCREASE IN TYROSINE PHOSPHORYLATION: KINETIC OF THE INCREASE AND NOVEL CANDIDATES INVOLVED IN THE PROCESS.

SEPTEMBER 2016

ANTONIO ALVAU, B.Sc. UNIVERSITÀ DEGLI STUDI DI FIRENZE Ph.D., UNIVERSITY OF MASSACHUSETTS AMHERST Directed by Professor Pablo E. Visconti

Sperm capacitation is a post-ejaculatory maturational event required for successful fertilization. Specific molecular events are induced during capacitation: a cAMP-dependent activation of protein kinase A (PKA) leading downstream to the increase of tyrosine phosphorylation. Activation of PKA and tyrosine phosphorylation was shown to occur on different time scale. Here we showed that phosphorylation events during capacitation are tightly regulated over time, with fast activation of PKA and a late and continuous increase in the level of tyrosine phosphorylation to guarantee a pool of capacitated sperm at the right time/site of fertilization.

Despite several studies on tyrosine phosphorylation, the identity of the tyrosine kinase(s) that mediate these increases has not been conclusively demonstrated. Recently a role for *focal adhesion kinases* (PYK2 and FAK) was proposed in stallion, based on the use of PF431396, a small molecule inhibitor directed against this kinase family, but critical loss of function experiment have not been reported. We used both pharmacological tools and genetically modified mice models to investigate the identity of the tyrosine

viii

kinase(s) mediating the increase of tyrosine phosphorylation in human and mouse sperm. PF431396 blocks the capacitation-associated increase in tyrosine phosphorylation in both human and murine. On the other hand, *Pyk2*-/- mice showed a physiological capacitation-associated tyrosine phosphorylation and the specific inhibition of FAK by PF573228 showed no decrease in the levels of tyrosine phosphorylation, indicating that *focal adhesion kinases* are not responsible for this phosphorylation process. Here we show that PF431396 can also inhibit the tyrosine kinase FER and that sperm from mice targeted with a kinase inactivating mutation in *FER* failed to undergo capacitation-associated increases in tyrosine phosphorylation. While these mice are fertile, their sperm displayed normal levels hyperactivation but have reduced ability to fertilize metaphase-II arrested eggs *in vitro*.

Keywords: Sperm Capacitation, Tyrosine phosphorylation, Tyrosine Kinases, FER.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	vi
ABSTRACTv	'iii
CHAPTER	
1. INTRODUCTION: SIGNALING PATHWAYS REGULATING SPERM CAPACITATION	.1
1.1 Spermatogenesis	. 1
1.2 Epididymal Maturation	.2
1.3 Sperm Capacitation	.3
1.3.1 Definition and General Description	.3
1.3.2 Importance of the cAMP/PKA cell signaling pathway	.6
1.4 Capacitation-associated Tyrosine Phosphorylation (PY)	.8 0
1.4.1 Post-translational modifications and Phosphorylation in sperm	. 0
Canacitation	11
1.4.3 Kinases mediating capacitation-associated Tyrosine	•••
Phosphorylation	16
1.4.4 The case of c-Abl tyrosine kinase	19
1.4.5 The role of Src Family Kinases	20
1.4.6 Role of Focal Adhesion Kinases	22
1.5 Spatio-temporal considerations and Kinetics of Sperm Capacitation	
Signaling Events	25
1.6 Hypothesis and specific aims	27
1.6.1 Specific Aim 1: Investigate the role of focal adhesion kinase during] 20
1.6.2 Specific Aim 1: Investigate the role of FER tyrosine kinase during	20
capacitation in human and murine sperm	28
1.6.3 Specific Aim 2: Determine the kinetic of phosphorylation events	-0
associated with capacitation.	28
2 INVESTIGATING THE POLE OF FOCAL ADHESION KINASES DUPIN	2
SPERM CAPACITATION	29
2.1 Analyzing the activity of Focal Adhesion Kinases during sperm	
capacitation in human spermatozoa.	29
2.1.1 Presence of Focal Adhesion Kinase members in human	
spermatozoa	30
2.1.2 Effect of PF431396 on capacitation-associated phosphorylation	
events in human spermatozoa	31
2.1.3 PYK2 phoshorylation/activation and effect of PF431396 during	~ ~
capacitation	32
2.1.5 Effects of PF431396 on capacitation-associated events in numan	າງ
2.2 Applyzing the activity of Eocal Adhesion Kinases during sperm	აა
capacitation in murine CD1 sperm	₹4
2.2.1 Effect of PF431396 on murine sperm capacitation associated	J-T
protein phosphorylation	34
2.2.2 Effect of PF431396 on in vitro fertilizing ability of CD1 spermatozo	a
······	36
2.2.3 Effect of PF431396 on sperm motility of CD1 spermatozoa	38

TABLE OF CONTENTS

2.2.4 Presence of Focal Adhesion Kinase members in murine	
spermatozoa3	9
2.2.5 Effect of PF573228 on pPKAs and PY in CD1 sperm and Effect of	
PF431396 and PF573228 on the In vitro activities of recombinant	
FAK and PYK24	0
2.2.7 Analysis of the capacitation-associated phosphorylation events in	
PYK2 ^{-/-} spermatozoa4	2
2.2.8 Effect of PF431396 and PF573228 on capacitation associated	
protein	
bhosphorylation in spermatozoa from Pyk2 ^{-/-} animals	3
3. INVESTIGATING THE ROLE OF TYROSINE KINASE FER DURING	
SPERM CAPACITATION4	6
3.1 FER tyrosine kinase: a novel candidate for studies on capacitation-	
associated PY in murine sperm4	6
3.1.1 Expression of the Tyrosine Kinase FER in murine spermatozoa4	8
3.1.2 Effect of PF431396 on the activity of recombinant FER in vitro4	9
3.1.3 Analysis of capacitation-associated phosphorylation events in	
Fer ^{DR/DR} spermatozoa5	0
3.1.4 Analysis of FER localization in Fer ^{DR/DR} animals	2
3.1.5 Analysis of FER and PY signaling through STORM microscopy 5	3
3.1.6 Analysis of in vitro fertilization capability of Fer ^{DR/DR} animals	4
3.1.7 Analysis of functional parameters associated with capacitation in	•
Fer ^{DR/DR} animals	5
	~
I. INVESTIGATING THE KINETIC OF PHOSPHORYLATION EVENTS	~
4. INVESTIGATING THE KINETIC OF PHOSPHORYLATION EVENTS ASSOCIATED WITH CAPACITATION	8
ASSOCIATED WITH CAPACITATION	8
INVESTIGATING THE KINETIC OF PHOSPHORYLATION EVENTS ASSOCIATED WITH CAPACITATION 4.1 Analysis of the Kinetics of phosphorylation events associated with Capacitation in murine sperm: the chemical-genetic approach	8 8
 INVESTIGATING THE KINETIC OF PHOSPHORYLATION EVENTS ASSOCIATED WITH CAPACITATION	8
A. INVESTIGATING THE KINETIC OF PHOSPHORYLATION EVENTS ASSOCIATED WITH CAPACITATION	8 8 8
 A. INVESTIGATING THE KINETIC OF PHOSPHORYLATION EVENTS ASSOCIATED WITH CAPACITATION	8 8 8
 INVESTIGATING THE KINETIC OF PHOSPHORYLATION EVENTS ASSOCIATED WITH CAPACITATION	8 8 8 8
 A. INVESTIGATING THE KINETIC OF PHOSPHORYLATION EVENTS ASSOCIATED WITH CAPACITATION	8 8 8
 A. INVESTIGATING THE KINETIC OF PHOSPHORYLATION EVENTS ASSOCIATED WITH CAPACITATION	8 8 8
 INVESTIGATING THE KINETIC OF PHOSPHORYLATION EVENTS ASSOCIATED WITH CAPACITATION	8 8 8
 INVESTIGATING THE KINETIC OF PHOSPHORYLATION EVENTS ASSOCIATED WITH CAPACITATION	8 8 0 1
 INVESTIGATING THE KINETIC OF PHOSPHORYLATION EVENTS ASSOCIATED WITH CAPACITATION	8 8 8 0 1 2
 INVESTIGATING THE KINETIC OF PHOSPHORYLATION EVENTS ASSOCIATED WITH CAPACITATION	8 8 0 1 2 1 3
 INVESTIGATING THE KINETIC OF PHOSPHORYLATION EVENTS ASSOCIATED WITH CAPACITATION	8 8 0 1 2 1 3
 INVESTIGATING THE KINETIC OF PHOSPHORYLATION EVENTS ASSOCIATED WITH CAPACITATION	8 8 0 1 21 3 4
 INVESTIGATING THE KINETIC OF PHOSPHORYLATION EVENTS ASSOCIATED WITH CAPACITATION	8 8 0 1 2 1 3 4
 A. INVESTIGATING THE KINETIC OF PHOSPHORYLATION EVENTS ASSOCIATED WITH CAPACITATION	888 01213 45
 A. INVESTIGATING THE KINETIC OF PHOSPHORYLATION EVENTS ASSOCIATED WITH CAPACITATION	8 8 0 1 213 4 5 n
 A. INVESTIGATING THE KINETIC OF PHOSPHORYLATION EVENTS ASSOCIATED WITH CAPACITATION	8 8 8 0 1 213 4 5 n 7
 A. INVESTIGATING THE KINETIC OF PHOSPHORYLATION EVENTS ASSOCIATED WITH CAPACITATION	88800112213345007
 A. INVESTIGATING THE KINETIC OF PHOSPHORYLATION EVENTS ASSOCIATED WITH CAPACITATION	888801221345n78
 A. INVESTIGATING THE KINETIC OF PHOSPHORYLATION EVENTS ASSOCIATED WITH CAPACITATION	8880012 21334 51078
 INVESTIGATING THE KINETIC OF PHOSPHORYLATION EVENTS ASSOCIATED WITH CAPACITATION	88800121345n7880
 INVESTIGATING THE KINETIC OF PHOSPHORYLATION EVENTS ASSOCIATED WITH CAPACITATION	888800112213344500778800

capacitation 4.1.12 Kinetic of inhibition of PF431396 on pPKAs and PY	.71
phosphorylation in capacitated sperm	. 72
5. DISCUSSION	.74
6. MATERIALS & METHODS	. 83
6.1 Materials	. 83
6.2 Methods	.84
6.2.1 Mouse Sample Preparation	.84
6.2.2 Human Samples Preparation	.85
6.2.3 SDS-PAGE and Immunobioling	. 80
6.2.5 Pocombinant Kinaso Assay	.0/ 20
6.2.6 Analysis of in vitro activity of PKA	. 00 88
6 2 7 Human Sperm Motility Assay	. 00 89
6 2 8 Murine Sperm Motility Assay	. 89
6.2.9 Mouse Eggs Collection and IVF Assays	.90
6.2.10 Genotype of Pvk2 ^{-/-} and Fer ^{DR/DR}	.91
6.2.11 Genotype of Cαll animals	. 91
6.2.12 Indirect Immunofluorescence	. 92
6.2.13 Sample Preparation and Immunostaining for Super-resolution	
Microscopy	. 93
6.2.14 STORM Imaging	. 94
6.2.15 Super-resolution Image reconstruction and analysis	. 94
6.2.16 Statistics	. 95
BIBLIOGRAPHY	. 96

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION: SIGNALING PATHWAYS REGULATING SPERM CAPACITATION

1.1 Spermatogenesis

Spermatozoa are highly specialized and motile germ cells, and represent the final product of male gametogenesis, known as spermatogenesis, which occurs in the testis. Testis has both endocrine and reproductive functions, it responds to stimuli from anterior pituitary producing androgens, finally stimulating male gametogenesis (Weinbauer et al., 2001). Spermatogenesis occurs in the functional unit of the testis, the seminiferous tubules. Seminiferous tubules are composed by a germinal epithelium, mostly formed by the Sertoli cells which function not only as a barrier to protect haploid sperm from the attack of the immune system but also to provide essential paracrine factors (cytokines, proteins, growth factors and steroids) selectively up-taken by germ cells to produce mature spermatozoa (Weinbauer et al., 2001). When sperm reach their structural maturation, they are released from the germinal epithelium into the rete testis, where spermatozoa are concentrated before moving toward the epididymis. Although morphologically mature, these spermatozoa have not reached full fertilizing competence and need to transit through epididymis and vas deferens in order to acquire motility and later fertilizing ability.

1.2 Epididymal Maturation

Mammalian spermatozoa produced in the testis leave the rete testis and slowly transit through the *efferens ducts*, ultimately reaching the epididymis. The epididymis is a long, convoluted tube that covers a fundamental role in post gonadal maturation of male gametes and is divided in three portions: caput (proximal), corpus (medial) and cauda (distal) (Hinton and Palladino, 1995; Jones and Murdoch, 1996; Robaire and Viger, 1995; Yeung et al., 1993). Spermatozoa slowly transit across the epididymis in order to acquire motility, ability to respond to the female environment, and fertilizing ability. The prominent feature of epididymal lumen is a highly specialized epithelium (Da Silva et al., 2007). Primary function of epithelial cells is to secrete a luminal fluid to create the optimal environment for sperm maturation during epididymal maturation. Low levels of bicarbonate ions (HCO₃⁻) and pH typical of the luminal fluid (Kirichok et al., 2006; Levine and Kelly, 1978; Levine and Marsh, 1971) ensure the maintenance of spermatozoa in a quiescent state (Acott and Carr, 1984; Carr et al., 1985; Kirichok et al., 2006). Furthermore, interactions between epididymal factors and gametes are further facilitated due to high levels of water reabsorbtion. At the end of their transit through the epididymis, immotile spermatozoa finally reach the *cauda*, where they are stored in a quiescent state before ejaculation.

1.3 Sperm Capacitation

1.3.1 Definition and General Description

Ejaculated spermatozoa are motile but, before becoming fully competent for fertilization, they must reside in the female reproductive tract for a certain amount of time: the combination of physiological changes that occur to spermatozoa during the transit across the female reproductive tract and that prepare spermatozoa to interact with the egg is defined as Capacitation. Dr. Austin and Dr. Chang independently introduced the term *capacitation* in the early fifties (Austin, 1951; Chang, 1951). Since then, several studies have focused their interest on understanding features and regulatory mechanisms of sperm capacitation.

Physiologically, capacitation occurs after ejaculation, during the transit toward the oocyte, and is characterized by a series of maturational events that render spermatozoa able to appropriately swim through the *fallopian tubes*, to bind to the oocyte's extracellular matrix, to penetrate egg vestments and to fuse with the egg (Aitken and Nixon, 2013). Both functional and molecular modifications are typical of sperm capacitation and both are necessary to render spermatozoa fully capacitated (Yanagimachi, 1994a).

Two major functional changes characterize capacitated spermatozoa: the acquisition of hyperactive motility (Suarez, 1996, 2008) and the ability to undergo the *acrosomal reaction* (Breitbart, 2003; Florman et al., 2008). When spermatozoa transit through the female tract, it responds to the various environmental signals by modifying their motility pattern: ejaculated spermatozoa show progressive motility, which is characterized by a high

flagellar beat frequency and low bend angle, which helps mature sperm to swim out from the seminal plasma and to rapidly move through the vaginal and uterine environments, toward the oviducts. By the time sperm reach the utero-tubal junction (UTJ), they must acquire hyperactive motility; reduced flagellar beat frequency, increased bending angle and higher propulsive force distinguish hyperactive motility (Suarez and Ho, 2003). Hyperactive sperm are therefore slower but able to pass the UTJ and swim through the high viscosity medium typical of the fallopian tubes, detaching from the tubes epithelium to finally reach the oocyte.

Another functional change characterizing capacitated sperm and that is necessary for fertilization is the ability to undergo to the *acrosomal reaction*. The acrosome is a large secretory vesicle located on the tip of the sperm head and its lumen is filled with both soluble and particulate components called acrosomal matrix (Buffone et al., 2014a). Mostly proteases, glycosidases and several binding proteins form the acrosomal matrix (Buffone et al., 2008) and when capacitated spermatozoa reach the oviducts, release their acrosomal content in response to signals produced by the *zona pellucida*, in a process called <u>A</u>crosomal <u>R</u>eaction (AR). This exocytotic event allows spermatozoa to digest and penetrate egg vestments and, at the same time to expose molecules present on the sperm membrane that mediate sperm-egg binding and fusion. In order to be fully competent for fertilization, sperm must develop a functional acrosome and to be able to release its contents with the appropriate timing (Buffone et al., 2008; Florman et al., 2008).

Besides the functional changes described above, molecular and biochemical events must also take place during capacitation. These changes must not be considered as single events but as a series of somehow connected and sequential phenomena that ultimately render spermatozoa fully competent for fertilization (Salicioni et al., 2007). Biochemical events include: loss of cholesterol from sperm plasma membrane, fluxes of Ca²⁺, K⁺, HCO₃⁻ and other extracellular ions, changes in the cAMP levels, increased sperm plasma membrane potential and increased levels of Tyrosine Phosphorylation (PY). Modifications associated with capacitation occur both in the sperm flagellum and in the sperm head rendering spermatozoa competent for fertilization (Ickowicz et al., 2012; Salicioni et al., 2007; Visconti et al., 2011). Although investigating mechanism of sperm capacitation *in vivo* is challenging, sperm capacitation can be mimicked in vitro by exposing epididymal or ejaculated spermatozoa to a standard culture media with a limited number of ions (Na⁺, K⁺, Cl⁻, HCO₃⁻, Mg²⁺, Ca²⁺ and PO₄³⁻), energy metabolites (pyruvate, lactate and glucose) and cholesterol acceptors (usually Serum Albumin) (Bavister, 1973; Edwards et al., 1969; Lee and Storey, 1986). Historically, the ability to capacitate spermatozoa in vitro has represented a milestone not only to pinpoint the relevance of female factors during fertilization (Yanagimachi, 1994a) but to finally develop reproducible methods to fertilize metaphase-II arrested oocytes in vitro in humans (Steptoe and Edwards, 1978) and other mammalian species (Chang, 1959). Furthermore, eliciting sperm capacitation in vitro, easily has allowed researchers to study behavior and mechanisms of regulation of sperm during capacitation.

1.3.2 Importance of the cAMP/PKA cell signaling pathway

Due to the relatively easy conditions of stimulation *in vitro*, different molecular mechanisms associated with sperm capacitation have been characterized. Studies over the past 20 years have clearly shown that capacitation is associated with the activation of the cAMP/PKA pathway in several species (Esposito et al., 2004; Vijayaraghavan et al., 1997; Xie et al., 2006). In order to induce capacitation *in vitro*, the presence of a cholesterol acceptor (usually Bovine Serum Albumin [BSA]), Ca²⁺ and HCO₃⁻ are required. BSA induces loss of cholesterol (Visconti, 2009) and an increased membrane fluidity, producing elevation of the intracellular pH (pHi), activation of the Na⁺/HCO₃⁻ co-transporter (Demarco et al., 2003) and a rapid collapse of the asymmetry of the sperm plasma membrane (Gadella and Harrison, 2000; Signorelli et al., 2012). Increased levels of intracellular HCO₃⁻ and Ca²⁺ promotes the activation of the unique soluble Adenyl Cyclase expressed in sperm, ADCY10 (sAC) (Buck et al., 1999). The presence of ADCY10 has been shown to be necessary for fertility. In fact, sAC null mice are infertile and show defects associated with capacitation and with the acquisition of inducing a hyperactive motility pattern (Esposito et al., 2004; Xie et al., 2006). In turn, sAC activation induces an elevation of the intracellular levels of cAMP. The role of cAMP in the pathway conducive to sperm capacitation has been elucidated over the years by both biochemical and pharmacological approaches: increased cAMP levels promote the release of the C α II catalytic subunit of the Protein Kinase A (PKA) from the regulatory subunits stimulating the activity of the kinase (Nolan et al., 2004). Therefore, also PKA was shown to be a necessary element for sperm capacitation in vivo: animals lacking the

PKA catalytic subunit C α II are indeed not fertile, despites a normal mating behavior (Nolan et al., 2004).

The increase of cAMP levels and activation of PKA are considered early events of sperm capacitation: cAMP levels increases within 60 seconds with a full activation of the kinase in less than 90 seconds (Salicioni et al., 2007; Visconti et al., 1995a; Visconti et al., 1995b). Upon activation, PKA induces the phosphorylation of target proteins on Serine and Threonine residues, modulating their activity, thus initiating several signaling pathways downstream. The early activation of cAMP/PKA is also a necessary step to stimulate the phosphorylation of a number of protein substrates on tyrosine residues, a late event also considered a hallmark of sperm capacitation in several species (Baldi et al., 2002; Ficarro et al., 2003; Harrison, 2004; Jagan Mohanarao and Atreja, 2011; Roy and Atreja, 2008; Visconti et al., 1995a). Aforementioned studies using sAC and PKA null animals revealed the necessity of this pathway for sperm capacitation: spermatozoa with a defective cAMP/PKA pathway are infertile and their ability to undergo capacitation is lost (Esposito et al., 2004; Hess et al., 2005; Nolan et al., 2004). Therefore the early activation of cAMP/PKA is necessary not only to induce early events as the acquisition of progressive motility, membrane depolarization, activation of cAMP/PKA pathway and intracellular alkalinization but to also coordinate, in some yet unknown way, later events such as increased tyrosine phosphorylation levels, acquisition of hyperactive motility (Suarez, 2008) and chemotactic behavior, ability to undergo to AR (in response to zona pellucida, progesterone or other biological agonists in vitro)

(Breitbart, 2003; Florman et al., 2008), and ability to fertilize metaphase IIarrested oocytes *in vitro*.

1.4 Capacitation-associated Tyrosine Phosphorylation (PY)

1.4.1 Post-translational modifications and Phosphorylation in sperm

Spermatozoa are transcriptionally and translationally silent cells, therefore sperm functions mostly relies on different post-translational modifications. Ubiquitination was detected in different regions of human spermatozoa, where appears to negatively correlate with semen quality (Sutovsky et al., 2001), in contrast different results suggested ubiquitination being important for physiological sperm function (Haraguchi et al., 2007; Muratori et al., 2005; Sutovsky, 2003). Small ubiquitin-like modifiers (SUMO), another type of posttranslational modification, are also present in human and murine sperm, where it has been localized to different subcellular sperm compartments (Rogers et al., 2004; Vigodner et al., 2006; Vigodner and Morris, 2005). Marchiani *et al* have shown a negative correlation between sumoylation and progressive motility in human spermatozoa (Marchiani et al., 2011). Several proteins were also shown to be the target of nitrosylation in human sperm (Lefievre et al., 2007). Finally histories acetylation and methylation are known to regulate histone-protamines replacement process, therefore promoting chromatin remodeling and compaction in sperm (Baker, 2016). Although several types of post-translational modifications regulate different events associated with sperm function, most detailed studies have been focused on regulation of phosphorylation/dephosphorylation of pre-existing

proteins during capacitation (Naresh and Atreja, 2015). Earlier studies by Visconti *et al* have shown that the presence of HCO₃⁻, Ca²⁺ and BSA in the capacitating media not only promote the PKA-mediated phosphorylation of proteins on Ser/Thr residues and the acquisition of a hyperactive motility and AR, but that they also stimulate tyrosine phosphorylation (PY) of several protein substrates in mouse sperm (Visconti et al., 1995a; Visconti et al., 1995b). Subsequent studies have confirmed occurrence of PY during capacitation in several species like stallion (Pommer et al., 2003), boar (Flesch et al., 1999), bull (Galantino-Homer et al., 1997) and human (Aitken et al., 1996). Recent investigations have shown that also Na⁺, Cl⁻ and glucose are required to stimulate PY and ultimately capacitation (Hernandez-Gonzalez et al., 2006; Urner et al., 2001; Wertheimer et al., 2008).

Elevation of tyrosine phosphorylation levels during sperm capacitation was shown to be a downstream event respect to the activation of cAMP/PKA. cAMP agonists in fact are able to induce PY even when elements necessary for capacitation (Na⁺, Cl⁻, glucose, HCO₃⁻, Ca²⁺ and BSA) are lacking (Wertheimer et al., 2008). In addition, pharmacological inhibitors of PKA as H89 and PKI, besides affecting cAMP/PKA activation, are also effective in inhibiting the increase of tyrosine phosphorylation associated with capacitation (Visconti et al., 1995b). Even though increased tyrosine phosphorylation levels are known to be necessary for capacitation, a precise relationship between tyrosine phosphorylation status of mammalian spermatozoa and their ability to fertilize has not been ultimately established yet (Naresh and Atreja, 2015).

Besides the fundamental role covered by tyrosine phosphorylation during sperm capacitation, other types of phosphorylation/dephosphorylation events were shown to be associated with sperm capacitation. Phosphorylation on serine/threonine (ser/thr) was also reported during capacitation. Besides the well known role of PKA-mediated phosphorylation was shown for human (Moseley et al., 2005; O'Flaherty et al., 2004) and boar (Harrison, 2004), also ser/thr kinases different from PKA were show to be present in sperm: Protein Kinase C (PKC) (Breitbart et al., 1992; Kalina et al., 1995), Protein Kinase B/Akt (PKB/Akt) (Nauc et al., 2004), glycogen synthase kinase 3ß (GSK3ß) (Vijayaraghavan et al., 1996), mitogen-activated kinases (MAPKs) (O'Flaherty et al., 2005; Thundathil et al., 2002) and extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2 (ERK1/2) (de Lamirande and Gagnon, 2002; Luconi et al., 1998a). Other studies also reported proline-directed ser/thr phosphorylation during phosphorylation of murine spermatozoa. This type of phosphorylation, known to be important for cell homeostasis, proliferation and differentiation it depends in sperm on the presence of BSA (or other cholesterol acceptors as β -cyclodextrins) (Jha et al., 2006). The onset of proline-directed phosphorylation occurs earlier (after ~15 min in capacitating conditions) compared to PY increase, but does not depend on the presence of HCO₃⁻ (Jha et al., 2006). It is therefore essential to understand how these different post-translational mechanisms are regulated and whether they are interconnected in order to finally promote sperm capacitation.

1.4.2 Substrates phosphorylated on Tyrosine residues during Capacitation Sperm flagellum appears to be the major site of tyrosine phosphorylation in most of mammalian species (Leclerc et al., 1997; Naz et al., 1991; Urner et al., 2001) except for boar (Petrunkina et al., 2001; Tardif et al., 2001). Mammalian spermatozoa modify their motility pattern during capacitation to vigorously swim through the oviduct (Luconi et al., 2006), therefore requiring high levels of ATP, mostly produced by glycolysis occurring in the principal piece of the sperm tail (Fraser and Quinn, 1981; Miki et al., 2004). Different studies using 2-dimensional (2D) gel electrophoresis, together with tandem mass spectrometry, (MS/MS) have unveiled the identity of various substrates phosphorylated on tyrosine during capacitation in different species. The first identified proteins being phosphorylated on tyrosine belong to the family of A-kinase anchor protein (AKAPs). AKAP3 and AKAP4 were found being phosphorylated in murine (Moss et al., 1999), human (Ficarro et al., 2003) and hamster sperm (Jha and Shivaji, 2002). In addition, AKAPs members are activated by direct interaction with PKA (Carr et al., 1992) and localize within organized super-molecular structures in different cells (Luconi et al., 2011). AKAPs family members are also important during spermatogenesis, where some members regulate the assembly and stability of the sperm flagellum (Lin et al., 1995). The sperm flagellum, like other types of cilia, is organized in a typical 9+2 microtubular arrangement (axoneme) and is surrounded by 9 Outer Dense Fibers (ODFs); two opposite ODFs fuse with two surrounding longitudinal columns, which are connected throughout the tail by semilunar ribs forming the fibrous sheet, a cytoskeletal structure unique to the sperm flagella (Li et al., 2010; Luconi et al., 2011). Miki et al. showed that

spermatozoa lacking AKAP4 have a normal number of spermatozoa but fail to show progressive/hyperactive motility, they are infertile and they display an underdeveloped fibrous sheet and a short flagellum (Miki et al., 2002). Additional studies also showed that reduced tyrosine phosphorylation of ODF-2 and tektin-2 results in circular motility in hamster sperm (Mariappa et al., 2010), supporting the idea that PY and other changes in sperm motility are indeed associated events.

Studies from Naaby-Hansen *et al.* (Naaby-Hansen et al., 2002) also showed that CABYR, a calcium binding protein present in sperm, known to be associated with the fibrous sheet, is regulated by phosphorylation during capacitation. Interestingly, CABYR, a highly polymorphic protein shown to be phosphorylated both on tyrosine (Naaby-Hansen et al., 2002) and on serine/threonine during capacitation (Ficarro et al., 2003), shares high similarity with the human PKA regulatory domain (R α II), and appears to directly interact with AKAP3 in human spermatozoa (Li et al., 2011). The presence of CatSper 1-4 in the membrane of the principal piece, where also CABYR localize, further supports the hypothesis that CABYR plays a role in the cross-talk between calcium signaling and tyrosine phosphorylation (Li et al., 2010). CatSper proteins are in fact calcium-selective channels unique to spermatozoa that were recently shown to regulate the spatio-temporal occurrence of PY during capacitation (Chung et al., 2014).

Besides the abovementioned proteins associated with tail structure and motility, other substrates fundamental for cell metabolism are regulated by phosphorylation during capacitation. ATP produced by spermatozoa to support motility changes and capacitation is mostly produced by Glycolysis

(Miki et al., 2004), leading to the idea that PY also regulates the energetic state of spermatozoa during capacitation: pyruvate dehydrogenase (Arcelay et al., 2008; Jagan Mohanarao and Atreja, 2011), dihydrolipoamide dehydrogenase (Mitra et al., 2005a; Mitra and Shivaji, 2004) and two testisspecific Aldolase A isoforms, present in mature sperm (Vemuganti et al., 2007), are indeed phosphorylated on tyrosine during capacitation. Although sperm flagellum appears to be the major site of tyrosine phosphorylation, tyrosine-phosphorylated substrates were also known to be present in the sperm head: various studies revealed that heat shock protein 60, 70 and 90 (HSP-60, HSP-70 and HSP-90) are localized on the sperm head in humans and are phosphorylated during capacitation (Asquith et al., 2004; Mitchell et al., 2007). Molecular chaperones have an important role in basic cellular processes as protein folding and degradation, intracellular transport or membrane translocation and are usually activated under conditions of stress like elevated temperatures or osmotic and oxidative stress (Lund, 1995). In mature spermatozoa, heat shock proteins are somehow involved in the sperm-oocyte recognition, binding to the zona pellucida and the phosphorylation of these chaperones on tyrosine during capacitation regulates conformational changes on the sperm head facilitating sperm-egg recognition (Cole and Meyers, 2011; Dun et al., 2012; Ecroyd et al., 2003; Huszar et al., 2000; Mitchell et al., 2007; Naresh and Atreja, 2015). Valosincontaining protein (VCP/p97) is another member of the chaperone family known being phosphorylated on tyrosine during sperm capacitation. This protein was shown to translocate from the sperm neck to the head during

capacitation of human sperm, highlighting a possible role as a connecting player between capacitation and AR (Ficarro et al., 2003).

Recently, Mohanarao & Atreja have shown that actin is another important cytoskeletal protein phosphorylated during sperm capacitation in buffalo sperm (Jagan Mohanarao and Atreja, 2011). Various studies showed that during capacitation actin cytoskeleton remodeling occurs in the sperm head of different species (Brener et al., 2003), facilitating the occurrence of acrosomal reaction. Finally, inhibition of actin polymerization in human and guinea pig prevent sperm penetration of zona-free hamster oocytes (Rogers et al., 1989), highlighting the role of this structural protein as important player during spermegg interaction and fertilization. Other important cytoskeletal proteins like different tubulins (Kadam et al., 2007), spectrin (Dvorakova et al., 2005) and dynein (Travis et al., 2001) are also tyrosine phosphorylated during capacitation. Proacrosin binding protein/p32 is likely to be involved in the regulation of AR and capacitation; it is localized both on the acrosomal cap and in the mid piece and its phosphorylation was reported in boar (Dube et al., 2005), mouse (Arcelay et al., 2008), human (Kumar et al., 2006; Schumacher et al., 2013) and buffalo (Jagan Mohanarao and Atreja, 2011). Similarly, membrane channels appear to be post-translationally regulated during sperm capacitation. Recent studies in fact show that Voltage-Dependent Anion Channels (VDAC) are tyrosine-phosphorylated in different species (Arcelay et al., 2008; Ficarro et al., 2003; Jagan Mohanarao and Atreja, 2011). VDACs in sperm are largely localized in proximity of ODFs on the flagellum of bovine sperm (Hinsch et al., 2004) and murine models lacking VDAC gene are infertile and show reduced motility (Sampson et al., 2001).

These results further support the importance of proteins present in the principal piece for the regulation of sperm motility.

Protein phosphatases are another essential group of proteins regulated by phosphorylation on tyrosine during capacitation. Changes in the phosphorylation status during sperm capacitation (as in any other system) are tightly regulated by the balanced activity of kinases and phosphatases, therefore accounting for phosphatases activity during capacitation. Phosphatases were known to have a significant role during sperm maturation (Chakrabarti et al., 2007a; Mishra et al., 2003; Vijayaraghavan et al., 1996), with data revealing an important function in regulating sperm motility (Fardilha et al., 2011; Hoskins et al., 1983; Smith et al., 1996). Four isoforms of PP1 (PP1 α , PP1 β , PP1 γ 1 and PP1 γ 2) were shown to be present in mammalian sperm (Chakrabarti et al., 2007b), with PP1 γ 2 being the most abundant. This isoform has been detected in hamster, mouse, bull, primates and human (Smith et al., 1996) and has a major role in regulating sperm motility (Mishra et al., 2003). A different phosphatase found in mammalian sperm is PP2, which has been described in human, bovine and fowl spermatozoa; and PP2B (calcium/calmodulin-dependent phosphatase, calcineurin) found in dog, goat, pig, bovine, mouse and human sperm (Ashizawa et al., 2006; Vijayaraghavan et al., 1996). Importantly, recent data highlight a role for phosphatases in regulating the activity of PKA during capacitation: Goto and Harayama in 2009 first showed that the PP1/PP2 inhibitor cyclosporine-A (CL-A) increases the phosphorylation pattern of PKA during capacitation, with a decrease in the progressive motility and an increase in hyperactive population (Goto and Harayama, 2009). Later studies by Krapf et al., 2010 have proposed that

PP2A could be the phosphatase inhibiting the activity of PKA, and that its activity would be regulated by Src family kinases (SFK) (Krapf et al., 2010). Although these studies helped elucidating the role for certain phosphatases during capacitation, the precise relationship between phosphatases activity, tyrosine phosphorylation and capacitation has not been elucidated yet. Proteins involved in the regulation of oxidative stress are also phosphorylated during capacitation. Glutathione-S-transferase (GST) is located in the principal- and end piece of the flagellum, where it is involved in maintaining the oxidative balance and promoting detoxification (Naresh and Atreja, 2015). GSTmu5 isoform was found in murine (Arcelay et al., 2008) and hamster sperm (Ashrafzadeh et al., 2013), whereas GSTmu3 was found in buffalo (Jagan Mohanarao and Atreja, 2011, 2012) and human (Kumar et al., 2006) with both isoforms phosphorylated on tyrosine during capacitation. Finally, other phospho-proteins have been described in sperm during capacitation including tyrosine kinase c-yes (Leclerc and Goupil, 2002), alpha enolase, succinate dehydrogenase and glutamate synthase (Jagan Mohanarao and Atreja, 2011, 2012).

Although several studies revealed the identity of different proteins phosphorylated on tyrosine, the relationship between phosphorylation, time and specific functions of each of these substrates during capacitation requires further investigation.

1.4.3 Kinases mediating capacitation-associated Tyrosine Phosphorylation It is well established that in mammals, elevated levels of phosphorylated tyrosine observed during sperm capacitation are stimulated *in* vitro by the

same components promoting the activation of the cAMP/PKA pathway [HCO3⁻ and a cholesterol acceptor, usually BSA (Hernandez-Gonzalez et al., 2006; Urner et al., 2001; Visconti et al., 1995a; Wertheimer et al., 2008)]. In addition, calcium is known to be necessary for capacitation (Visconti et al., 2002; Yanagimachi, 1994b) acquisition of hyperactive motility and AR (Santi et al., 2010), with recent data showing that extracellular Ca²⁺ negatively regulates PY, possibly controlling its time of occurrence (Navarrete et al., 2015). Since PKA is a serine/threonine kinase and does not promote phosphorylation on tyrosine residues directly, it is reasonable to think that PKA induces the increase of tyrosine phosphorylation through a protein kinase cascade [reviewed by (Salicioni et al., 2007)]. Furthermore, the cAMPdependent increase of tyrosine phosphorylation has not been reported in cell types other than spermatozoa (Leclerc et al., 1996). Therefore, another fundamental and long-standing question in the field of male reproduction, particularly in studies on sperm capacitation, is to identify the (one or more) Tyrosine Kinase(s) that participate(s) in this process, and to ultimately comprehend how these kinase(s) are being regulated.

Protein tyrosine kinases (TKs) are divided in two major groups: non-receptor tyrosine kinases (PTK) and receptor tyrosine kinases (RTK), and both were shown to be present in mammalian spermatozoa (Gangwar and Atreja, 2015). Recent studies have reported that besides PKA-dependent tyrosine phosphorylation, a different subset of phosphorylated proteins is present on the membrane of capacitated spermatozoa (Nixon et al., 2010). Early studies on tyrosine phosphorylation were focused mostly on receptor tyrosine kinases expressed on cell surface. EGF receptor was found to be present on the

membrane of human, murine, rabbit (Naz and Ahmad, 1992) and bovine spermatozoa, where somehow promote the occurrence of acrosome reaction (Lax et al., 1994); p190 c-met tyrosine kinase receptor was also found to be localized in both human sperm tail and head, and to be phosphorylated on tyrosine upon activation (Herness and Naz, 1999); the Insulin growth factor receptor I (IGF-IR) has been identified in human (Naz and Padman, 1999) and bovine sperm. In addition, bull seminal plasma carry a high concentration of Insulin growth factor (IGF), (mostly produced in the testis and epididymis) (Henricks et al., 1998). IGFR, upon activation phosphorylates itself (autophosphorylation) and other adaptor proteins downstream: one of these adaptor protein is c-ras, shown to be present in human spermatozoa (Naz et al., 1992). The role of c-ras in different cell systems is well established: this adaptor protein promotes the activation of the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) cascade. Besides c-ras, other MAP kinases were found in sperm: ERK2 (p42ERK), which localizes in the head of human (Luconi et al., 1998b) and fowl (Ashizawa et al., 1997) spermatozoa. Nixon et al. showed that inhibitors of ERK1/2 kinases promote a decrease of tyrosine phosphorylation of membrane proteins in murine (Nixon et al., 2010) and boar sperm (Piehler et al., 2006) but not in human, hypothesizing different mechanisms of regulation between different species (Mitchell et al., 2007). It has been shown that ERK1/2 inhibitors are not able to completely suppress increased membrane tyrosine phosphorylation levels during capacitation, opening the possibility of a cross-talk between cAMP/PKA and MAP kinase cascades during capacitation of murine spermatozoa.

Although tyrosine phosphorylation could be mediated by receptor tyrosine kinase(s) in the sperm head, the major cascade of signaling events inducing the increase of tyrosine capacitation in the sperm tail during capacitation is dependent on the cAMP/PKA pathway. sAC and the Call catalytic subunit of PKA are both essential for fertilization, as the loss of each of these genes produce a sterile phenotype with defects associated with capacitation: knock-out (KO) mice do not show any increase of PY and do not acquire hyperactive motility (Burton and McKnight, 2007; Xie et al., 2006). In this regard, it is of great importance to identify the protein tyrosine kinase(s) activated downstream of cAMP/PKA and that stimulate the increase of tyrosine phosphorylation. Since Visconti *et al* report in 1995 (Visconti et al., 1995a; Visconti et al., 1995b), several studies tried to reveal the identity of the kinase(s) activated during capacitation and different candidates were proposed over the years.

1.4.4 The case of c-Abl tyrosine kinase

In somatic cells, c-Abl is a proto-oncogenic non-receptor tyrosine kinase that localizes both in the nucleus and in the cytoplasm, is ubiquitously expressed and plays a central role in different cellular processes as differentiation, proliferation and apoptosis. Since its presence was showed in human spermatozoa, tyrosine kinase c-Abl was considered as a possible candidate playing a role during sperm capacitation (Naz, 1998). Recent studies from Baker *et al* suggested a role for this kinase during the onset of PY associated with capacitation. c-Abl was found to be present in both the tail and the head

of murine spermatozoa and the C α II catalytic subunit of PKA *in vitro* was shown to induce c-Abl phosphorylation (Baker et al., 2009). c-Abl inhibition during *in vitro* capacitation, on the other hand, slightly affects PY increase (Baker et al., 2009), suggesting that c-Abl probably plays a marginal role in PY-dependent signaling during sperm capacitation.

1.4.5 The role of Src Family Kinases

Several studies point out to different Src Family Kinases (SFKs) to be responsible for the capacitation-associated increase in tyrosine phosphorylation. Leclerc and Goupil in 2002 (Leclerc and Goupil, 2002) first proposed c-yes: this tyrosine kinase was found in both sperm membrane and cytosol and its activity was up regulated by cAMP and down regulated by calcium. Although up regulation of c-yes by cAMP was in accordance with the paradigm of tyrosine phosphorylation, the fact that this kinase is negatively regulated by increased Ca²⁺, (which is known to augment during capacitation) suggested that a different kinase was involved in regulating tyrosine phosphorylation (Leclerc and Goupil, 2002). Another proposed candidate belonging to Src family was Fyn, but analysis of *fyn*-null spermatozoa showed defects associated with morphology and fertilizing ability but no difference in the pattern of tyrosine capacitation was observed compared to wild type, suggesting a role during sperm development in the testis (Luo et al., 2012). The major body of investigation on SFKs during capacitation was done on the role of c-Src. Baker et al in 2006 first proposed c-Src as the key tyrosine kinase regulating PY during capacitation: c-Src was found to be present in

murine sperm and to physically interact with the catalytic subunit of PKA (Baker et al., 2006). The phosphorylated active form of c-Src (c-Src PY⁴¹⁶) was detected only after capacitation, and found to be sensitive to H89 (specific inhibitor of PKA). In addition, the presence of SFKs inhibitor SU6656 in the capacitating media inhibited tyrosine phosphorylation (Baker et al., 2006). Studies conduced in human spermatozoa confirmed that tyrosine phosphorylation was sensitive to SU6656 but, different from previous data in mouse, c-Src failed to immunoprecipitate with the C α 2 catalytic subunit of PKA and no changes in hyperactive motility were observed (Varano et al., 2008). This set of results supported a possible role for c-Src during the increase of tyrosine phosphorylation but raised a question about the PKA direct activation of SFKs during capacitation (Varano et al., 2008). Later, studies from our lab (Krapf et al., 2010) provided further evidence on the role of SFKs during murine sperm capacitation indicating that, although SFKs inhibitors such as SU6656 do not affect the activity of PKA in vitro, the same concentrations of the inhibitor in vivo cause a decrease in the level of phosphorylation of the PKA substrates (Krapf et al., 2010), suggesting that the inhibition of tyrosine phosphorylation is due to a down regulation of the cAMP/PKA pathway upstream and not to a direct effect on the activity of c-Src or other tyrosine kinases. To further confirm that c-Src is not the unique tyrosine kinase involved in the pathway, levels of tyrosine phosphorylation were measured in a murine model lacking the *c-src* gene (Src null mice). Both sperm from c-Src null and their respective wild type littermates showed no differences in tyrosine phosphorylation levels after capacitation (Krapf et al., 2010). Based on the fact that the inhibitory effect of SFKs inhibitors on the

phosphorylation of PKA substrates and tyrosine during capacitation was abolished when inhibitors of serine/threonine phosphatases were added during capacitation, Kraft et al. proposed an alternative mechanism of regulation: SFKs are part of a parallel pathway that promote the full activation of PKA through the inhibition of serine/threonine phosphatases, which are known to be present in murine sperm, as mentioned above. More recently, our group has provided evidence for a similar mechanism of regulation of PKA activity mediated by SFKs through the down regulation of the serine/threonine phosphatases in human spermatozoa (Battistone et al., 2013). Although these later studies have represented a great advance in studies on sperm capacitation revealing the presence of another pathway parallel to cAMP - the involvement of SFKs and phosphatases in the activation of the PKA-, the original question of which tyrosine kinase(s) promote tyrosine phosphorylation during capacitation remains still open.

1.4.6 Role of Focal Adhesion Kinases

Recently, Gonzalez-Fernandez *et al* have proposed a different mechanism of PY stimulation mediated by calcium and pH in stallion (Gonzalez-Fernandez et al., 2013): they showed that in stallion sperm the capacitation-associated increase of tyrosine phosphorylation is lost in the presence of Ca²⁺ at physiological pH ~7.4 (Gonzalez-Fernandez et al., 2012), leading them to hypothesize that, beside cAMP/PKA cascade, calcium may also regulate tyrosine phosphorylation in order to prevent a premature occurrence of PY (and capacitation) (Gonzalez-Fernandez et al., 2012). In this study, the

authors open the possibility that a different calcium-dependent tyrosine kinase(s) is activated during capacitation in stallion sperm: Focal Adhesion Kinases. This kinase subfamily includes two members, FAK (PTK2) and PYK2 (PTK2B): both are non-receptor tyrosine kinases that, although sharing high similarity in structure, exhibit clear differences in their functions and mechanisms of regulation in different cells types such as fibroblasts, osteoblasts, osteoclasts and others in the immunological compartment. Both FAK members mediate phosphorylation of targets downstream, but also act as scaffolding proteins (Hall et al., 2011). FAK localizes to focal adhesion contacts where it responds to integrin clustering, growth factors and mechanical stimuli, ultimately regulating survival (Gilmore et al., 2009), proliferation (Assoian and Klein, 2008) and motility through the regulation of the actin cytoskeleton (Schaller, 2010). PYK2 shares a high degree of structure similarity and localization with FAK, yet it is regulated by integrin clustering, environmental stress and growth factors. Different from FAK, PYK2 responds to extracellular stimuli to regulate Rho activity (Okigaki et al., 2003), thus controlling actin cytoskeleton, finally promoting cell motility (Owen et al., 2007a; Sun et al., 2011), cell processes formation (Gil-Henn et al., 2007) and phagocytosis (Owen et al., 2007b). PYK2 also regulates mitogenic and hypertrophic response upstream the functionality of various ion channels (Lakkakorpi et al., 1999; Lev et al., 1995), and its full activity depends on the presence of Calcium (Wu et al., 2006).

Gonzalez-Fernandez *et al* showed that both members of FAK family are present in stallion spermatozoa. In addition, the use of the Focal Adhesion Kinase specific inhibitor PF431396 reduced both activity of the active
phosphorylated forms of FAK and PYK2 and the occurrence of tyrosine phosphorylation associated to sperm capacitation in stallion (Gonzalez-Fernandez et al., 2013).

Recent studies also investigate the role of both FAK members in oocytes from different species: Sharma and Kinsey showed that in *zebra-fish* oocytes, fertilization is associated with a rapid (~2 minutes) accumulation of PYK2, with an increase of the active phosphorylated form of PYK2 (PYK2-PY⁵⁷⁹) (Sharma and Kinsey, 2013). PYK2-PY⁵⁷⁹ increases at the site of sperm-egg binding. A similar role for PYK2 during sperm-egg interaction was also confirmed in mammals: both FAK and PYK2 are found in murine oocytes. After fertilization FAK retain its punctate localization but PYK2 appear to concentrate in proximity to the region where sperm head bound to the oocyte (McGinnis et al., 2013). Furthermore PYK2 plays a role either during sperm-egg fusion or sperm engulfment into the cytoplasm (Luo et al., 2014).

These results altogether highlight the role of Focal Adhesion Kinases as players during fertilization, which has lead us to hypothesize for a role for PYK2 / FAK in regulating the timing and occurrence of Capacitationassociated Tyrosine Phosphorylation in human and murine sperm.

1.5 Spatio-temporal considerations and Kinetics of Sperm Capacitation Signaling Events

Different from the antigen mediated T-cell activation, or cell signaling that takes place upon hormone-receptor binding, sperm capacitation signaling is not initiated by the binding of a ligand to a specific receptor. Moreover, unlike most of fast signaling cascades, also timing of sperm capacitation appear to be tightly regulated: when incubated in capacitating conditions, sperm reach their full fertilizing ability only after several minutes or even hours, depending on the species (Salicioni et al., 2007). It is important to note that, when studying the process of sperm capacitation from a kinetics point of view, an immediate paradox stands out: although the so-called 'triggers' of capacitation - the sAC-mediated increase of cAMP levels and the activation of PKA - are described as fast events, spermatozoa show macroscopic features of capacitation (hyperactive motility and acrosomal reaction) only minutes or even hours later. Furthermore, cAMP may regulate, either directly or indirectly, different biochemical events associated with capacitation: intracellular alkalinization (Zeng et al., 1996), membrane lipid remodeling (Gadella and Harrison, 2000) and hyperpolarization of the sperm plasma membrane (De La Vega-Beltran et al., 2012; Escoffier et al., 2012; Zeng et al., 1995). Although in the last years several advances have been made in understanding mechanisms mediating capacitation, little is known about how the early triggers of capacitation may coordinate events occurring later on in order to ensure the presence of a pool of capacitated spermatozoa able to reach the oocyte at an appropriate time. As previously stated, the increase of tyrosine phosphorylation (PY) associated with capacitation is also activated by

the initial rise in cAMP but it was shown to occur on a different time in different models. In murine sperm, increased levels of PY are observed only 45 minutes after the beginning of capacitation in vitro, reaching their maximum at 60 minutes, and remaining steady thereafter (Visconti et al., 1995a). In bovines, PY levels start to rise after 3 hours with a full increase at 5 hours (Galantino-Homer et al., 1997); a similar time course is also observed for humans (Liu et al., 2006). Using a chemical-genetic approach that allows to specifically inhibit sperm PKA without affecting off-target kinases, Morgan et al 2008 showed that, although the activation of PKA during capacitation is a fast event, the activity of this ser/thr kinase must be sustained for at least 30 minutes in order to promote the increase of PY and finally capacitation (Morgan et al., 2008). Recent data also showed that the activity of c-Src, a tyrosine kinase that promotes activation of PKA through down regulation of ser/thr phosphatases (Krapf et al., 2010), is tightly regulated over time. Krapf further showed that auto-phosphorylation (and activation) of cSrc is dependent on the activation of PKA and that begins only 15 minutes after capacitation (and PKA activation) has started, finally reaching its maximum after 60 minutes (Stival et al., 2015). Therefore c-Src activation is delayed compared to the activation of PKA but precede the onset of tyrosine phosphorylation. Altogether, these results suggest that the activities of the different kinases involved in capacitation are tightly regulated over time. Therefore it is critical to investigate the spatio-temporal occurrence of the different hallmarks of capacitation for a full comprehension of the process. Due to the importance of different phosphorylation events during capacitation, it is of great importance to investigate the possible role of protein

phosphatases in regulating the temporal occurrence of the events linked to sperm capacitation. Our efforts in the fourth chapter of this dissertation will be focused on investigating and understanding the kinetics of phosphorylation events during capacitation in murine spermatozoa.

1.6 Hypothesis and specific aims

The purpose of this project is to contribute elucidating molecular events that participate in the process of sperm capacitation in murine spermatozoa. Our working hypothesis is that a protein tyrosine kinase downstream of PKA is responsible for the onset of tyrosine capacitation.

This hypothesis gives rise to some basic questions: 1. What is the tyrosine kinase that promotes the increase of tyrosine phosphorylation? 2. Does the increase in tyrosine phosphorylation depend on the presence of a single specific tyrosine kinase? 3. What is the temporal relationship between tyrosine phosphorylation and the upstream activation of PKA?

In order to elucidate the questions mentioned above, we propose two specific aims.

1.6.1 Specific Aim 1: Investigate the role of focal adhesion kinase during capacitation in human and murine sperm.

The focal adhesion kinase specific inhibitor PF431396 was shown to inhibit capacitation-associated PY in stallion sperm (Gonzalez-Fernandez et al., 2013). No evidence so fare were given about a possible role of this family in regulating tyrosine phosphorylation during capacitation.

1.6.2 Specific Aim 1: Investigate the role of FER tyrosine kinase during capacitation in human and murine sperm.

Recently phospho-proteome analysis of capacitated mouse sperm showed that the tyrosine kinase FER is present and phosphorylated (Chung et al., 2014). However no studies were focus on investigating the role of FER kinase during sperm capacitation.

1.6.3 Specific Aim 2: Determine the kinetic of phosphorylation events associated with capacitation.

A study in murine showed that the activity of PKA have to be sustained to induce tyrosine phosphorylation during capacitation (Morgan et al., 2008). Beside this publication, no studies so far focused on the temporal requirement for phosphorylation events in order to guarantee a pool of capacitated sperm.

CHAPTER 2

INVESTIGATING THE ROLE OF FOCAL ADHESION KINASES DURING SPERM CAPACITATION

2.1 Analyzing the activity of Focal Adhesion Kinases during sperm capacitation in human spermatozoa.

Focal adhesion kinase family represents a class of protein tyrosine kinases involved in the control and regulation of cell migration. This coordinated event requires both a fast regulation of the dynamics of actin cytoskeleton and the continuous assembly and disassembly of adhesion sites (Brakebusch and Fassler, 2003) to promote the generation of membrane processes and traction forces that allow cells to migrate (DeMali et al., 2003). Extracellular stimuli that control cell migration are transduced to intracellular signals through the activation of integrins. Several extracellular signals induce the formation of integrins heterodimers and the assembly of intracellular dynamic protein complexes named focal contacts, which promote the activation of biochemical signaling downstream (Mitra et al., 2005b). Focal adhesion kinases (fak) are present at focal contacts, where rapidly respond to different stimuli activating their tyrosine kinase activity. FAK family includes two members: FAK (*PTK*2) and PYK2 (*PTK*2B). The structures of both members of the family show high similarity. FAK and PYK2 indeed share the FERM, FAT and kinase domains as well as the presence of three proline-rich regions (PRRs). FERM domain mediates interaction with receptor tyrosine kinases (EGFR or PDGF) as well as with G-protein couple receptors (GPCRs), promoting the activation of FAK and other non-receptor tyrosine kinase; FAT on the other hand is the domain that regulate the interaction

with other integrin-associated proteins of the focal contact including paxilin and talin (Schlaepfer et al., 2004); the PRR domains function as binding sites for Src Homology domains 3 (SH3) containing proteins, promoting FAK's function as adaptor protein (Chodniewicz and Klemke, 2004; Hanks et al., 2003). The kinase domain both promotes the phosphorylation of specific substrates and autophosphorylation: auto-phosphorylation of Tyr397 on FAK and of Tyr402 on PYK2 induces the formation of a recognition motif for protein with SH2 domains, finely regulating the activity of the kinase (Toutant et al., 2002; Wu et al., 2006). Although both FAK and PYK2 shares high similarity and can bind to Src Family Kinases (SFKs) (Calalb et al., 1995), these kinases cover different cellular roles due to different binding affinity to the FERM and FAT domains. Furthermore PYK2, different from FAK, which always localize at focal contact, have a perinuclear distribution and its activity is dependent on intracellular Ca²⁺ (Klingbeil et al., 2001; Wu et al., 2006). Finally these two kinases are differentially expressed with FAK mostly widely express compared to PYK2, which is mostly restricted to cell of the endothelium, the central nervous system and hematopoietic lineage (Mitra et al., 2005b). Recent data showed that both members of focal adhesion family are present in stallion spermatozoa, where have been suggested to regulate the onset of tyrosine phosphorylation associated with capacitation (Gonzalez-Fernandez et al., 2013).

2.1.1 Presence of Focal Adhesion Kinase members in human spermatozoa

Focal Adhesion Kinases were shown to be present in stallion sperm where appear to regulate the increase of PY associated with capacitation (Gonzalez-

Fernandez et al., 2013). These results led us to investigate whether FAK members were present in human sperm and if these kinases cover a similar role in regulating mechanisms conducive to sperm capacitation. The presence of both FAK members was tested by Western blotting together with the use of specific antibodies directed against either total levels of FAK or PYK2. We showed that in total cell lysates from human sperm, only one member of the Focal Adhesion Kinase family was present, PYK2 (Fig 2.1A). In fact, antibodies directed against total levels of FAK did not detect any band correspondent to the molecular weight of FAK in human spermatozoa (Fig 2.1B).

2.1.2 Effect of PF431396 on capacitation-associated phosphorylation events in human spermatozoa

To further investigate whether PYK2 play a role in regulating PY during sperm capacitation in human sperm, we tested the effect of a small molecule inhibitor of FAK kinase members, PF431396 (Buckbinder et al., 2007; Han et al., 2009). This inhibitor in stallion was shown to negatively affect PY increase associated with capacitation (Gonzalez-Fernandez et al., 2013). Ejaculated spermatozoa were incubated for 6 hours in a complete BWW media alone (in presence of HCO₃⁻) or in presence of increasing concentrations of PF431396 ($0-30\mu$ M): the inhibitor cause a slight increase in the levels of phosphorylation of PKA substrates (pPKAs) (Fig 2.2, upper panel) but induce a significant decrease in the level of tyrosine phosphorylation (PY) associated with capacitation (Fig 2.2, lower panel) with a clear decrease in PY levels observed at 3μ M. The result suggests a role for

the FAK member PYK2 during capacitation of human spermatozoa, most likely being involved in the induction of tyrosine phosphorylation.

2.1.3 PYK2 phoshorylation/activation and effect of PF431396 during capacitation

In order to gain further insights on the possible role of PYK2 during capacitation in human, the activation status of this kinase was tested by western blot: data in the literature showed that in different cellular systems, upon activation, PYK2 is trans/auto phosphorylated on tyrosine 402 (PYK2-PY⁴⁰²) (Avraham et al., 2000). We used antibodies directed against the phosphorylated form of PYK2 (anti-PYK2-PY⁴⁰²) to investigate the kinetic of activation of PYK2 during capacitation. The phosphorylated form of PYK2 is not detected in fresh ejaculated sperm, but the signal appear only after two hours incubation in complete BWW media, and PYK2-PY⁴⁰² phosphorylation reach its maximum after 6 hours incubation in capacitating conditions (Fig 2.3A, upper panel). On the other hand, levels of total PYK2 remained constant during the same time of incubation (Fig 2.3A, lower panel). The similarity between the kinetics of PY and PYK2 during capacitation further supports a role for the FAK member as regulator of PY during capacitation (Liu et al., 2006). To test a possible relationship between PYK2 activity and tyrosine phosphorylation during capacitation, we examined whether the activity of PYK2 is affected by the presence of PF431396. Sperm were incubated in BWW media, in absence or presence of PF431396, and after 6 hours the phosphorylation level of PYK2 (PYK2-PY⁴⁰²) was analyzed. Phosphorylated PYK2 appear only in presence of bicarbonate (complete BWW media), and the signal is

lost when the sperm population is incubated with 5µM PF431396 (Fig 2.3B, higher panel), no change in the levels of total PYK2 were observed (Fig 2.3B, lower panel). Additionally, the kinetics of activation of the enzyme and PY are very similar, with a slow increase over time when sperm are incubated in capacitating conditions. Altogether, these results suggest that PYK2 is activated during capacitation and that its activity correlate with the occurrence of PY.

2.1.5 Effects of PF431396 on capacitation-associated events in human sperm

In order to investigate whether PYK2 have a function in regulating the occurrence of late capacitation-associated events, we next tested the effect of PF431396 on two well-known functional events associated with sperm capacitation: motility and acrosomal reaction (AR). When sperm were incubated in presence of PF431396, increasing concentrations of the inhibitor negatively affect several parameters associated with sperm motility (all except linearity [LIN] and straightness [STR]), indicating that PYK2 is somehow involved in the regulation of sperm motility (Fig. 2.4). Furthermore, the presence of PF431396 negatively affect both progressive motility and hyperactive motility in capacitating conditions: in presence of the inhibitor in fact, the percentage of hyperactive sperm is reduced from ~12% in the capacitated sperm to ~2% in sperm treated with PF431396 (both 10 and 30μ M), similar decrease was also shown for progressive motility (from 86% to 25%) (Fig 2. 4) No effect on total motility was observed (data not shown). The effect of PF431396 on the *in vitro* progesterone-induced AR was also tested and was shown to negatively affect the occurrence of acrosome reaction: 10 and 30µM PF431396 added during capacitation cause a significant decrease in the number

of progesterone-reacted spermatozoa without affecting the rate of spontaneous AR (Fig 2.5). Observations discussed in this paragraph strongly suggest that the focal adhesion kinase PYK2 in human sperm, play a role downstream to cAMP/PKA during capacitation and appear to regulate the onset of slow events of capacitation as onset of PY, hyperactive motility and AR.

2.2 Analyzing the activity of Focal Adhesion Kinases during sperm capacitation in murine CD1 sperm.

Results showed in the above section highlight a role for the *focal adhesion kinase* PYK2 in the regulation of PY during sperm capacitation in human spermatozoa. In this second section of the chapter, we used both pharmacological and genetic approaches to investigate the presence of *focal adhesion kinases* and whether any of these proteins play a role in the regulation of PY during murine capacitation, similar to what we suggested in human.

2.2.1 Effect of PF431396 on murine sperm capacitation associated protein phosphorylation

In the case of murine spermatozoa, we decided to use a slightly different strategy and to test the effect of the *fak* members-specific inhibitor PF431396 on the phosphorylation of both PKA substrates and tyrosine before examining the presence of focal adhesion members. When murine sperm are stimulated with HCO₃⁻ and BSA *in vitro*, events associated with sperm capacitation as cAMPmediated activation of PKA and a late increase of PY levels are induced (Visconti

et al., 1995a; Visconti et al., 1995b). Murine spermatozoa are incubated for 60 minutes in modified TYH medium containing 15mM HCO₃⁻ and 5mg/mL BSA together with different concentrations of PF431396 (1-30µM). After 60 minutes of incubation, protein extracts were produced and phosphorylation of PKA substrates (pPKAs) and of tyrosine (PY) were analyzed using anti-pPKAs and anti-PY antibodies, respectively. PF431396 induces a concentration-dependent decrease in the levels of PY with an EC₅₀ ~1 μ M with maximum effect observed at 10µM (Fig 2.6, upper panels). On the other hand when the capacitationassociated levels of pPKAs in presence of the same concentrations were examined, no significant decrease was observed compared to non-treated capacitated control (Fig 2.6, lower panels). Therefore PF431396 inhibits the capacitation-associated onset of tyrosine phosphorylation (PY) in a concentrationdependent manner, without affecting early events as increase of cAMP levels and PKA activation in murine (pPKAs), confirming previous results in human spermatozoa (Fig 2.2). In order to confirm PF431396 was not affecting early events associated with capacitation, we additionally examined the effect of the inhibitor when the signaling was also stimulated by exogenous triggers of pPKAs and PY in different species: dibutyryladenosine cyclic monophosphate (dbcAMP) and isobuthilmethylxanthine (IBMX) (Esposito et al., 2004). Sperm were coincubated with modified TYH media (containing HCO₃⁻ and BSA) together with 1mM dbcAMP/100 μ M IBMX, both in presence and absence of 10 μ M PF431396. The presence of exogenous triggers did not modify the pattern of inhibition of PY mediated by PF431396, with a clear decrease in the levels of PY (Fig 2.7, upper panels) and no effect on the phosphorylation of PKA substrates (Fig 2.7, lower panels).

Src Family Kinases (SFKs) were also showed to have a positive role in the full activation of Protein Kinase A during capacitation both in human (Battistone et al., 2013) and murine (Krapf et al., 2010), by down regulating the inhibitory effect of Serine/Threonine phosphatases on PKA, in a parallel pathway to the one stimulated by sAC/cAMP. The specificity of the pharmacological approach in use was also assessed by examining the effect of PF431396 on PY, in presence of different concentrations of the phosphatases inhibitor okadaic acid (OA). The SFKs inhibitor SKI606 (50µM) induces a decrease in the capacitation-associated pPKAs and PY levels and this decrease is rescued in presence of OA (Krapf et al., 2010). Different from what was shown for SFKs inhibitors SKI606 and SU6656, increasing concentrations of OA (1–100nM) are not able to rescue the inhibition of PY mediated by 10µM PF431396 (Fig 2.8) consistent with previous results in human (Battistone et al., 2014). These data indicate that PF431396 inhibits the late increase of PY associated with capacitation without affecting the parallel pathway mediated by SFKs and phosphatases, which regulates the full activation of PKA during capacitation. This result suggests that, similar to what we shown in human, focal adhesion kinases could be the target of PF431396 during capacitation therefore possibly playing a role in the increase of PY.

2.2.2 Effect of PF431396 on in vitro fertilizing ability of CD1 spermatozoa

The focal adhesion kinase inhibitor PF431396 was shown to abolish the increase of PY observed during capacitation (Fig 2.6). Since the well established importance of PY increase during capacitation in different species (Baldi et al., 2002; Ficarro et al., 2003; Liu et al., 2006; Roy and Atreja, 2008; Visconti et al.,

1995b), we decided to test the effect of the same inhibitor also on the ability of CD1 spermatozoa to fertilize metaphase-II arrested oocytes in vitro. We used 10µM PF431396, a concentration showed to abolish tyrosine phosphorylation increase in sperm from CD1 mice (Fig 2.6). In presence of PF431396, the ability of CD1 epididymal spermatozoa to fertilize metaphase II arrested oocytes in vitro is reduced of about 40% compared to untreated sperm (Fig 2.9A). Furthermore when the same concentration of the inhibitor was present both during capacitation and co-incubation the inhibitor displayed a more pronounced effect with a stronger decrease in fertilizing ability (Fig 2.9A). Recent studies showed that the calciumdependent activation of PYK2 is required in Zebra-fish oocyte to guarantee successful fertilization (Sharma and Kinsey, 2013) and that in murine, PYK2 somehow mediates sperm-egg fusion and anaphase resumption (McGinnis et al., 2013). Due to a possible effect of PF431396 on the activation of PYK2 during meiotic resumption of metaphase II arrested oocytes (McGinnis et al., 2013) during our experimental procedure, we therefore decided to test the effect of different concentrations of PF431396 (0.01–1µM, carryover concentrations used during IVF experiments) only when incubated with metaphase II arrested oocyte: after collection, eggs were incubated in presence of PF431396 for 30 minutes and then co-incubated with capacitated spermatozoa (not treated with the FAK inhibitor) for the following 4 hours in presence of PF431396. We showed that concentrations up to 1µM have a negligible effect on PYK2 activation in metaphase arrested II oocytes (Fig 2.9B), confirming that the decrease of fertilization rate observed in Fig 2.9A is the results of the inhibitory effect of PF431396 throughout capacitation and not on the meiotic resumption of murine oocytes during in vitro fertilization.

The reduced ability of PF431396 incubated during capacitation, to strongly inhibit fertilization rate in compared to other treatments, is due to a time-dependent increase of PY phosphorylation during sperm-oocyte co-incubation the carryover concentrations of PF431396 drop to 10nM) (see Fig 4.13).

Although this observation confirmed that PF431396 negatively affect fertilizing ability *in vitro*, suggesting PYK2 play a role in coordinating later events of capacitation, the data does not indicates which functional feature was negatively affected by the inhibitor during capacitation.

2.2.3 Effect of PF431396 on sperm motility of CD1 spermatozoa

In order to investigate which functional parameter of capacitation was affected by PF431396, we decided to analyze the effect of the inhibitor on motility of murine sperm. Mammalian spermatozoa modify their motility behavior during capacitation: while ejaculated spermatozoa mostly show a progressive motility that allows them to rapidly swim-out from the seminal plasma, capacitated spermatozoa in the utero-tubal junction (UTJ) acquire hyperactive motility, which render this cells slower but able to swim through the viscous tubal mucus of Fallopian tubes (Fraser, 1977, 2010; Suarez, 1996, 2008; Suarez and Osman, 1987). Studies also showed that most of the tyrosine phosphorylated substrates are located in the sperm tail, suggesting a possible role in regulating motility behavior (Carrera et al., 1996; Leclerc et al., 1997; Lewis and Aitken, 2001; Si and Okuno, 1999; Urner et al., 2001).

After collection from epididymis, sperm were incubated in capacitating condition for 60 minutes, in absence or presence of 10μ M PF431396, and motility was then

measured using Hamilton-Thorne CASA system (Fraser, 1977, 2010; Suarez, 1996, 2008; Suarez and Osman, 1987) together with the software CASAnova (Goodson et al., 2011). Incubation of murine spermatozoa with 10µM PF431396 during capacitation does not affect motility behavior; the percentage of motile spermatozoa in fact is similar between treated and untreated capacitated control (Fig 2.10A). Similarly, the acquisition of hyperactive motility during capacitation was also not affected by the presence of PF431396, with comparable percentage of sperm with hyperactive motility (Fig 2.10B).

The analysis of other motile subpopulations, also based on the use of CASAnova (Goodson et al., 2011) showed no difference between treated sperm and controls (data not shown). Different from human spermatozoa (Fig 2.4), here we showed that the *fak* inhibitor PF431396 has no effect on the motility behavior of capacitated spermatozoa in mouse. The different sensitivities to PF431396 between human and murine spermatozoa potentially highlight some difference in the regulation of sperm motility between human and mouse.

2.2.4 Presence of Focal Adhesion Kinase members in murine spermatozoa

Because capacitation-associated phosphorylation events in murine spermatozoa were shown to be sensitive to the FAK members inhibitor PF431396 in both stallion (Gonzalez-Fernandez et al., 2013) and human (Battistone et al., 2014), we therefore decided to investigate which of the focal adhesion kinases members were present in murine spermatozoa. Detection of *fak* was performed by western blot: epididymal sperm were lysed and both soluble and insoluble protein fractions were tested using antibodies directed against total levels of FAK (anti-FAK) and

PYK2 (anti-PYK2). Similarly to human, total cell lysates from murine spermatozoa probed with anti-PYK2, showed a band at ~116kDa, corresponding to the molecular weight of murine PYK2 (Fig 2.11A). Different from human, when total cell lysates were tested for the presence of the other member of focal adhesion kinase family FAK in murine, we also detected a band at ~123kDa, corresponding to the expected size of FAK (Fig 2.11B). Although both anti-PYK2 and anti-FAK recognized additional bands at different molecular weights, no relationship between those bands and our proteins of interest was established. Although the presence of both members was in contrast with results previously obtained in human (Battistone et al., 2014), the data were consistent with the presence of both members in stallion (Gonzalez-Fernandez et al., 2013). We therefore decided to test the solubility of both members to the non-ionic detergent Triton X-100 after 60 minutes incubation in capacitating conditions. Different from the analysis of PYK2 solubility in human, both PYK2 (Fig 2.11C, left panel) and FAK (Fig 2.11C, right panel) were soluble to Triton X-100. This result again was in argument with was shown in human (Battistone et al., 2014), highlighting possible differences between species in mechanisms regulating phosphorylation associated with sperm capacitation.

2.2.5 Effect of PF573228 on pPKAs and PY in CD1 sperm and Effect of PF431396 and PF573228 on the In vitro activities of recombinant FAK and PYK2

The presence of both members of the FAK family was an encouraging result to support our hypothesis. Although PYK2 and FAK present differential expression

and roles, they share high similarity both in structure and function (Mitra et al., 2005b), PF431396 was shown being able to block both their activities with a similar IC₅₀ (Bhattacharya et al., 2012); PF431396 therefore, is not the ideal tool to investigate whether PYK2 or FAK is the protein that plays a role in regulating the increase of PY associated with capacitation. In order to circumvent this limitation, we adopted an alternative pharmacological approach: PF573228 is another inhibitor of FAK kinases, but different from PF431396, have higher specificity for FAK than PYK2 (IC₅₀ for FAK is one order of magnitude higher than for PYK2) (Bhattacharya et al., 2012). We therefore examined the sensitivity of phosphorylation events to PF573228 (Fig. 2.12). Epididymal Murine sperm were incubated in modified TYH medium in capacitating condition (15mM HCO3⁻ and 5mg/mL BSA) and in presence of different concentrations of PF573228. Different from what showed for PF431396, PF573228 is not able to completely inhibit the capacitation-associated increase of PY to non-capacitated control levels, but only cause a small decrease in the level of PY (Fig 2.12B). Levels of pPKAs were not affected by the presence of the FAK specific inhibitor PF573228, consistent with previous results using PF431396 (Fig 2.12A). The significantly reduced inhibition observed in presence of PF573228 suggested that, even if FAK is present in murine spermatozoa, is not the kinase responsible for PY increase during capacitation. Although these data were consistent with our hypothesis of PYK2 being the tyrosine kinase responsible for PY increase in murine sperm, further investigation were required to elucidate the function of PYK2 in murine sperm during capacitation. In the previous section we showed that during in vitro capacitation PF573228 has a negligible effect on both early (pPKAs) and late (PY) events associated with capacitation. We therefore examine the specificity of both

inhibitors on the *in vitro* activity of His-tagged recombinant forms of FAK and PYK2. Recombinant kinases activity was monitored *in vitro* following radiolabeled γ [³²P]-phosphate from ATP to the peptide substrate Poly (Glu:Tyr). Increased concentrations of PF431396 negatively affect the activity of both recombinant FAK and PYK2 *in vitro* (Bhattacharya et al., 2012), with similar patterns of inhibition and IC₅₀ for both kinases (Fig 2.13A). FAK and PYK2 on the other hand showed different sensitivity to PF573228, with FAK being affected at lower concentrations (Fig 2.13B). This observation, together with results showed in the previous paragraph, suggests that FAK is not involved in the regulation of PY during capacitation.

2.2.7 Analysis of the capacitation-associated phosphorylation events in PYK2^{-/-} spermatozoa

PF431396 pointed out to PYK2 as the member responsible for PY increase during mouse sperm capacitation. However, pharmacological inhibitors are known to also affect off-targets kinase, therefore results above were not conclusive. Loss of function experiments using knock out animals gives the advantage of investigating the role of a particular protein in a given process, when the protein under investigation is lacking. We therefore decided to investigate whether the lack of PYK2 ($Pyk2^{-/-}$) affect the fertility profile of this murine model. $Pyk2^{-/-}$ animals we have been using for our experiments were characterized (Guinamard et al., 2000; Okigaki et al., 2003), and kindly donated by Dr. Assoian (Dept. of System Pharmacology and Translational Therapeutics, University of Pennsylvania). We first validated the model in our hand testing the presence of *fak* members in total

sperm lysate from both $Pyk2^{+/+}$ and $Pyk2^{-/-}$ animals. Sperm form $Pyk2^{+/+}$ exhibit a band correspondent to the molecular weight of PYK2 (~116kDa), but this band was not detected in sperm from $Pyk2^{-/-}$ animals (Fig 2.14A, higher panel). This observation validates the use of the knockout model for our studies and confirms the specificity of anti-PYK2 antibody in use. The analysis of cell lysates from $Pyk2^{-/-}$ animals showed no defect in the expression of the other focal adhesion kinase member FAK (Fig 2.14A, lower panel). Since this model appear to be suitable for studies on sperm capacitation, we next evaluated events associated with capacitation in this model: first we compared the phosphorylation of both PKA substrates and Tyrosine in epididymal spermatozoa from Pyk2-/- and Pyk2+/+ animals incubated in capacitating conditions (15mM HCO3⁻ and 5mg/mL BSA) for 60 minutes. Spermatozoa from $Pyk2^{-/-}$ animals surprisingly showed no differences in the levels of tyrosine phosphorylation (Fig 2.14B, left panel) compared to their wild type littermates (Fig 2.14B, right panel). No defects in the phosphorylation of the PKA substrates after 1 hour capacitation, was observed for $Pyk2^{+/+}$ animals (Fig 2.15, upper panel). These results were in sharp contrast with our hypothesis and showed that, at least in the case of mouse sperm, PYK2 is not the kinase responsible for the increase of PY associated with capacitation and is not necessary for capacitation and fertilization.

2.2.8 Effect of PF431396 and PF573228 on capacitation associated protein phosphorylation in spermatozoa from Pyk2^{-/-} animals

We reasoned that, in animals that lacks *Pyk2*, a different kinase, is involved in the regulation of PY. We hypothesized that this unknown kinase belong to FAK family

and therefore is sensitive to PF431396. Consistent with this hypothesis, the increase of tyrosine phosphorylation in Pyk2-/- sperm was inhibited by PF431396 in a concentration dependent manner as showed for wild type littermates (Fig. 2.15B) and CD1 sperm (Fig 2.6). The effect of PF431396 on PKA substrates phosphorylation upstream was negligible (Fig 2.15A). These observations opened the possibility that, when PYK2 is lacking, a compensatory mechanism regulates the capacitation-associated increase of PY and due to the ability of PF431396 to inhibit both fak members, this result highlight the other member FAK as the most likely candidate in compensating the lack of PYK2. If this is the case, Pyk2-/animals should be also sensitive to the FAK specific inhibitor PF573228, as shown for PF431396. Caudal epididymal spermatozoa from both Pyk2-/- and $Pyk2^{+/+}$ animals were exposed to different concentrations of PF573228 and sperm lysates collected after 1 hour. Analysis of the phosphorylation profile associated with capacitation showed that PF573228 have no effects on pPKAs phosphorylation (Fig 2.16A). Surprisingly, the FAK specific inhibitor only induce a slight decrease in the levels of PY associated with capacitation also in Pyk2-/animals (Fig 2.16B) but is not able to abolish the PY signals to non-capacitated levels, as shown for PF431396 (Fig 2.15B). Moreover, FAK protein levels are not increased in $Pyk2^{-/-}$ sperm compared to wild type (Fig 2.14A, lower panel). The results indicate that FAK, in absence of PYK2, is not the kinase that mediates the increase of PY and therefore is not compensating for the lack of PYK2. These observations were in conflict with our original hypothesis, and different from what we proposed in human, we showed that fak members were not involved in the regulation of PY during capacitation in mouse sperm. Although we ruled out the involvement of fak members on regulation of PY during capacitation, the

conserved effect of PF431396 on tyrosine phosphorylation in $Pyk2^{-/-}$ spermatozoa raised some concerns about the specificity of PF431396. The catalytic subunit of protein kinases is a conserved domain even in kinases belonging to different families, therefore although specificity claimers, potentially any pharmacological inhibitors of kinases could affect the activity of different offtarget kinases (Bain et al., 2003; Bain et al., 2007; Davies et al., 2000). Results obtained in $Pyk2^{-/-}$ animals with PF431396, suggests that in murine spermatozoa, another kinases sensitive to PF431396 and that not belong to the *fak* family regulate increase of PY during capacitation

CHAPTER 3

INVESTIGATING THE ROLE OF TYROSINE KINASE FER DURING SPERM CAPACITATION

3.1 FER tyrosine kinase: a novel candidate for studies on capacitation-associated PY in murine sperm.

Results in the previous chapter demonstrated that focal adhesion kinases (fak) do not play a unique role in regulating phosphorylation events associated with capacitation in murine sperm. Therefore, we concentrated our efforts in the identification of the tyrosine kinase(s) affected by the pharmacological tool in our hand during mouse sperm capacitation. We assume that PF431396 is affecting different kinase(s) not belonging to *fak* family. Recently using Tandem Mass Spectrometry (MS/MS), Chung et al revealed the identity of several proteins phosphorylated on tyrosine during capacitation in murine (proteins of the sperm head, signaling, structural and mithocondrial proteins as well as uncharacterized) (Chung et al., 2014). Of all the signaling proteins identified in the study, only few kinases were found to be phosphorylated on tyrosine and only one member was an appealing candidate for our research: the tyrosine kinase FER. Chung showed the auto-phosphorylation activation loop of FER is phosphorylated in murine capacitated sperm (Chung et al., 2014). FER is a non-receptor tyrosine kinase that belongs to the Fps/Fes family (fps, Fujinami poultry sarcoma; fes, Feline sarcoma)(Shibuya et al., 1980; Snyder and Theilen, 1969). First described as proto-oncogene, the activated version of this kinase is shown to induce cellular transformation (Roebroek et al., 1985; Wilks and Kurban, 1988). Fps/Fes and FER shared close structural similarity indicating they might cover similar, if not

redundant biological functions (Shibuya et al., 1980). Growth factors, cytokines and immunoglobulin induce the activation of FER and Fes, which have been implicated in the regulation of cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions (Greer, 2002). Somatic FER has a molecular weight of 94kDa (p94-FER) and its structure includes 4 different domains: 1. The carboxy-terminal Kinase domain mediates the phosphorylation of SH2-containing substrates on tyrosine (Maru et al., 1995); 2. SH2 (Src-homology 2 domain) is a non-catalytic domain that both modulates the activity of the kinase and regulates protein-protein interactions (SH2 domains are known to mediate interactions with cortactin, EGF/PDGF receptors as well as insulin receptor 1) (Hjermstad et al., 1993; Iwanishi et al., 2000; Kim and Wong, 1995, 1998); 3. The presence of three coiled-coiled domains is also typical of FER, these domains regulate FER oligomerization (trimerization) and appear to also mediate the interaction of FER with adherent junctions (through p120catenin) (Craig et al., 1999); 4. The amino-terminal FCH domain was shown being implicated in the regulation of cytoskeletal re-arrangements, vesicular transport and endocytosis (Modregger et al., 2000; Qualmann and Kelly, 2000; Tian et al., 2000; Yeung et al., 1998).

The genomic locus of FER express a different splicing variant during the first meiotic prophase in pachytene spermatocytes, called FERT (Fischman et al., 1990). Different from somatic FER, FERT has a lower molecular weight of 51kDa (p51-FER) and this isoform looses both the FCH and coiled-coiled domains but retains the SH2 domain and kinase activity. Studies in rat spermatids revealed this protein appear to be important during spermatogenesis where is involved in the formation of acrosome-acroplaxome-manchette complex (Chen et al., 2003; Kierszenbaum et al., 2008).

The aim of our study was to investigate whether any of the isoforms of FER was present in murine spermatozoa and if this tyrosine kinase takes part in phosphorylation pathways conducive to sperm capacitation.

3.1.1 Expression of the Tyrosine Kinase FER in murine spermatozoa

In order to elucidate a possible role of FER in regulating phosphorylation events (pPKAs and PY) during sperm capacitation in mouse sperm, we decided to first examine the presence of the kinase in mouse sperm. Total protein extracts were collected from epididymal spermatozoa and proteins were separated by 1D gel electrophoresis, transferred to PVDF membranes and tested using antibodies directed against total levels of FER protein (anti- FER). As shown in Fig 3.1A, antibody against FER detected a band at ~50kDa, correspondent to the molecular weigh described for the testis specific isoform FERT (p51-FER) (Hazan et al., 1993). We therefore analyzed the solubility of FER to the non-ionic detergent Triton X-100 in capacitated spermatozoa and compare it with the solubility of the substrates phosphorylated on tyrosine. Results depicted in Fig 3.1B, show that the testis specific isoform of FER is present in both Triton X-100 soluble and insoluble fractions and it appear that during solubilization FERT is posttranslationally modified. A detailed analysis of the same blot showed a faint band around 100kDa, suggesting that both testis-specific (p51-FER) and somatic (p94-FER) isoforms of FER are present in mouse sperm. Interestingly, different from what we shown for PYK2 and FAK, FER is present in both soluble and insoluble fraction, in some way correlating with PY signal in sperm, which is present only in the insoluble fraction of capacitated spermatozoa (Fig 3.1C).

This preliminary result confirmed the presence of the sperm specific variant FERT in murine sperm and showed that somatic FER is also present in mouse sperm, even if at lower concentration compared to the testis specific isoform. These observations represented a promising result and support our new working hypothesis of FERT playing a role in the regulation of PY during capacitation.

3.1.2 Effect of PF431396 on the activity of recombinant FER in vitro

We therefore decided to further investigate the function of FERT during capacitation in murine spermatozoa. In order to further support our hypothesis, we next examined the *in vitro* sensitivity of the commercially available recombinant form of FER to the *fak* inhibitor we have been using throughout this study, PF431396. Similar to the analysis of recombinant PYK2 and FAK in the previous chapter, the activity of FER was monitored following the transfer of $\gamma^{32}P$ phosphate from ATP to the peptide substrate of FER Poly(Glu:Tyr). The activity of the kinase was tested in absence and in presence of different concentrations of PF431396 (0.1–30 μ M). Results in Fig 3.2 indicate that the activity of tyrosine kinase FER in vitro is sensitive to increasing concentration of PF431396, with an IC₅₀ of $_{-1\mu}M$, and a complete abolition of FER activity at 10 μ M. Worth to notice, the pattern of inhibition of FER activity was comparable to the one observed for recombinant PYK2 in vitro. Our concerns about the specificity of PF431396 toward focal adhesion members were therefore confirmed. In addition, we showed that the activity of recombinant FER in vitro and the levels of PY during in vitro capacitation are sensitive to PF431396 with a similar IC₅₀/EC₅₀ (~1µM) (Compare Fig 2.1 and Fig 3.2), supporting a possible role for tyrosine kinase FER in the

regulation of capacitation-associated PY. Despite this result support our hypothesis, does not conclusively demonstrate the function of FER during capacitation.

3.1.3 Analysis of capacitation-associated phosphorylation events in Fer^{DR/DR} spermatozoa

In order to further investigate the role for FER during capacitation, we decided to analyze the capacitation events in a murine model that express non functional copies of Fer gene. Since murine models in which the fer gene is knockout are note viable, due to the importance of this kinase in regulating cell-cell and cellmatrix interactions, Dr. Greer at Queen's University developed a murine model that include an inactivating point mutation (D743R) in the catalytic loop of the kinase, FerDR/DR (Craig et al., 2001). FER expression is not affected but in this model the kinase activity of the enzyme is abolished. The kinase inactivating mutation abolishes not only the activity of somatic FER but also affect the testisspecific isoform FERT (Craig et al., 2001). Therefore FerDR/DR represents a suitable tool to investigate the function of FER during capacitation. We therefore decided to examine phosphorylation events associated with capacitation in animals lacking FER activity. Spermatozoa from FerDR/DR animals and their wild type littermates (*Fer*^{+/+}) were incubated in modified TYH medium in capacitating conditions (15mM HCO₃⁻ and 5mg/mL BSA) and level of phosphorylation of PKA (pPKAs) substrates and tyrosine (PY) were checked after 60 minutes. When Fer^{+/+} spermatozoa were capacitated *in vitro*, pPKAs levels were physiologically increased compared to the non-capacitated sperm population (Fig 3.3A, higher

panel), and similarly a normal increase in the level of tyrosine phosphorylation (PY) was observed (Fig 3.3A, lower panel). The increase of tyrosine phosphorylation levels is observed at 60 minutes and remains elevated for the following hour (Fig 3.3A, lower panel). On the other hand, when FerDR/DR spermatozoa are incubated in capacitating conditions, although no defects in the levels of phosphorylation of PKA substrates (pPKAs) were detected (Fig 3.3B, higher panel), no increase in PY levels was showed compared to non-capacitated controls (Fig 3.3B, lower panel). In order to rule out the possibility that the lack of FER was inducing only a delay in the onset of capacitation-associated PY, we decide to extend the time of incubation in capacitating condition to 120 minutes. At all the time points examined (between 60 and 120 minutes) we did not observed any increase in the levels of PY compared to non-capacitated control (Fig 3.3B, lower panel). This observation represent a groundbreaking result toward the investigation of phosphorylation events associated with capacitation. We demonstrated for the first time that there is a unique kinase that regulates the onset of tyrosine phosphorylation associated with capacitation in murine spermatozoa and that this kinase is the testis-specific isoform of the tyrosine kinase FER (FERT). The absence of the tyrosine kinase does not have any effect on the activation of elements that are known being activated upstream, the cAMPdependent phosphorylation of PKA substrates is indeed not affected in *Fer^{DR/DR}*. This result assign for the first time a role to a specific kinase (FERT) a unique role in inducing the onset of PY associated with capacitation.

3.1.4 Analysis of FER localization in FerDR/DR animals

Results above confirmed that a band corresponding to the testis-specific isoform FERT, similar to tyrosine phosphorylated substrates, is found in the fraction insoluble to Triton X-100, suggesting a possible co-localization of FER with PY signal (Fig 3.1B, C). In order to gain further insight about the localization of FER in murine sperm, we performed an immunocytochemical analysis (ICC) of FER in Fer^{DR/DR} animals. According to Craig et al the D743R mutation only affect the activity of the kinase without affecting its expression (Craig et al., 2001; Khajah et al., 2013; Kierszenbaum et al., 2008). Before analyzing FER localization by ICC, we decided to test the use of FER antibody by western blot on total sperm lysate from both FerDR/DR and Fer+/+. Surprisingly, the band correspondent to the testisspecific isoform of FER at 50kDa (FERT) was not detected in lysate collected from *Fer^{DR/DR}* sperm (Fig 3.4A). On the other end the band correspondent to FERT is present in sperm from wild type animals of the same strain (*Fer*^{+/+}). We therefore reasoned that due to the difference in length and therefore structure between somatic and testis-specific FER, in the latter the D743R mutation not only affect the kinase activity but could also affect protein folding, somehow disrupting the FERT epitope recognized by the antibody in our hand. This result shows on one hand that in sperm from *Fer^{DR/DR}* animals, not only the activity but also the presence of FERT is lacking and, on the other hand represent an unexpected validation of the antibody in use to further examine the localization of FER in murine sperm. Analysis of FER localization by ICC showed that tyrosine kinase FERT is localized in the tail of murine spermatozoa. The antibody both labels the mid- and the principal piece (Fig 3.4B). Semi quantitative analysis of FERT signal confirmed the difference showed by ICC, with a strong reduction in

signal corresponding to FER in *Fer^{DR/DR}* compared *to* activity (Fig 3.4C). The result suggests co-localization of PY and FERT and further supporting a role for tyrosine kinase FER in regulating capacitation-associated tyrosine phosphorylation.

3.1.5 Analysis of FER and PY signaling through STORM microscopy

Immunocytochemistry results showed that FER signal is localized to the tail of murine spermatozoa (Fig 3.4B), a previously shown for proteins phosphorylated on tyrosine (Carrera et al., 1996; Leclerc et al., 1997; Lewis and Aitken, 2001; Si and Okuno, 1999; Urner et al., 2001). The use of light or confocal microscopy is restricted to the diffraction limit of ~200nm (which depend on wavelength and on the numerical aperture of the objective), therefore limiting the accuracy of spatial observations on a smaller scale. We therefore take advantage of Stochastic Optical <u>Resolution Microscopy</u> (STORM) to investigate the localization of FER and PY signals in murine spermatozoa. This technique allows the detection of single fluorescent molecules that are closer than the resolution limit, with higher resolution than confocal microscopy both in the *x*-*y* and the *z* planes. Moreover the analysis of tyrosine phosphorylation signal during murine sperm capacitation through STORM showed that PY signal is restricted to the tail and that in the principal piece of sperm flagellum is restricted to the axoneme (Chung et al., 2014). Results in Fig 3.5D, G and H were consistent previous studies showing the distribution of PY signal within the sperm flagellum (Chung et al., 2014), confirming the validity of STORM technique to investigate the localization of FER in sperm. When the 3D spatial distribution of FER was examined, the signal

corresponding to FER was detected throughout both the mid- and principal piece (Fig 3.5A) and the analysis of cross-sections of mouse sperm tail showed that FER signal, similar to PY was localized within 250nm from the center in the midpiece (Fig 3.5A, B, D, E and G). Observations on the spatial distribution of FER in the principal piece showed that the signal is restricted to the axoneme and overlaps with signal corresponding to PY (Fig 3.5A, C, D, F and H), as shown in the mid-piece. These last observation, further confirmed previous ICC observations in FER^{DR/DR} animals (Fig 3.4B), supporting the role of tyrosine kinase FER in regulating tyrosine phosphorylation during murine sperm capacitation.

3.1.6 Analysis of in vitro fertilization capability of FerDR/DR animals

Once the localization of FER and its role in inducing tyrosine phosphorylation were established, we next decided to evaluate whether the absence of FERT affect the ability of spermatozoa to fertilize metaphase II arrested oocytes *in vitro*. Epididymal spermatozoa from *Fer*^{DR/DR} and wild type animals were capacitated *in vitro* for 60 minutes and then co-incubated with metaphase II arrested oocytes collected from 8 weeks old CD1 females. After 4 hours of co-incubation, the sperm in excess was washed out and the oocytes that reached two polar bodies/two cells stages were counted as fertilized after 24 hour. Different from what was shown *in vivo* (Craig et al., 2001), spermatozoa from *Fer*^{DR/DR} animals have a limited capability to fertilize oocytes *in vitro*: fertilization rate for wild type animal was ~35%, which is in accordance with data showed for the 129/SVJ murine strain (Kawai et al., 2006). On the other hand, *Fer*^{DR/DR} spermatozoa

showed a very limited capability to fertilize metaphase-II arrested eggs *in vitro* (Fig 3.6). This observation suggests that FER activity and PY are required for fertilizing capability *in vitro*. The fact that *in vivo* these mice are fertile, suggest that during natural mating, either PY increase is not required for fertilization and therefore sperm without increased levels of PY are fertile or that during the transit through the female reproductive tract certain unknown mechanism compensate the lack of FER, inducing the increase of PY.

3.1.7 Analysis of functional parameters associated with capacitation in Fer^{DR/DR} animals

The results above determined the role of FER in inducing the increase of PY and in regulating the fertilizing ability of murine sperm *in vitro*. We therefore decided to examine whether functional parameters associated with capacitation were affected in absence of FER and tyrosine phosphorylation. We therefore tested the motility profile of *Fer*^{DR/DR} spermatozoa compared to wild type. Ejaculated mammalian spermatozoa once deposited into the vagina, acquire progressive motility in order to quickly swim-out from the seminal plasma (that contains several de-capacitating factors) and to finally begin their journey toward the oviduct. Once capacitated spermatozoa reach the utero-tubal junction, sperm must acquire a different patter of motility characterized by slow speed and higher propulsive force, the hyperactive motility: this motility pattern allow them to swim through the thick viscous mucus of Fallopian Tubes (Fraser, 1977, 2010; Suarez, 1996, 2008; Suarez and Osman, 1987). Epididymal sperm from *Fer*^{DR/DR} and *Fer*^{t/+} animals were incubated with 15mM HCO₃⁻ and 5mg/mL BSA for 60

minutes. After capacitation, an aliquot of sperm was diluted and motility was assessed using Hamilton Thorne <u>C</u>omputer <u>A</u>ssisted <u>S</u>emen <u>A</u>nalysis (CASA), the analysis of different motile populations was measured through the software CASAnova (Goodson et al., 2011). Results in Fig 3.7A showed that, the percentage of *Fer*^{DR/DR} motile spermatozoa is comparable to the motile population of *Fer*^{+/+}. This observation was expected as several studies showed that the onset of motility in ejaculated/epididymal sperm is dependent on sAC activation and cAMP pathway (Esposito et al., 2004). Surprisingly, when populations of spermatozoa with hyperactive motility were compared between *Fer*^{DR/DR} and *Fer*^{+/+}, no difference between the two strains was observed (Fig 3.7B). This observation, although in argument with previous studies showing a relationship between PY increase and hyperactive motility (Mahony and Gwathmey, 1999; Si and Okuno, 1999), clearly showed that *Fer*^{DR/DR} sperm although lacking tyrosine phosphorylation acquire hyperactive motility.

Studies on sperm capacitation in different species suggested a relationship between tyrosine phosphorylation and later functional events of capacitation as the ability to undergo to AR in response to extracellular agonists (Asquith et al., 2004). Results showed in the previous section, showed that the absence of FERT kinase does not have any impact on neither total nor hyperactive motility. We therefore decided to examine the ability of these cells to undergo to acrosome reaction *in vitro*. Epididymal sperm collected from *Fer^{DR/DR}* and *Fer*^{+/+} animals, as previously showed for other experimental methods, were capacitated *in vitro* for 60 minutes and then incubated with the Ca²⁺ ionophore A23187 [shown to induce Acrosomal Reaction *in vitro* (Balao da Silva et al., 2013)] or DMSO (as control) for the following 30 minutes. The percentage of acrosome reacted spermatozoa was

then assessed by PNA-Alexa488 staining. Although significant differences were observed between control and sperm treated with A23187, results in Fig 3.7C revealed no difference between *Fer^{DR/DR}* and their wild type littermates in the level of reacted sperm in response to the A23187. As shown for motility, this observation is in sharp contrast with previous data in the literature showing a relationship between the occurrence of PY and Acrosomal Reaction (Asquith et al., 2004). Lack of positive correlation between tyrosine phosphorylation and the regulation of functional parameters in FerDR/DR model highlight the possibility that different pathways present in murine sperm, bypass through certain unknown mechanisms the lack of PY in order to guarantee, the occurrence of capacitation. To summarize the evidences presented in this section, we demonstrated that tyrosine kinse FERT is present in mouse sperm, where regulates the occurrence of PY during capacitation. Although capacitated FerDR/DR sperm in vitro showed hyperactive motility and acrosome reaction, their ability to fertilize metaphase arrested II eggs in vitro is reduced compared to Fer^{+/+} sperm. On the other hand Fer^{DR/DR} animal are fertile at mating, delivering viable and healthy offspring.

CHAPTER 4

INVESTIGATING THE KINETIC OF PHOSPHORYLATION EVENTS ASSOCIATED WITH CAPACITATION

4.1 Analysis of the Kinetics of phosphorylation events associated with

Capacitation in murine sperm: the chemical-genetic approach.

Different from other signaling pathways, capacitation is not a rapid signaling event triggered by ligand-receptor binding. Mammalian spermatozoa need to reside in the female tract for a certain amount of time and to respond to different modulators promoting the occurrence of capacitation in a time-dependent fashion (Ickowicz et al., 2012). It is therefore fundamental to examine the time relationship between phosphorylation events and the occurrence of capacitation in murine spermatozoa.

In this third section, our effort is focused on understanding the kinetic of occurrence phosphorylation of PKA substrates and PY during capacitation in order to gain further insights about the time dependent mechanisms of regulation during capacitation. We have used both pharmacological and chemical-genetic strategies to elucidate the temporal requirements of these signals during sperm capacitation.

4.1.1 Time of occurrence of pPKAs and PY during capacitation in CD1 mice

The presence of ADCY10 and of the C α II catalytic subunit of PKA are known to be necessary requirements to guarantee the occurrence of capacitation in murine sperm (Esposito et al., 2004; Nolan et al., 2004), moreover the presence and

activation of PKA are also necessary to induce one of the hallmark of sperm capacitation, the increase of tyrosine phosphorylation (PY) levels (Visconti et al., 1995a; Visconti et al., 1995b). Further studies revealed that, although regulated by cAMP/PKA pathway, PY occurs on a different time scale compared to PKA activation (Arcelay et al., 2008; Visconti et al., 1995b). In order to set the ground for studies on kinetic of capacitation, we decided to first examine the time dependent activation of PKA and PY phosphorylation during capacitation. Epididymal spermatozoa, after collection were challenged with 15mM HCO₃⁻ and 5mg/mL BSA in order to stimulate capacitation. Spermatozoa were then collected at different time points (1 through 60 minutes) during capacitation and the level of phosphorylation of PKA substrates and PY was tested using anti-pPKAs and anti-PY antibodies. Activation of PKA and the increase of PY levels occur at different time: phosphorylation of PKA substrates already reach its maximum after 1 minute and it is shown to last for the following hour (Fig 4.1A); on the other hand, onset of tyrosine phosphorylation is delayed compared to pPKAs: a subtle rise in the level of PY is first observed after 30 minutes of incubation with a full increase observed at 45 minutes (Fig 4.1B), confirming previous observation in murine sperm (Arcelay et al., 2008). The delay in the rise of PY levels compared to pPKAs could be explained by either a slow accumulation of second messengers or by a down regulation of the activities of protein phosphatases, showed to be present in murine sperm (Signorelli et al., 2012). We therefore try to gain further insights on the possible mechanisms regulating the times of occurrence of these phosphorylation events using different approaches.
4.1.2 Effect of the broad inhibitor H89 on pPKAs and PY during capacitation Before the advent of knockout genetic models, studies on sperm capacitation strongly relied on pharmacological approaches. Together with cAMP analogues and phosphodiesterases (PDE) inhibitors, pharmacological inhibitors of PKA were broadly used to demonstrate the requirement of cAMP/PKA pathway to induce sperm capacitation in different species. H89, is a small inhibitor that bind to the catalytic subunit of Protein Kinase A (PKA) (including the sperm-specific subunit $C\alpha II$) and studies on sperm showed its ability to negatively affect the activity of PKA with a good degree of specificity (Vijayaraghavan et al., 1997; Visconti et al., 1995b). We therefore decided to first examine the concentration-dependent effect of this inhibitor on pPKAs and PY phosphorylation: Epididymal spermatozoa, were challenged with different concentrations of H89 for 5 minutes in absence of HCO₃and BSA and then incubated in capacitating conditions in presence of the same concentrations of the inhibitor for the following hour. Phosphorylation of pPKAs and PY were tested as previously shown. As expected, H89 is effective in inhibiting capacitation-associated pPKAs (Fig 4.2A) and PY (Fig 4.2B) as previously showed, with an EC₅₀ in murine spermatozoa of ~10µM. Consistent with previous data in the literature (Visconti et al., 1995b), when sperm are capacitated in presence of H89, the phosphorylation of PKA substrate is inhibited in a concentration-dependent manner and similarly, downstream events regulated by PKA activation as tyrosine phosphorylation are as well hampered. Our results were consistent with previous published data showing that during sperm capacitation, the late onset of PY is dependent on the early activation of PKA. Similar conclusions were also drawn by loss of function experiment using knockout models of sAC (Esposito et al., 2004) and C α II (Nolan et al., 2004) as

well as gain of function experiments using exogenous cAMP agonists (Visconti et al., 1995b).

4.1.3 Limits of competitive kinase inhibitors and the chemical-genetic strategy

As described in the previous section, H89 is a broad competitive kinase inhibitor with high specificity against Protein Kinase A (PKA) and was used in different studies to elucidate the role of PKA in different systems (Krapf et al., 2010; Visconti et al., 1995b). Although several efforts over the years were made to improve the specificity of competitive kinase inhibitors, the conserved nature of the ATP binding site between different classes of kinases represent a limiting factor to develop potent inhibitors with a high degree of specificity (Dar and Shokat, 2011). In order to circumvent this issue Dr. Shokat developed a chemicalgenetic strategy that allow to inhibit specific classes of kinases with minimum offtarget effect: the principle is to render the kinase of interest sensitive to a specific inhibitor rather than create inhibitors that are specific for the kinase of interest. The method include the introduction of a point mutation within the gatekeeper amino-acid within the kinase catalytic domain of interest, the mutation causes a conformational change of the catalytic subunit that render the kinase sensitive to specific bulky inhibitors, without affecting the activity of the kinase (Bishop et al., 2000). Based on this strategy, Niswender identified a point mutation (M120A) that render the Call catalytic subunit of Protein Kinase A sensitive to a series of C-3 derivatized pyrazolo[3,4-d]pyrimidine-based inhibitors (Niswender et al., 2002) and a knock-in murine model that express the C α II-M120A mutation only after Cre-mediated recombination in vivo was created by Morgan et al (Morgan et al.,

2008). The mutation did not affect the activity of PKA, therefore CαII-M120A animals were viable and fertile. Using a bulky pyrimidine based inhibitor (1NM-PP1) the activity of PKA can be specifically down regulated during capacitation without affecting the activity of other kinases present in sperm (therefore avoiding off-target effects). We therefore decided to test whether this tool is suitable to examine the kinetic of phosphorylation events during capacitation, together with the broad inhibitor H89.

4.1.4 Effect of 1NM-PP1 on pPKAs and PY in sperm from Call-M120A animals The first step towards the investigation of sperm capacitation kinetic was to test whether C α II-M120A model was suitable for our studies on sperm signaling. Spermatozoa from both C α II-M120A and their wild type littermates (C α II-WT) were collected by swim out from epididymis and then incubated in capacitating conditions (15mM HCO3⁻ and 5mg/mL) for the following 60 minutes. Levels of pPKAs and PY phosphorylation were then tested using anti-pPKAs and anti-PY antibodies, as previously showed. After 60 minutes in capacitating condition both sperm from M120A and WT animals, in absence of 1NM-PP1 showed physiological increased level of both pPKAs and PY phosphorylation similar to CD1 sperm (Fig 4.3). This preliminary result confirmed that in sperm the activity of PKA is not affected by the presence of the mutation and that phosphorylation events associated with capacitation are not affected. We also tested the effect of different concentrations of 1NM-PP1 (3 – 30μ M) on pPKAS in both C α II-WT and $C\alpha$ II-M120A animals. 1NM-PP1 negatively affect the phosphorylation of pPKAs in a concentration dependent manner only in C α II-M120A animals (Fig 4.3A, left

side), on the other hand C α II-WT are not sensitive to the same concentrations of 1NM-PP1 (Fig 4.3A, right side). The same blot was stripped and probed again with anti-PY antibodies (Fig 4.3B). Similar to what we previously shown for pPKAs, the increase of PY levels was also sensitive to increasing concentrations of 1NM-PP1, displaying similar EC₅₀ (~3 μ M) (Fig 4.3B, left side), with no effect observed on PY signals in C α II-WT animals (Fig 4.3B, right side). These data confirmed that sperm from C α II-M120A animals are sensitive to 1NM-PP1, and that in presence of the inhibitor, phosphorylation events associated with sperm capacitation are depleted. We therefore use this engineered knock-in murine model to investigate the kinetic of phosphorylation events associated with sperm capacitation.

4.1.5 Effect of H89 and 1NM-PP1 on the in vitro activity of PKA from CD1 mice

Preliminary results in the previous section showed that when CD1 sperm were incubated with increasing concentrations of H89, pPKAs phosphorylation is reduced in a concentration dependent manner. Although the use of anti-pPKAs antibody is an established technique to monitor the activity of PKA during capacitation and in other signaling, it still remains an indirect method of analysis of PKA activity that only mirrors the kinase behavior. We therefore decided to test the effect of the pharmacological tools in our hand to (H89 and 1NM-PP1) on the activity of Protein Kinase A in homogenates collected from CD1 murine spermatozoa. Sperm Homogenates containing PKA were challenged with different concentration (1–100 μ M) of both H89 and 1NM-PP1. The transfer of radiolabeled phosphate from γ^{32} P-ATP to the peptide substrate of PKA *kemptide*

(Leu-Arg-Arg-Ala-Ser-Leu-Gly) was used to monitor the activity of PKA *in* vitro (Visconti et al., 1997). Results depicted in Fig 4.4 showed a concentration dependent effect of H89 on the *in vitro* activity of PKA from CD1 mouse sperm, with an IC₅₀ of 3μ M (Fig 4.4, black line).

To test whether 1NM-PP1 has any effect on the activity of CD1 PKA activity, we also examined the *in vitro* activity of PKA from CD1 sperm homogenates, in presence of increasing concentration of the other PKA inhibitor, 1NM-PP1. Different from H89, 1NM-PP1 has a negligible effect on the activity of PKA at the lower concentrations tested, with a slight decrease of PKA activity in presence of very high concentrations of 1NM-PP1 (Fig 4.4, gray line). These results are consistent with previous observations, where H89 was affecting the phosphorylation of PKA substrates during *in vivo* capacitation (Fig 4.2A). The effect of 1NM-PP1 is specific to C α II-M120A animals and does not affect the activity of PKA in sperm from CD1 mice.

4.1.6 Effect of 1NM-PP1 on in vitro activity of PKA in sperm from C α II-M120A animals

Results in Fig 4.3 showed that the pPKAs and PY phosphorylation levels associated with capacitation are negatively affected by increasing concentration of 1NM-PP1 in sperm from C α II-M120A but no effect is observed in sperm from C α II-WT littermates. To further confirm that the effect on pPKAs and PY is caused by a reduction in the activity of PKA, we decided to directly examine the activity of PKA in homogenates from C α II-M120A and C α II-WT in response to increasing concentrations of 1NM-PP1 (1–30 μ M). As shown in the previous section, the *in*

vitro activity of the PKA was monitored following the transfer of radiolabeled phosphate from γ^{32} P-ATP to the peptide substrate of PKA *kemptide*. Consistent with data obtained during *in* vitro capacitation (Fig 4.3), PKA activity in homogenates from C α II-M120A animals was sensitive to increasing concentrations of 1NM-PP1 with an IC₅₀ of ~3 μ M, and is abolished at 10 μ M (Fig 4.5, gray line). On the other hand, PKA activity in homogenates from C α II-WT animals (not including C α II-M120A mutation) was not sensitive to 1NM-PP1, with a slight reduction of the activity observed only at 30 μ M (Fig 4.5, black line). This observation confirmed that C α II-M120A mutation render PKA sensitive to increasing concentration of 1NM-PP1, with a with IC₅₀ ~2 μ M and 30 μ M are shown to reduce completely the activity of the kinase. As previously shown during *in vitro* capacitation the effect is specific to M120A animals, with no effect on sperm WT animals. We therefore confirmed that the chemical-genetic tool we have been using is suitable for studies on phosphorylation events associated with capacitation.

4.1.7 Effect of 1NM-PP1 on the kinetic of pPKAs and PY during capacitation

In order to elucidate the kinetic of phosphorylation events during capacitation, we used the C α II-M120A mouse model to investigate the possible relationship between the kinetic of activation of PKA and the onset of PY during *in vitro* capacitation. We previously showed that pPKAs and PY phosphorylation occur on a different time scale during capacitation (Fig 4.1), we were therefore interested in understanding whether the time-dependent activation of PKA affects the later onset of PY during capacitation. Epididymal spermatozoa from both C α II-M120A

and C α II-WT animals, after swim-out were incubated in capacitating conditions for 90 minutes, 30 μ M 1NM-PP1 was added to the incubation media at different time points (1 through 89 minutes) and at 90 minute, sperm lysates were produced and the levels of phosphorylation of pPKAs and PY were tested by western blot. The inhibitory effect of 1NM-PP1 on pPKAs in C α II-M120A is maintained even after the onset of capacitation and not only when sperm are treated with 1NM-PP1 prior to the incubation in capacitating conditions, indicating a good degree of specificity of the inhibitor (Fig 4.6A). Down regulation of pPKAs levels mediated by 1NM-PP1 occurs rapidly, as shown when the inhibitor is added at later time points (minute 89) (Fig 4.6A).

Consistent with previous results (Fig 4.3), the effect of 1NM-PP1 is specific to $C\alpha$ II-M120A and did not affect pPKAs phosphorylation in sperm from WT littermates (see Fig 4.7A). Interestingly, when levels of PY phosphorylation were examined in the same conditions, we observed a time dependent effect of 1NM-PP1: if 1NM-PP1 was added at early time points during capacitation (between 1 and 45 minutes), the onset of PY is inhibited. On the other hand, if 1NM-PP1 inhibitor was added at later time points (after 45 minutes), the inhibitor have a negligible effect on tyrosine phosphorylation and we still observed physiological increase in the levels of PY associated with capacitation (Fig 4.6B). As shown for pPKAs, the effect of 1NM-PP1 is specific to sperm collected from C α II-M120A animals with no inhibitory effect observed on PY for 1NM-PP1 at any of the time points examined in sperm from WT animals (see Fig 4.7B). These results indicate that in order to guarantee the onset of PY during capacitation, the activity of PKA upstream have to be sustained for at least 30/45 minutes to induce the onset of PY associated with sperm capacitation.

key element in the regulation of the late increase in tyrosine phosphorylation during capacitation.

4.1.8 Effect of SKI606 on the kinetic of pPKAs and PY during capacitation in CD1 mice

As described in previous sections of this dissertation, besides the prominent role of sAC and cAMP, the full activation of PKA during capacitation also require Srcmediated down regulation of phosphatase activity and this mechanism of regulation was suggested being present both in murine and human sperm (Battistone et al., 2013; Krapf et al., 2010). These studies revealed that phosphorylation of PKA substrates and PY were inhibited in presence of the Src Family Kinase (SFK) inhibitor SKI606. We therefore decided to examine what was the impact of a time-dependent down regulation of the parallel pathway mediated by the SFK/phosphatases on pPKAs and PY phosphorylation during capacitation. Because the inhibition mediated by SKI606 is directed against SFKs and not directly on PKA, we analyze the effect of SKI606 on sperm collected from CD1. After swim-out, epididymal spermatozoa were incubated in capacitating conditions and the SKI6060 was added at different time points during incubation in capacitating condition, sperm were then harvested after 60 minutes and pPKAs and PY levels were tested by western blot, as previously described. Analysis of the data in Fig 4.8A showed that SKI606 abolish the phosphorylation of PKA substrates when sperm are challenged with the inhibitor prior to capacitating conditions or at early time points (0 to 10 minutes). On the other hand, when

SKI606 was added at later time points during capacitation (15 to 59 minutes), phosphorylation of PKA substrates was not affected and showed level similar to capacitated control. Consistent with results on pPKAs, the analysis of tyrosine phosphorylation in similar conditions confirmed a clear inhibition of PY when sperm were incubated with the inhibitor at early time points (1 to 15 minutes), and the effect is lost when sperm were incubated with SKI606 at later time points (Fig 4.8B). These observations, together with previous results showing time dependent effect of 1NM-PP1 in C α II-M120A animals further support the importance of the time dependent activation of PKA during capacitation: an early and sustained activation of PKA is a fundamental event of capacitation required for the late onset of PY. Furthermore, the parallel pathway regulated by SFKs and phosphatases and that control PKA full activation, also appear to be time dependent.

4.1.9 Effect of PKA inhibitors (H89 and 1NM-PP1) on pPKAs and PY on capacitated sperm

Besides the importance of an early activation of PKA during capacitation, our results also showed that the level of tyrosine phosphorylation (PY) are affected by the presence of PKA inhibitors (H89 and 1nM-PP1) only during early time points. We therefore hypothesized that when sperm reach full capacitation (at late time points) the upstream activity of PKA is no more required to induce PY phosphorylation downstream. In order to support our hypothesis, we took advantage of both pharmacological and chemical-genetic strategies to analyzed phosphorylation kinetics after full capacitation occurred: caudal epididymal spermatozoa are incubated in capacitating conditions for 1 hour. At 60 minutes,

30µM H89 were added to the capacitated sperm populations, protein extraction was then performed at different time points between 60 and 120 minutes. Sperm were harvested after 2 Hours, sperm lysates were produced and examined with anti-pPKAs and anti-PY antibodies western blotting. 30µM H89 even when incubated with capacitated spermatozoa, retain its ability to effectively inhibit pPKAs signal. Analysis of the kinetic of pPKAs inhibition show a fast inhibition mediated by H89 with a significant decrease in the level of pPKAs substrates already after 10 minutes and a full decreased observed after 30 minutes (Fig. 4.9A). When the same blot was re-probed with anti-PY antibodies, any significant change in the level of tyrosine phosphorylation was observed: PY levels in fact remains elevated throughout the 2 hours incubation with no effect observed for H89 (Fig 4.9B). To further confirm these observations, a similar experiment was performed using sperm from C α II-M120A and C α II-WT animals, together with 10µM 1NM-PP1. Consistent with its effect during early time of capacitation, 1NM-PP1 affects the pPKAs in C α II-M120A sperm also when added after 1 hour. Furthermore 1NM-PP1 showed a faster kinetic of inhibition compared to H89 (Fig. 4.10A). We reasoned that the more rapid effect of 1NM-PP1 compared to H89 could be due to the M120A mutation in C α II subunit of PKA. Similar to what observed for H89, 1NM-PP1 only affects pPKAs phosphorylation without having any impact of PY signal (Fig 4.10B). As previously showed, 1NM-PP1 does not affect neither pPKAs (Fig 4.11A) nor PY phosphorylation in C α II-WT animals (Fig 4.11B). Similar experiments were also performed extending the time of incubation (to 180 minutes) of capacitated sperm with both inhibitors, and similar results were obtained, with a rapid inhibition of pPKAs signal with no effect on PY (data not shown). Altogether these two sets of results suggest that, once the

capacitation process is fully accomplished, the inhibition of the cAMP/PKA signaling pathway has a negligible effect on PY phosphorylation and possibly on other end points of capacitation.

4.1.10 Time dependent effect of H89 during capacitation on fertilization rates in vitro

Results in the above section suggest that not only the presence of Call catalytic subunit is required to promote phosphorylation events associated with capacitation (Nolan et al., 2004) but also that its time dependent activity appear to be a key element. Although the onset of PY during capacitation is considered a fundamental requirement for capacitation, we wanted to investigate whether time-dependent PKA activation affect the ability of spermatozoa to fertilize metaphase II arrested oocytes *in vitro*.

Epididymal spermatozoa, after swim out were incubated in capacitating conditions (TYH- 25mM HCO₃⁻ and 4mg/mL BSA) for 60 minutes. PKA inhibitor H89 was added either before incubation in capacitating conditions or during the last 10 minutes of incubation. Aliquots containing 10⁵ sperm were then co-incubated with metaphase II arrested oocytes and 24 hours after, the fertilization rate was calculated. Similar to what observed for PY signal, when H89 is present throughout the whole capacitation, the ability of sperm to fertilize metaphase II arrested was strongly reduced compared to untreated control. On the other hand, when the PKA inhibitor was added only at late time points of capacitation, although a significant decrease in the fertilization rate was observed, the effect was much less pronounced and several spermatozoa were able to fertilize the

oocytes *in vitro* (Fig 4.12) despite the fact that the inhibitor affected phosphorylation of PKA substrates (Fig 4.9) This observation is consistent with previous results, showing that PY is not affected during late PKA inhibition and supports the hypothesis that PKA activity covers a fundamental role during early time points of capacitation but that later on is less necessary.

4.1.11 Reversibility of the effect of PF431396 on PY during sperm capacitation

As a next step toward the investigation of kinetic of phosphorylation signaling associated with capacitation, we decided to use the pharmacological inhibitor of PY (PF431396), described in previous chapters of this thesis, to further examine the relationship between PY and pPKAs phosphorylation. We previously showed that an early activation of PKA is necessary to induce capacitation-associated PY. We therefore wanted to investigate whether PKA is able to induce PY even after tyrosine phosphorylation was inhibited during the first hour of capacitation: epididymal spermatozoa were incubated in capacitated conditions in the presence of 10µM PF431396, concentration shown to affect PY with no effect on pPKAs. After 1 hour, PF431396 was washed out and spermatozoa were incubated in capacitated media for another 60 minutes. Sperm were collected at different time points, and pPKAs and PY phosphorylation levels were then examined by Western blot. The presence of PF431396 during the first our in CAP conditions has no effect on pPKAs, as shown in the second chapter of this dissertation (Fig. 2.9). PY levels, after 60 minutes incubation in presence of PF431396 are depleted. When the inhibitor is removed from the incubation media, increased level of PY appear only if sperm are incubated in capacitating conditions for at

least 30 additional minutes or longer (Fig 4.13B). This observation was consistent with the kinetic observed for PY during *in vitro* capacitation in absence of any inhibitor (Fig 4.1B), with a later increase in PY levels that are then maintained throughout the whole incubation. Results showed above confirmed once again the different kinetic of onset of PY during capacitation, even when cAMP/PKA is fully active and suggest that although PKA induce the onset of PY, the activation is not direct but is mediated by a different player downstream of PKA and that might also regulate the time of occurrence of PY. Overall these data confirmed the key importance of time during capacitation, underscoring again difference compared to classical agonist-receptor signaling in other systems.

4.1.12 Kinetic of inhibition of PF431396 on pPKAs and PY phosphorylation in capacitated sperm

The recent data confirmed that the onset of PY during capacitation is a slow event that require long incubation (30/45 minutes) in presence of HCO_3^- and BSA, next we wanted to investigate the kinetic of inhibition of PY when both pPKAs and PY levels had reached their maximum levels. We took advantage of the specificity of PF431396 in inhibiting only the tyrosine phosphorylation without affecting PKA activity. Sperm, after swim out were incubated with 15mM HCO_3^- and 5mg/mL BSA for 60 minutes, in order to induce full increase of PY levels. At minute 60, 10μ M PF431396 was added to capacitation media. Sperm were then harvested at different time points during the second hour of incubation and pPKAs and PY were tested by western blot. As expected PF431396 has no effect on the phosphorylation of PKA substrates at any of the time point examined (Fig 4.14A).

When added after 1 Hour capacitation, PF431396 is still able to induce a decrease in the levels of PY, but with a slow kinetic of inhibition (Fig 4.14B). Sperm indeed have to be incubated in presence of the inhibitor for at least further 30 minutes to induce a significant decrease in the level of PY, with a depletion of PY signal observed only after 60 minutes. Similar to PY increase, this result showed that also the kinetic of inhibition of PYF431396 on PY is a slow event that required a certain amount of time. This observation suggests that level of PY during capacitation does not only depend only on the activity of tyrosine kinase downstream of PKA, but could also require the down regulation of phosphotyrosine phosphatases that maintain PY levels in a quiescent state in the early phase of capacitation. All these elements could cooperate together to guarantee the occurrence of capacitation at the appropriate time during mating.

CHAPTER 5

DISCUSSION

Capacitation is the ensemble of physiological changes that occurs to spermatozoa during their transit through the female tract and that render spermatozoa fully competent for fertilization (Austin, 1951). The independent discovery of capacitation by Dr. Austin (Austin, 1951) and Dr. Chang (Chang, 1951) represented a revolutionary step not only for studies on fertilization but also for setting the ground for the advent of Artificial Reproductive Techniques. The birth of Louis Joy Brown (Steptoe and Edwards, 1978) almost three decades later would not have been possible without thez works of Dr. Austin and Dr. Chang on sperm capacitation.

Capacitated sperm shows hyperactive motility to swim through and interact with the oviduct (Suarez and Ho, 2003) and has the ability to release their acrosomal content (Buffone et al., 2008; Buffone et al., 2014a). *In vitro* incubation in a normal culture media supplemented with HCO₃⁻ and BSA induce sperm capacitation (Buffone et al., 2014b) and molecular events associated with it: increase of membrane fluidity (Ickowicz et al., 2012) and of intracellular pH (pH_i) (Parrish et al., 1989; Zeng et al., 1996); hyperpolarization of the plasma membrane (Escoffier et al., 2012; Zeng et al.,

1995); and increase in intracellular Ca²⁺ levels (Baldi et al., 1991; Carlson et al., 2007; Marin-Briggiler et al., 2003).

Sperm capacitation is associated with the activation of ADCY10 (Buck et al., 1999), an atypical soluble Adenyl Cyclase (sAC) stimulated by intracellular HCO₃⁻. Increased cAMP levels induce the activation of PKA. The presence of

sAC and PKA is required for the onset of sperm capacitation (Esposito et al., 2004; Nolan et al., 2004). Also the increase of PY levels, another hallmark of capacitation, also depend on the activation of cAMP/PKA (Visconti et al., 1995a; Visconti et al., 1995b). Although correlated these events occur at different times during capacitation. Following studies confirmed the importance of PY in other species (Baldi et al., 2002; Ficarro et al., 2003; Harrison, 2004; Jagan Mohanarao and Atreja, 2011; Roy and Atreja, 2008; Signorelli et al., 2012). Although the identity of several substrates of phosphorylation were revealed (Ickowicz et al., 2012; Naresh and Atreja, 2015; Visconti et al., 2011), still there is a limited knowledge about roles and mechanisms regulating each of these substrates (Visconti et al., 2011). Different studies focus on unveiling the identity of the tyrosine kinase(s) that induce PY increase during capacitation. Baker proposed a role for Src tyrosine kinase, based on tandem mass-spectrometry data showing its presence in murine sperm, on the interaction of Src with the Call PKA subunit and on the sensitivity of PY to Src inhibitors (Baker et al., 2006). Similar results were shown also in human sperm (Varano et al., 2008). ON the other hand, later studies were in contrast with Baker's model and an alternative role for the kinase was proposed (Krapf et al., 2010): Src induces full activation of PKA down regulating phosphatases activity during capacitation (Krapf et al., 2010).

Recently a different candidate tyrosine kinase family was proposed to regulate PY in stallion: *focal adhesion kinases* (Gonzalez-Fernandez et al., 2013). We therefore used a pharmacological approach to investigate role of FAK members during capacitation in human. The *focal adhesion kinase* (*fak*)

members' inhibitor PF431396 induced a concentration-dependent decrease in the level of PY, without affecting the phosphorylation of PKA substrates and, only one member of the FAK family was detected in human: PYK2 (Battistone et al., 2014). PYK2 auto-phosphorylation/activation occurs after 2 hours incubation in capacitating conditions, and is sensitive to increasing concentration of PF431396 (Battistone et al., 2014). We also showed the effect of PF431396 is specific to events downstream of PKA (Battistone et al., 2014). As part of this manuscript as well as the one in horses, our group suggested that *fak* members have a role in regulating PY during capacitation. However, these results were based on pharmacological loss of function experiments. To be more conclusive, our hypothesis was tested in mouse spermatozoa, due to the possibility of using knockout mice models to test the function of our protein of interest.

We showed that in murine, the *fak* kinase PYK2 is not the responsible for PY increase during capacitation. *Pyk2*^{-/-} animals showed no defect in the capacitation-associated levels of PY and a possible compensatory role played by the other *fak* member FAK, which we found to be present in murine sperm was also rule out due to a lack of inhibition of PF573228 (specific inhibitor of FAK) on PY levels.

Therefore, we search for other tyrosine kinase candidates. One of them was the tyrosine kinase FER, which is present in murine sperm as a testis-specific isoform (FERT). First, PF431396, which block the increase of tyrosine phosphorylation without affecting phosphorylation of PKA substrates during capacitation, was shown to block FER activity in vitro. Second, sperm from animals lacking FER activity showed no increase in the levels of PY during *in*

vitro capacitation. This genetic loss of function approach strongly suggested that FER was indeed the tyrosine kinase involved in the capacitationassociated increase of tyrosine phosphorylation. This is an important stepforward in understanding molecular events associated with capacitation. Although assigning an unambiguous role to FERT only represents a starting point to further investigate events that downstream of PKA induce PY increase. A direct mechanism of activation of FERT mediated by PKA is unlikely. PKA only induces phosphorylation on serine and threonine and FER activity depends on phosphorylation on the activation loop at Tyr715 (Greer, 2002). FERT retain the Src homology 2 (SH2) and the tyrosine kinase domains (Greer, 2002); SH2 domain mediates interactions between several classes of proteins, promoting both interaction with activators upstream and substrates downstream (Songyang et al., 1995). Phosphorylation/activation of FER was shown in response to different signals as EFG or PDGF (Craig et al., 2001; Kim and Wong, 1995). Although the identity of the kinases promoting FER phosphorylation was not clear, Src family kinases (SFKs) were candidates. In murine Src appears to be a connecting player between PKA and membrane hyperpolarization (Stival et al., 2015). While *Fer^{DR/DR}* animals lacking the increase of PY associated with

capacitation showed no functional defects, physiological levels of total and hyperactive motility were similar to controls.

Given the high correlation between PY and capacitation, the lack of a functional phenotype associated with capacitation was surprising. An interesting study in rat showed that during spermatogenesis FERT co-localize with cortactin (Kierszenbaum et al., 2008), a protein known to be

activated by tyrosine phosphorylation and to regulate actin dynamics (Head et al., 2003). Our results suggest that FERT cover no function during spermatogenesis in mouse, but future works should focus on a possible FERT-mediated phosphorylation of cortactin during capacitation and whether this has a possible outcome in controlling actin dynamics.

Similarly to PYK2, FAK tyrosine kinase includes a recognition motif for SH2 domain (Mitra et al., 2005b). Whilst we showed FAK has not a unique role in regulating PY is present in mouse sperm, a recent study in suspended hepatocytes showed that FER kinase promote the phosphorylation of FAK on different tyrosine kinase residues (Oh et al., 2009). It is therefore possible that FAK in sperm could function as substrate of FERT. Further investigations should be done to test this possibility.

The observation that *Fer^{DR/DR}* showed no defects associated with AR, also argue with a previous study in rat, where FERT has been suggested to play a role during acrosome-acroplaxome complex development, ultimately contributing to the formation of a functional acrosome and of head shape (Kierszenbaum et al., 2008). Sperm collected from *Fer^{DR/DR}* animals showed no defect in sperm morphology compared to WT littermates, arguing against a role of FERT during acrosome formation in mouse sperm. A plausible explanation could be due to different mechanism of regulation of acrosome development between different species.

We also examined the ability of *Fer^{DR/DR}* sperm to fertilize metaphase II arrested oocytes *in vitro*. Our results indicate that sperm lacking FER kinase activity shows a strong decrease in their fertilizing ability compared to wild type. Few oocytes reach the 2-cell developmental stage when incubated with

Fer^{DR/DR} sperm. On the other hand *Fer^{DR/DR}* animals are fertile and produce viable and healthy offspring following natural mating (Craig et al., 2001). Analysis of our results *in vitro* is in accordance with the current paradigm of sperm capacitation, tyrosine phosphorylation *in vitro* is required for fertilizing ability (Naresh and Atreja, 2015; Visconti et al., 2011). *In vivo* results show that the fertilizing ability of these mice is not affected by the absence of FER activity despite the clear lack of PY. These data challenge the current paradigm of sperm capacitation.

This discrepancy between could be explained by separate mechanisms that control PY occurrence between *in vitro* fertilization and natural mating. To further elucidate the mechanisms underlying this difference, PY analysis of both WT and *Fer^{DR/DR}* sperm recovered from the oviduct after copula will therefore be necessary, opening to possible new scenarios in the field of sperm capacitation. If *Fer^{DR/DR}* sperm recovered from the oviduct does not show any increase of PY, the current paradigm of sperm capacitation will be changed, somehow downsizing the necessity of PY for full capacitation after mating. In this case, it will be necessary to investigate what are the different mechanisms that regulate capacitation *in vivo* and *in vitro*. Although unlikely, this is still an open possibility.

On the other hand if the recovered sperm showed a physiologic increase in the level of PY, it will be then fundamental to understand what are the mechanisms that *in vivo*, in absence of FERT cause the onset of PY. One possibility is that different kinases are activated between *in vivo* and *in vitro* capacitation. Different tyrosine kinases are present in sperm (Signorelli et al., 2012). Although the cAMP/PKA/FER pathway *in vitro* is the pathway of

election that induces PY, we cannot rule out the possibility that during *in vivo* capacitation other unknown pathways are activated. It is fundamental to remember that the occurrence of sperm capacitation *in vivo* is a time dependent event most likely regulated by several different factors encountered during the transit through the different female environments (vaginal, uterine and tubal). Finally, an alternative possibility is that PY gives a competitive advantage to certain spermatozoa during capacitation. Although some of our results raise some concerns about the absolute requirement of tyrosine phosphorylation increase during sperm capacitation in vivo, we decided to investigate the *in vitro* kinetic of phosphorylation events during capacitation. We confirmed that the increase of PY depends on the cAMP/PKA signaling pathway. However, both phosphorylation types occur on a different time scale. Phosphorylation of PKA substrates is in fact a rapid event immediately induced when sperm are incubated in capacitating conditions (in presence of HCO_3^- and BSA), PY increase on the other hand requires longer time of incubation in capacitating conditions. As part of this thesis, we showed that the continuous activation of PKA at the beginning of capacitation is required to induce the slow increase of PY. This result was consistent with previous publication (Morgan et al., 2008).

These observations suggest that the time of different phosphorylation events associated to capacitation is tightly coordinated.

We also showed the time of inhibition of cAMP/PKA is a key element to regulate *in vitro* fertilizing ability. Only the early inhibition of cAMP/PKA strongly affects the *in vitro* fertilization rate of this sperm.

The effect of different inhibitors added at later times of capacitation was also examined. We showed that, at these later time periods, inhibitors of PKA rapidly inhibit pPKAs signal but have a negligible effect on PY levels, even if incubated for longer periods. Furthermore when sperm are incubated with PY inhibitor after capacitation has occurred, we observed a slow kinetic of inhibition, with a full reduction only showed after 60 minutes of incubation. These results support our idea of tyrosine phosphorylation having a high correlation with occurrence of sperm capacitation. Other functional events that require longer times of incubation in capacitation media are the preparation for the acrosome reaction and the onset of hyperactive motility (Salicioni et al., 2007).

To explain our data, one possibility is that the late occurrence of PY during capacitation is due because of a slow (30/45 minutes) down-regulation of protein phosphatases activity.

In order to test this hypothesis, future works will include the use of phosphatases inhibitors to examine any changes in the kinetic of PY signals. As far of our knowledge, a limited body of work was done in investigating the time dependent PY phosphorylation, it will be therefore also beneficial to study the time course of phosphorylation of some of the substrates known being tyrosine phosphorylated as AKAP family kinases, CABYR or heat shock proteins. To fully understand the mechanism underlying late PY occurrence, it would also be fundamental to examine the time dependent activity of FERT during capacitation.

To conclude, we showed that in mouse sperm the testis specific isoform of tyrosine kinase FER, induce the increase of PY associated with capacitation.

Despite our finding showed that the increase of tyrosine phosphorylation levels associated with sperm capacitation is not an absolute requirement for capacitation and fertilizing ability, it is fundamental to underline difference between *in vitro* and *in vivo* capacitation. In vivo capacitation in fact include the transit of spermatozoa through different environment and, although not its occurrence is absolutely required, we cannot rule out the possibility that tyrosine phosphorylation give a competitive advantage to certain sperm subpopulations. If this is the case, it is reasonable that these competitive differences will only be evident when sperm capacitation is stimulated in competitive conditions.

CHAPTER 6

MATERIALS & METHODS

6.1 Materials

Reagents used for our project were obtained from various sources. Sodium bicarbonate (NaHCO₃), bovine serum albumin (BSA, fatty acid free), dibutyryl cAMP (Bt₂cAMP), 3-isobutyl-1-methylxanthine (IBMX), adenosine triphosphate (ATP), magnesium chloride (MgCl₂), manganese chloride (MnCl₂), aprotinin, leupeptin, sodium orthovanadate (NaVO₄), *p*-nitrophenyl phosphate (NPP), β -glycero phosphate (β GP), β -mercaptoethanol, Poly (Glu:Tyr)(1:4), *Pisum sativum* agglutinin coupled to fluorescein isothiocyanate (PSA-FITC) (cat# L0770), gonadotropin from pregnant mare serum (PMSG) (cat# G4877), human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG) (cat# C1063), and PF431396 were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St Louis, MO). SU6656, H89 and Triton X-100 were obtained from Cayman Chemical (Ann Harbor, MI), okadaic acid (OA) and SKI606 were bought from LC Laboratories (Woburn, MA). PF573228 was obtained from Selleck Biochem (Houston, TX). HEPES was purchased from Roche (Basel, Switzerland) and paraformaldehyde (PFA) from Electron Microscopy Science (Hatfield, PA). Phosphorous 32 Radiolabeled adenosine triphosphate (γ -³²P-ATP) was obtained from Perkin Elmer (Waltham, MA). Mouse monoclonal anti-total PYK2 (clone 5E2) (Tang et al., 2002), rabbit polyclonal anti-PYK2PY⁴⁰² (cat#3291), rabbit polyclonal anti-FAK (cat# 3285) (Battistone et al., 2014), rabbit monoclonal antiphospho-PKA substrates (clone 100G7E) (anti-pPKAs) (Navarrete et al.,

2015) and mouse monoclonal anti-FER (cat#4268) (Greer, 2002) were purchased from Cell Signaling (Danvers, MA). Mouse monoclonal antiphospho tyrosine (anti-PY) antibody (clone 4G10) (Navarrete et al., 2015) was purchased from EMD Millipore (Billerica, MA). Peroxidase/conjugated antimouse IgG were obtained from Jackson Immunoresearch (West Grove, PA) and peroxidase conjugated anti-rabbit IgG from GE Healthcare (Pittsburg, PA). AlexaFluor647-conjugated anti-mouse secondary antibody was purchased from Invitrogen (ThermoFisher Scientific) (Grand Island, NY). His-Tag recombinant PYK2, FAK and FER were purchased from Invitrogen (Grand Island, NY).

6.2 Methods

6.2.1 Mouse Sample Preparation

Animals were culled following the guidelines of the Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) at University of Massachusetts, Amherst. Caudal epididymal murine spermatozoa were collected from CD1 retired male breeders (Charles River Laboratories, Wilmington, MA), from young adult C57 (7–8 week-old mice), *Pyk2*-/- (Shen et al., 2011), *Fer*^{DR/DR} (Craig et al., 2001) mice and their respective wild type littermates. After collection, each cauda epididymis was placed in 500 µl of a modified Krebs-Ringer medium (TYH's HEPES-buffered medium) (Kito and Ohta, 2008): NaCl (100 mM), KCl (4.7 mM), KH₂PO₄ (1.2 mM), MgSO₄ (1.2 mM), Glucose (5.5 mM), Pyruvic acid (0.8 mM), CaCl₂ (1.7mM), HEPES (20 mM (concentrations given in parenthesis). Collection of sperm in this medium does not promote the onset of capacitation. Following 10 min incubation at 37°C (swim-out), tissue debris from epididymis were removed, and cells suspension were adjusted to a final concentration of $1-2 \times 10^7$ cells/ml in non-capacitating medium before dilution of four times in the corresponding medium. Sperm were then incubated at 37 °C for the length of times indicated in each r experiment, either in the absence (NON) or in the presence of 15 mM NaHCO₃ and 5 mg/ml BSA (CAP). The effect of various inhibitors was tested on sperm incubated under the capacitating conditions described above together with increasing concentrations of the various inhibitors used, as indicated for each experiment. For time dependent analysis of phosphorylation events associated with capacitation (pPKAs and PY), sperm were incubated in capacitating condition in presence or absence of various inhibitor for different amount of time as described for each experiment in the results. For in vitro fertilization (IVF) assays, sperm were first incubated in modified TYH medium (without HEPES) containing 25 mM NaHCO₃ and 4 mg/ml BSA. The medium was previously equilibrated in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO2 at 37°C (Wertheimer et al., 2008).

6.2.2 Human Samples Preparation

15 healthy donors (20–35 yearls old) with no fertility issues were included in the study. Ejaculated semen was collected by masturbation and all samples were treated in accordance to World Health Organization reccommendations (Organization, 2010). After liquefaction motile spermatozoa were collected by standard swim-up technique in absence of HCO₃⁻ and diluted to a concentration of 1×10⁷cells/ml. Sperm were then incubated in modified Biggers, Whitten and Whittingham medium (BWW) in absence (NON) or presence (CAP) of bicarbonate at 37°C, 5% CO₂. BWW use in the study include: NaHCO₃ (25mM), NaCl (94.5mM), KCl (4.8mM), CaCl₂ (1.7mM), KH₂PO₄ (1.17mM), MgCl₂ (1.22mM), Na-Pyruvate (0.3mM), Na-lactate (25.7mM), glucose (5.5mM) and HEPES (10mM) supplemented with BSA (2.6% p/v). Time of incubation vary between experiments, as described in the figure legend.

6.2.3 SDS-PAGE and Immunoblotting

Human and murine sperm were harvested by centrifugation, washed in 1 ml of phosphate buffer solution (PBS), re-suspended in Laemmli sample buffer (Laemmli, 1970), boiled for 4 min and centrifuged one more time. Supernatants were then supplemented with 5% β-mercaptoethanol and boiled again for 3 min. Protein extracts equivalent to 1–2 10⁶ sperm were loaded in each lane, subjected to SDS–PAGE and electro-transferred to PVDF membranes (Bio-Rad, Waltham, MA) at 250 mA for 90 min on ice. Immunoblotting with either anti-pPKAS antibodies (clone 100G7E) or with anti-PY (clone 4G10) was carried out as previously described (Krapf et al., 2010). For immunodetection of murine PYK2, PYK2-PY⁴⁰², FAK and FER, PVDF membranes were blocked with 5% fat-free milk in TBS containing 0.1% Tween 20 (T-TBS) and the respective antibodies used at 1:1,000 final concentration. Secondary antibodies were diluted in T-TBS (1:10,000) and an

enhanced chemioluminescence ECL plus kit (GE Healthcare) was used for signal detection. Hexokinase, a protein known being constitutively phosphorylated on tyrosine residues in mouse sperm, was used as a loading control (Porambo et al., 2012; Visconti et al., 1995a). When necessary, PVDF membranes were stripped at 65 °C for 20 min in 2% SDS, 0.74% β mercaptoethanol, 62.5 mM Tris, pH 6.5, and then washed six times for 5 min each in T-TBS prior to re-probing with a different antibody. For the analysis of western blot results, molecular masses are expressed in kDa. Image analysis was conducted using ImageJ (http://imagej.nih.gov/ij). The vertical bar on the left side of the each blot represents the regions of interest (ROI) used for quantification. In all cases, results were normalized arbitrarily considering the CAP lane as the unit value. Images shown are representative of experiments repeated three times (n=3) using different animals.

6.2.4 Analysis of Kinases Solubility

The solubility of the various tyrosine kinases (PY, PYK2, FAK and FER) under investigation `was assessed using the non-ionic detergent Triton X-100. After 10 minutes swim-out in TYH-HEPES media, sperm samples were pelleted by centrifugation at 1,500 RPM for 5 minutes and re-suspended in 1% Triton X-100/PBS buffer containing protease and phosphatase inhibitors for 30 min on ice. Both supernatant (Triton X-100-soluble fraction) and the remaining pellets (Triton X-100-insoluble fraction) were produced by centrifugation at 14,000 RPM at 4°C for 2 min and then examined by western blot. Figures represents experiments repeated at least three times (n=3) using different animals.

6.2.5 Recombinant Kinase Assay

The activity of GST-tagged recombinant kinases PYK2, FAK and FER (60ng/reaction) were assayed in a buffer containing: 25 mM HEPES (pH 7.2), 10 mM MgCl₂, 10 mM MnCl₂, 10 μM aprotinin, 10 μM leupeptin, 100 μM NaVO₄, 5 mM Nitro Phenyl Phosphate (NPP), and 40 mM β-Glycero phosphate (β GP), with 40 μ M ATP and 100 μ M Poly(Glu:Tyr)(1:4) used as substrate for 20 minutes in presence of 1 μ Ci of γ -³²P-ATP. Reactions were stopped adding 60% trichloric acid (final concentration 30%), the samples were then chilled on ice for 20 minutes and centrifuged at 10,000 X g for 3 minutes. Thirty microliters (30 µL) of from each reaction tube were transferred to phosphocellulose paper (Whatman P81, Millipore, Bedford, MA) (2 cm x 2 cm). Papers were then immediately incubated with 5 mM phosphoric acid and washed seven times using the same solution. After washes, papers were rinsed for 5 min with 100% ethanol and air-dried (15/20 min). Incorporated counts (cpm) were evaluated using a Beckman counter LS6500 (Beckman, Brea, CA) in vials containing the spotted papers together with 2.5 mL of scintillation fluid. Values represent average of three independent experimental replicates (n=3).

6.2.6 Analysis of in vitro activity of PKA

The activity of PKA was measure using previously described methodology (Hao et al., 2004; Visconti et al., 1997), After PKA extraction from mouse

spermatozoa (CD1, C α II-WT and C α II-M120A), its activity was measured quantifying the amount of ³²P transferred from γ -³²P-ATPs to the peptide substrate of PKA *kemptide* (Leu-Arg-Arg-Ala-Ser-Leu-Gly). The activity of PKA was then assayed in absence and in presence of different concentration of various inhibitors, as described in the results section.

6.2.7 Human Sperm Motility Assay

Capacitated spermatozoa were loaded on pre-warmed 20µm slides (Leja Slide, Spectrum Technologies, Healdsburg, CA, USA), placed on pre-warmed microscope stage and examined using CEROS computer-assisted semen analysis (CASA) (Hamilton Thorne Research, Beverly, MA) (Mortimer et al., 1998). A minimum of 20 field and 200 cells for each experimental group were analyzed. Parameters taken into account include the following: average path velocity (VAP, mm/s), curvilinear velocity (VCL, mm/s), straight linear velocity (VSL, mm/s), linearity (LIN, %), amplitude of lateral head displacement (ALH, mm) and straightness (STR, %) as previously described (Battistone et al., 2013). Analysis of progressive and hyperactive motility was based on already established criteria (Mortimer and Mortimer, 1990). Four independent experiments per treatment were performed (n=4).

6.2.8 Murine Sperm Motility Assay

Sperm suspensions (30 μ l) were loaded into pre-warmed chamber 100 μ m

slides (Leja slides, Spectrum Technologies, Healdsburg, CA) and placed on a pre-warmed (37°C) microscope stage. Sperm movements were examined using the CEROS computer-assisted semen analysis (CASA) system (Hamilton Thorne Research, Beverly, MA). Default settings used for the analysis of murine sperm included the following: frames acquired: 90; frame rate: 60 Hz; minimum cell size: 4 pixels; static head size: 0.13–2.43; static head intensity: 0.10–1.52; and static head elongation: 5–100. Sperm with hyperactive motility, defined as motility with high amplitude thrashing patterns and short distance of travel, were sorted using the CASAnova software with already established criteria (Goodson et al., 2011). At least 20 microscopy fields corresponding to a minimum of 200 sperm were analyzed in each experiment.

6.2.9 Mouse Eggs Collection and IVF Assays

6–8-week old CD1 and C57BL/6 female mice (Charles River Laboratories, Wilmington, MA) were super ovulated using PMSG and hCG. Metaphase IIarrested eggs were then collected 12 Hours after hGC intra-peritoneal injections as previously described (Wertheimer et al., 2008). Cumulus-oocyte complexes (COCs) were transferred to a dish with 500 μ l of TYH media (without HEPES) previously equilibrated in an incubator with 5% CO₂ at 37°C. Murine sperm (2.5×10^5 cells for each experiment) were incubated in capacitating condition for 1h and 20 minutes and then co-incubated with metaphase II arrested oocytes (25–40 eggs per experiment) for 4 h. The eggs were washed to remove sperm in excess and moved to fresh TYH media,

fertilization rate was then evaluated 24 h post-insemination. Eggs were considered fertilized, when cells were able to reach the two-cell stage of development. Values represent average of three independent experimental replicates (n=3), using different animals

6.2.10 Genotype of Pyk2-/- and FerDR/DR

Genotype of *Pyk2*^{-/-} was performed based on Shen *et al* (Shen et al., 2011) using the following primers *Pyk2* wild type forward, 5'-GGAGGTCTATGAAGGTGTCTACACGAAC-3'; *Pyk2* mutant forward, 5'-GCCAGCTCATTCCTCCCACTCAT-3'; *Pyk2* reverse, 5'-CCTGCTGGCAGCCTAACCACAT-3'. Genotype of Fer^{DR/DR} was evaluated as described by Craig et al (Craig et al., 2001).

6.2.11 Genotype of $C\alpha II$ animals

The following primers were used for the genotype analysis of CαII animals: lox1 Forward: 5'-TCTTTGCTCAGGGCGGACTG-3'; CaREC10-2 Reverse: 5'-ACCAGGAGGATTGTGAGCCTAAGAC-3'. The analysis of the genotype for each animal was performed as previously described (Morgan et al., 2008).

6.2.12 Indirect Immunofluorescence

Sperm were collected by swim-up in TYH-HEPES medium, were washed once and re-suspended in PBS (1-2 10⁶ sperm/ml), and seeded on coverslips. Sperm was air-died and fixed with 4% PFA freshly made in PBS for 10 min at room temperature, washed with PBS, and permeabilized for 5 min with 0.5% Triton X-100. After permeabilization, sperm were blocked using 10% BSA/T-PBS for 1 h at room temperature and then incubated with the anti-PY antibody (1:1000) diluted in 1% BSA/T-PBS overnight at 4 °C. After primary incubation, sperm were washed thoroughly with T-PBS to eliminate antibody in excess and incubated with the corresponding Alexa 555conjugated secondary antibody (1:200) diluted in T-PBS containing 1% BSA for 1 h at room temperature. Incubation with the secondary antibody was followed by four washes in T-PBS. Slides were then mounted using Vectashield H1000 (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR). Epifluorescence microscopy was performed using a TE300 Eclipse microscope (\times 60) (Nikon). Differential Interference Contrast (DIC) images were taken in parallel and served as control for sperm morphology. Negative controls using either normal serum or secondary antibody alone were used to check for antibody specificity.

6.2.13 Sample Preparation and Immunostaining for Super-resolution Microscopy

After capacitation, sperm were centrifuged at 800 X g for 5 min., the pellet was fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 10 min at room temperature and then centrifuged at 800xg for 5 min. The cell pellet was resuspended in PBS and 50 µl of this suspension were placed onto polylysinated coverslips and allowed to set for 10 min. Non-bound cells were removed by washing with PBS. Sperm cells were then permeabilized with 0.5% Triton X-100 in PBS for 5 min and blocked with 3% BSA in PBS for 1 h at room temperature. Primary antibodies were diluted in 1% BSA, and incubated with cells overnight at 4°C in a humidified chamber. Anti-PY antibody (clone 4G10; final concentration 1:1000), and anti-FER (clone 5D2) at a dilution 1:50 were used. After primary antibody incubation, cells were washed with T-PBS (0.5% Tween-20 in PBS) three times for 5 min each, and then stained with Alexa Fluor 647-conjugated anti-mouse secondary antibody diluted in PBS containing 1% BSA (1:1000 for pY and 1:500 for FER) at room temperature for 1 h. Cells were then washed with T-PBS three times for 5 min each and incubated with 50 nm gold nanoparticles (Nanopartz, Loveland CO) that were used as fiducial markers for drift correction. After washing, cells were immediately mounted. The STORM imaging buffer was 50 mM Tris-HCI (pH 8.0), 10 mM NaCI, 10% glucose, 0.56 mg/ml glucose oxidase, 34 g/ml catalase, 10% glucose, and 1% β-mercaptoethanol.

6.2.14 STORM Imaging

Image stacks were acquired using Andor IQ 2.3 software in a custom-built microscope equipped with an Olympus PlanApo 100×/1.45 objective (Weigel et al., 2011). Alexa Fluor 647 was excited with a 638 nm laser (DL638-050, CrystaLaser, Reno, NV) under continuous illumination. Initially the photoswitching rate was sufficient to provide a substantial fluorophore density. However, as fluorophores photo-bleached, a 405 nm laser was introduced to accelerate the photo-switching rate. The intensity of the 405 nm laser was adjusted to control the density of active fluorophores. A cylindrical lens with a focal lens of 1 m was placed in the detection path in order to achieve 3D resolution as previously described (Huang et al., 2008). The images were acquired in a back-illuminated electron-multiplied charge coupled device (EMCCD) camera (Andor iXon DU-888) operated at ~85°C at a rate of 23 frames/s. Fifty thousand (50,000) frames were collected to generate a superresolution image.

6.2.15 Super-resolution Image reconstruction and analysis

Single-molecule localization, drift correction using gold fiducial markers and reconstruction were performed with ThunderSTORM, an ImageJ plugin (Ovesny et al., 2014). In order to find the molecular radial distributions, we selected regions of interest of the flagellum that were found to lie in a straight line, and the center of the flagellar cross section was calculated in MATLAB with a custom written algorithm. The coordinates of the localized molecules

were then transformed into cylindrical coordinates (Chung et al., 2014), from which the distribution of radial localization was computed.

6.2.16 Statistics

Statistical analyses were performed using the software Infostat 2011 (Di Rienzo J.A., Casanoves F., Balzarini M.G., Gonzalez L., TabladaM., Robledo C.W. InfoStat version 2011. Grupo InfoStat, FCA, Universidad Nacional de Cordoba, Argentina). All data were verified to accomplish the parametric assumptions: homogeneity of variances and normality. For Western blotting experiments, experiments were repeated at least 3 times and comparison between groups was performed by analysis of variance (ANOVA) in blocks. Data from each Western analysis was considered as a block and all treatments were applied to it. When the ANOVA tests were significantly different between groups (p<0.05), multiple comparisons were performed by the Tukey's test. For the IVF experiments, data was analyzed by the Chisquare test. P values (p< 0.001, p<0.01 or p<0.05) were considered to be significant as indicated in the Figure legends.
BIBLIOGRAPHY

Acott, T.S., Carr, D.W., 1984. Inhibition of bovine spermatozoa by caudal epididymal fluid: II. Interaction of pH and a quiescence factor. Biology of reproduction 30, 926-935.

Aitken, R.J., Buckingham, D.W., Harkiss, D., Paterson, M., Fisher, H., Irvine, D.S., 1996. The extragenomic action of progesterone on human spermatozoa is influenced by redox regulated changes in tyrosine phosphorylation during capacitation. Molecular and cellular endocrinology 117, 83-93.

Aitken, R.J., Nixon, B., 2013. Sperm capacitation: a distant landscape glimpsed but unexplored. Molecular human reproduction 19, 785-793.

Arcelay, E., Salicioni, A.M., Wertheimer, E., Visconti, P.E., 2008. Identification of proteins undergoing tyrosine phosphorylation during mouse sperm capacitation. The International journal of developmental biology 52, 463-472.

Ashizawa, K., Hashimoto, K., Higashio, M., Tsuzuki, Y., 1997. The addition of mitogen-activated protein kinase and p34cdc2 kinase substrate peptides inhibits the flagellar motility of demembranated fowl spermatozoa. Biochemical and biophysical research communications 240, 116-121.

Ashizawa, K., Wishart, G.J., Katayama, S., Takano, D., Ranasinghe, A.R., Narumi, K., Tsuzuki, Y., 2006. Regulation of acrosome reaction of fowl spermatozoa: evidence for the involvement of protein kinase C and protein phosphatase-type 1 and/or -type 2A. Reproduction (Cambridge, England) 131, 1017-1024.

Ashrafzadeh, A., Karsani, S.A., Nathan, S., 2013. Mammalian sperm fertility related proteins. International journal of medical sciences 10, 1649-1657.

Asquith, K.L., Baleato, R.M., McLaughlin, E.A., Nixon, B., Aitken, R.J., 2004. Tyrosine phosphorylation activates surface chaperones facilitating sperm-zona recognition. Journal of cell science 117, 3645-3657.

Assoian, R.K., Klein, E.A., 2008. Growth control by intracellular tension and extracellular stiffness. Trends in cell biology 18, 347-352.

Austin, C.R., 1951. Observations on the penetration of the sperm in the mammalian egg. Australian journal of scientific research. Ser. B: Biological sciences 4, 581-596.

Avraham, H., Park, S.Y., Schinkmann, K., Avraham, S., 2000. RAFTK/Pyk2mediated cellular signalling. Cellular signalling 12, 123-133.

Bain, J., McLauchlan, H., Elliott, M., Cohen, P., 2003. The specificities of protein kinase inhibitors: an update. The Biochemical journal 371, 199-204.

Bain, J., Plater, L., Elliott, M., Shpiro, N., Hastie, C.J., McLauchlan, H., Klevernic, I., Arthur, J.S., Alessi, D.R., Cohen, P., 2007. The selectivity of protein kinase inhibitors: a further update. The Biochemical journal 408, 297-315.

Baker, M.A., 2016. Proteomics of post-translational modifications of mammalian spermatozoa. Cell and tissue research 363, 279-287.

Baker, M.A., Hetherington, L., Aitken, R.J., 2006. Identification of SRC as a key PKA-stimulated tyrosine kinase involved in the capacitation-associated hyperactivation of murine spermatozoa. Journal of cell science 119, 3182-3192.

Baker, M.A., Hetherington, L., Curry, B., Aitken, R.J., 2009. Phosphorylation and consequent stimulation of the tyrosine kinase c-Abl by PKA in mouse spermatozoa; its implications during capacitation. Developmental biology 333, 57-66.

Balao da Silva, C.M., Spinaci, M., Bucci, D., Giaretta, E., Pena, F.J., Mari, G., Galeati, G., 2013. Effect of sex sorting on stallion spermatozoa: Heterologous oocyte binding, tyrosine phosphorylation and acrosome reaction assay. Animal reproduction science 141, 68-74.

Baldi, E., Casano, R., Falsetti, C., Krausz, C., Maggi, M., Forti, G., 1991. Intracellular calcium accumulation and responsiveness to progesterone in capacitating human spermatozoa. Journal of andrology 12, 323-330.

Baldi, E., Luconi, M., Bonaccorsi, L., Forti, G., 2002. Signal transduction pathways in human spermatozoa. Journal of reproductive immunology 53, 121-131.

Battistone, M.A., Alvau, A., Salicioni, A.M., Visconti, P.E., Da Ros, V.G., Cuasnicu, P.S., 2014. Evidence for the involvement of proline-rich tyrosine kinase 2 in tyrosine phosphorylation downstream of protein kinase A activation during human sperm capacitation. Molecular human reproduction 20, 1054-1066.

Battistone, M.A., Da Ros, V.G., Salicioni, A.M., Navarrete, F.A., Krapf, D., Visconti, P.E., Cuasnicu, P.S., 2013. Functional human sperm capacitation requires both bicarbonate-dependent PKA activation and down-regulation of Ser/Thr phosphatases by Src family kinases. Molecular human reproduction 19, 570-580.

Bavister, B.D., 1973. Capacitation of golden hamster spermatozoa during incubation in culture medium. Journal of reproduction and fertility 35, 161-163.

Bhattacharya, S.K., Aspnes, G.E., Bagley, S.W., Boehm, M., Brosius, A.D., Buckbinder, L., Chang, J.S., Dibrino, J., Eng, H., Frederick, K.S., Griffith, D.A., Griffor, M.C., Guimaraes, C.R., Guzman-Perez, A., Han, S., Kalgutkar, A.S., Klug-McLeod, J., Garcia-Irizarry, C., Li, J., Lippa, B., Price, D.A., Southers, J.A., Walker, D.P., Wei, L., Xiao, J., Zawistoski, M.P., Zhao, X., 2012. Identification of novel series of pyrazole and indole-urea based DFG-out PYK2 inhibitors. Bioorganic & medicinal chemistry letters 22, 7523-7529. Bishop, A.C., Ubersax, J.A., Petsch, D.T., Matheos, D.P., Gray, N.S., Blethrow, J., Shimizu, E., Tsien, J.Z., Schultz, P.G., Rose, M.D., Wood, J.L., Morgan, D.O., Shokat, K.M., 2000. A chemical switch for inhibitor-sensitive alleles of any protein kinase. Nature 407, 395-401.

Brakebusch, C., Fassler, R., 2003. The integrin-actin connection, an eternal love affair. The EMBO journal 22, 2324-2333.

Breitbart, H., 2003. Signaling pathways in sperm capacitation and acrosome reaction. Cellular and molecular biology (Noisy-le-Grand, France) 49, 321-327. Breitbart, H., Lax, J., Rotem, R., Naor, Z., 1992. Role of protein kinase C in the acrosome reaction of mammalian spermatozoa. The Biochemical journal 281 (Pt 2), 473-476.

Brener, E., Rubinstein, S., Cohen, G., Shternall, K., Rivlin, J., Breitbart, H., 2003. Remodeling of the actin cytoskeleton during mammalian sperm capacitation and acrosome reaction. Biology of reproduction 68, 837-845.

Buck, J., Sinclair, M.L., Schapal, L., Cann, M.J., Levin, L.R., 1999. Cytosolic adenylyl cyclase defines a unique signaling molecule in mammals. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 96, 79-84.

Buckbinder, L., Crawford, D.T., Qi, H., Ke, H.Z., Olson, L.M., Long, K.R., Bonnette, P.C., Baumann, A.P., Hambor, J.E., Grasser, W.A., 3rd, Pan, L.C., Owen, T.A., Luzzio, M.J., Hulford, C.A., Gebhard, D.F., Paralkar, V.M., Simmons, H.A., Kath, J.C., Roberts, W.G., Smock, S.L., Guzman-Perez, A., Brown, T.A., Li, M., 2007. Proline-rich tyrosine kinase 2 regulates osteoprogenitor cells and bone formation, and offers an anabolic treatment approach for osteoporosis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 104, 10619-10624.

Buffone, M.G., Foster, J.A., Gerton, G.L., 2008. The role of the acrosomal matrix in fertilization. The International journal of developmental biology 52, 511-522. Buffone, M.G., Hirohashi, N., Gerton, G.L., 2014a. Unresolved questions concerning mammalian sperm acrosomal exocytosis. Biology of reproduction 90, 112.

Buffone, M.G., Wertheimer, E.V., Visconti, P.E., Krapf, D., 2014b. Central role of soluble adenylyl cyclase and cAMP in sperm physiology. Biochimica et biophysica acta 1842, 2610-2620.

Burton, K.A., McKnight, G.S., 2007. PKA, germ cells, and fertility. Physiology (Bethesda, Md.) 22, 40-46.

Calalb, M.B., Polte, T.R., Hanks, S.K., 1995. Tyrosine phosphorylation of focal adhesion kinase at sites in the catalytic domain regulates kinase activity: a role for Src family kinases. Molecular and cellular biology 15, 954-963.

Carlson, A.E., Hille, B., Babcock, D.F., 2007. External Ca2+ acts upstream of adenylyl cyclase SACY in the bicarbonate signaled activation of sperm motility. Developmental biology 312, 183-192.

Carr, D.W., Hausken, Z.E., Fraser, I.D., Stofko-Hahn, R.E., Scott, J.D., 1992. Association of the type II cAMP-dependent protein kinase with a human thyroid RII-anchoring protein. Cloning and characterization of the RII-binding domain. The Journal of biological chemistry 267, 13376-13382.

Carr, D.W., Usselman, M.C., Acott, T.S., 1985. Effects of pH, lactate, and viscoelastic drag on sperm motility: a species comparison. Biology of reproduction 33, 588-595.

Carrera, A., Moos, J., Ning, X.P., Gerton, G.L., Tesarik, J., Kopf, G.S., Moss, S.B., 1996. Regulation of protein tyrosine phosphorylation in human sperm by a calcium/calmodulin-dependent mechanism: identification of A kinase anchor proteins as major substrates for tyrosine phosphorylation. Developmental biology 180, 284-296.

Chakrabarti, R., Cheng, L., Puri, P., Soler, D., Vijayaraghavan, S., 2007a. Protein phosphatase PP1 gamma 2 in sperm morphogenesis and epididymal initiation of sperm motility. Asian journal of andrology 9, 445-452.

Chakrabarti, R., Kline, D., Lu, J., Orth, J., Pilder, S., Vijayaraghavan, S., 2007b. Analysis of Ppp1cc-null mice suggests a role for PP1gamma2 in sperm morphogenesis. Biology of reproduction 76, 992-1001.

Chang, M.C., 1951. Fertilizing capacity of spermatozoa deposited into the fallopian tubes. Nature 168, 697-698.

Chang, M.C., 1959. Fertilization of rabbit ova in vitro. Nature 184(Suppl 7), 466-467.

Chen, Y.M., Lee, N.P., Mruk, D.D., Lee, W.M., Cheng, C.Y., 2003. Fer kinase/FerT and adherens junction dynamics in the testis: an in vitro and in vivo study. Biology of reproduction 69, 656-672.

Chodniewicz, D., Klemke, R.L., 2004. Regulation of integrin-mediated cellular responses through assembly of a CAS/Crk scaffold. Biochimica et biophysica acta 1692, 63-76.

Chung, J.J., Shim, S.H., Everley, R.A., Gygi, S.P., Zhuang, X., Clapham, D.E., 2014. Structurally distinct Ca(2+) signaling domains of sperm flagella orchestrate tyrosine phosphorylation and motility. Cell 157, 808-822.

Cole, J.A., Meyers, S.A., 2011. Osmotic stress stimulates phosphorylation and cellular expression of heat shock proteins in rhesus macaque sperm. Journal of andrology 32, 402-410.

Craig, A.W., Zirngibl, R., Greer, P., 1999. Disruption of coiled-coil domains in Fer protein-tyrosine kinase abolishes trimerization but not kinase activation. The Journal of biological chemistry 274, 19934-19942.

Craig, A.W., Zirngibl, R., Williams, K., Cole, L.A., Greer, P.A., 2001. Mice devoid of fer protein-tyrosine kinase activity are viable and fertile but display reduced cortactin phosphorylation. Molecular and cellular biology 21, 603-613.

Da Silva, N., Shum, W.W., Breton, S., 2007. Regulation of vacuolar proton pumping ATPase-dependent luminal acidification in the epididymis. Asian journal of andrology 9, 476-482.

Dar, A.C., Shokat, K.M., 2011. The evolution of protein kinase inhibitors from antagonists to agonists of cellular signaling. Annual review of biochemistry 80, 769-795.

Davies, S.P., Reddy, H., Caivano, M., Cohen, P., 2000. Specificity and mechanism of action of some commonly used protein kinase inhibitors. The Biochemical journal 351, 95-105.

De La Vega-Beltran, J.L., Sanchez-Cardenas, C., Krapf, D., Hernandez-Gonzalez, E.O., Wertheimer, E., Trevino, C.L., Visconti, P.E., Darszon, A., 2012. Mouse sperm membrane potential hyperpolarization is necessary and sufficient to prepare sperm for the acrosome reaction. The Journal of biological chemistry 287, 44384-44393.

de Lamirande, E., Gagnon, C., 2002. The extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) pathway is involved in human sperm function and modulated by the superoxide anion. Molecular human reproduction 8, 124-135.

DeMali, K.A., Wennerberg, K., Burridge, K., 2003. Integrin signaling to the actin cytoskeleton. Current opinion in cell biology 15, 572-582.

Demarco, I.A., Espinosa, F., Edwards, J., Sosnik, J., De La Vega-Beltran, J.L., Hockensmith, J.W., Kopf, G.S., Darszon, A., Visconti, P.E., 2003. Involvement of a Na+/HCO-3 cotransporter in mouse sperm capacitation. The Journal of biological chemistry 278, 7001-7009.

Dube, C., Leclerc, P., Baba, T., Reyes-Moreno, C., Bailey, J.L., 2005. The proacrosin binding protein, sp32, is tyrosine phosphorylated during capacitation of pig sperm. Journal of andrology 26, 519-528.

Dun, M.D., Aitken, R.J., Nixon, B., 2012. The role of molecular chaperones in spermatogenesis and the post-testicular maturation of mammalian spermatozoa. Human reproduction update 18, 420-435.

Dvorakova, K., Moore, H.D., Sebkova, N., Palecek, J., 2005. Cytoskeleton localization in the sperm head prior to fertilization. Reproduction (Cambridge, England) 130, 61-69. Ecroyd, H., Jones, R.C., Aitken, R.J., 2003. Tyrosine phosphorylation of HSP-90 during mammalian sperm capacitation. Biology of reproduction 69, 1801-1807. Edwards, R.G., Bavister, B.D., Steptoe, P.C., 1969. Early stages of fertilization in vitro of human oocytes matured in vitro. Nature 221, 632-635.

Escoffier, J., Krapf, D., Navarrete, F., Darszon, A., Visconti, P.E., 2012. Flow cytometry analysis reveals a decrease in intracellular sodium during sperm capacitation. Journal of cell science 125, 473-485.

Esposito, G., Jaiswal, B.S., Xie, F., Krajnc-Franken, M.A., Robben, T.J., Strik, A.M., Kuil, C., Philipsen, R.L., van Duin, M., Conti, M., Gossen, J.A., 2004. Mice deficient for soluble adenylyl cyclase are infertile because of a severe sperm-motility defect. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 101, 2993-2998.

Fardilha, M., Esteves, S.L., Korrodi-Gregorio, L., Pelech, S., da Cruz, E.S.O.A., da Cruz, E.S.E., 2011. Protein phosphatase 1 complexes modulate sperm motility and present novel targets for male infertility. Molecular human reproduction 17, 466-477.

Ficarro, S., Chertihin, O., Westbrook, V.A., White, F., Jayes, F., Kalab, P., Marto, J.A., Shabanowitz, J., Herr, J.C., Hunt, D.F., Visconti, P.E., 2003. Phosphoproteome analysis of capacitated human sperm. Evidence of tyrosine phosphorylation of a kinase-anchoring protein 3 and valosin-containing protein/p97 during capacitation. The Journal of biological chemistry 278, 11579-11589.

Fischman, K., Edman, J.C., Shackleford, G.M., Turner, J.A., Rutter, W.J., Nir, U., 1990. A murine fer testis-specific transcript (ferT) encodes a truncated Fer protein. Molecular and cellular biology 10, 146-153.

Flesch, F.M., Colenbrander, B., van Golde, L.M., Gadella, B.M., 1999. Capacitation induces tyrosine phosphorylation of proteins in the boar sperm plasma membrane. Biochemical and biophysical research communications 262, 787-792.

Florman, H.M., Jungnickel, M.K., Sutton, K.A., 2008. Regulating the acrosome reaction. The International journal of developmental biology 52, 503-510. Fraser, L.R., 1977. Motility patterns in mouse spermatozoa before and after capacitation. The Journal of experimental zoology 202, 439-444.

Fraser, L.R., 2010. The "switching on" of mammalian spermatozoa: molecular events involved in promotion and regulation of capacitation. Molecular reproduction and development 77, 197-208.

Fraser, L.R., Quinn, P.J., 1981. A glycolytic product is obligatory for initiation of the sperm acrosome reaction and whiplash motility required for fertilization in the mouse. Journal of reproduction and fertility 61, 25-35.

Gadella, B.M., Harrison, R.A., 2000. The capacitating agent bicarbonate induces protein kinase A-dependent changes in phospholipid transbilayer behavior in the sperm plasma membrane. Development (Cambridge, England) 127, 2407-2420.

Galantino-Homer, H.L., Visconti, P.E., Kopf, G.S., 1997. Regulation of protein tyrosine phosphorylation during bovine sperm capacitation by a cyclic adenosine 3'5'-monophosphate-dependent pathway. Biology of reproduction 56, 707-719.

Gangwar, D.K., Atreja, S.K., 2015. Signalling Events and Associated Pathways Related to the Mammalian Sperm Capacitation. Reproduction in domestic animals = Zuchthygiene 50, 705-711.

Gil-Henn, H., Destaing, O., Sims, N.A., Aoki, K., Alles, N., Neff, L., Sanjay, A., Bruzzaniti, A., De Camilli, P., Baron, R., Schlessinger, J., 2007. Defective microtubule-dependent podosome organization in osteoclasts leads to increased bone density in Pyk2(-/-) mice. The Journal of cell biology 178, 1053-1064.

Gilmore, A.P., Owens, T.W., Foster, F.M., Lindsay, J., 2009. How adhesion signals reach a mitochondrial conclusion--ECM regulation of apoptosis. Current opinion in cell biology 21, 654-661.

Gonzalez-Fernandez, L., Macias-Garcia, B., Loux, S.C., Varner, D.D., Hinrichs, K., 2013. Focal adhesion kinases and calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinases regulate protein tyrosine phosphorylation in stallion sperm. Biology of reproduction 88, 138.

Gonzalez-Fernandez, L., Macias-Garcia, B., Velez, I.C., Varner, D.D., Hinrichs, K., 2012. Calcium-calmodulin and pH regulate protein tyrosine phosphorylation in stallion sperm. Reproduction (Cambridge, England) 144, 411-422.

Goodson, S.G., Zhang, Z., Tsuruta, J.K., Wang, W., O'Brien, D.A., 2011. Classification of mouse sperm motility patterns using an automated multiclass support vector machines model. Biology of reproduction 84, 1207-1215.

Goto, N., Harayama, H., 2009. Calyculin A-sensitive protein phosphatases are involved in maintenance of progressive movement in mouse spermatozoa in vitro by suppression of autophosphorylation of protein kinase A. The Journal of reproduction and development 55, 327-334.

Greer, P., 2002. Closing in on the biological functions of Fps/Fes and Fer. Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology 3, 278-289.

Guinamard, R., Okigaki, M., Schlessinger, J., Ravetch, J.V., 2000. Absence of marginal zone B cells in Pyk-2-deficient mice defines their role in the humoral response. Nature immunology 1, 31-36.

Hall, J.E., Fu, W., Schaller, M.D., 2011. Focal adhesion kinase: exploring Fak structure to gain insight into function. International review of cell and molecular biology 288, 185-225.

Han, S., Mistry, A., Chang, J.S., Cunningham, D., Griffor, M., Bonnette, P.C., Wang, H., Chrunyk, B.A., Aspnes, G.E., Walker, D.P., Brosius, A.D., Buckbinder, L., 2009. Structural characterization of proline-rich tyrosine kinase 2 (PYK2) reveals a unique (DFG-out) conformation and enables inhibitor design. The Journal of biological chemistry 284, 13193-13201.

Hanks, S.K., Ryzhova, L., Shin, N.Y., Brabek, J., 2003. Focal adhesion kinase signaling activities and their implications in the control of cell survival and motility. Frontiers in bioscience : a journal and virtual library 8, d982-996.

Hao, Z., Jha, K.N., Kim, Y.H., Vemuganti, S., Westbrook, V.A., Chertihin, O., Markgraf, K., Flickinger, C.J., Coppola, M., Herr, J.C., Visconti, P.E., 2004. Expression analysis of the human testis-specific serine/threonine kinase (TSSK) homologues. A TSSK member is present in the equatorial segment of human sperm. Molecular human reproduction 10, 433-444.

Haraguchi, C.M., Mabuchi, T., Hirata, S., Shoda, T., Tokumoto, T., Hoshi, K., Yokota, S., 2007. Possible function of caudal nuclear pocket: degradation of nucleoproteins by ubiquitin-proteasome system in rat spermatids and human sperm. The journal of histochemistry and cytochemistry : official journal of the Histochemistry Society 55, 585-595.

Harrison, R.A., 2004. Rapid PKA-catalysed phosphorylation of boar sperm proteins induced by the capacitating agent bicarbonate. Molecular reproduction and development 67, 337-352.

Hazan, B., Bern, O., Carmel, M., Lejbkowicz, F., Goldstein, R.S., Nir, U., 1993. ferT encodes a meiosis-specific nuclear tyrosine kinase. Cell growth & differentiation : the molecular biology journal of the American Association for Cancer Research 4, 443-449.

Head, J.A., Jiang, D., Li, M., Zorn, L.J., Schaefer, E.M., Parsons, J.T., Weed, S.A., 2003. Cortactin tyrosine phosphorylation requires Rac1 activity and association with the cortical actin cytoskeleton. Mol Biol Cell 14, 3216-3229.

Henricks, D.M., Kouba, A.J., Lackey, B.R., Boone, W.R., Gray, S.L., 1998. Identification of insulin-like growth factor I in bovine seminal plasma and its receptor on spermatozoa: influence on sperm motility. Biology of reproduction 59, 330-337.

Hernandez-Gonzalez, E.O., Sosnik, J., Edwards, J., Acevedo, J.J., Mendoza-Lujambio, I., Lopez-Gonzalez, I., Demarco, I., Wertheimer, E., Darszon, A., Visconti, P.E., 2006. Sodium and epithelial sodium channels participate in the regulation of the capacitation-associated hyperpolarization in mouse sperm. The Journal of biological chemistry 281, 5623-5633. Herness, E.A., Naz, R.K., 1999. Presence and tyrosine phosphorylation of c-met receptor in human sperm. Journal of andrology 20, 640-647.

Hess, K.C., Jones, B.H., Marquez, B., Chen, Y., Ord, T.S., Kamenetsky, M., Miyamoto, C., Zippin, J.H., Kopf, G.S., Suarez, S.S., Levin, L.R., Williams, C.J., Buck, J., Moss, S.B., 2005. The "soluble" adenylyl cyclase in sperm mediates multiple signaling events required for fertilization. Developmental cell 9, 249-259.

Hinsch, K.D., De Pinto, V., Aires, V.A., Schneider, X., Messina, A., Hinsch, E., 2004. Voltage-dependent anion-selective channels VDAC2 and VDAC3 are abundant proteins in bovine outer dense fibers, a cytoskeletal component of the sperm flagellum. The Journal of biological chemistry 279, 15281-15288.

Hinton, B.T., Palladino, M.A., 1995. Epididymal epithelium: its contribution to the formation of a luminal fluid microenvironment. Microscopy research and technique 30, 67-81.

Hjermstad, S.J., Peters, K.L., Briggs, S.D., Glazer, R.I., Smithgall, T.E., 1993. Regulation of the human c-fes protein tyrosine kinase (p93c-fes) by its src homology 2 domain and major autophosphorylation site (Tyr-713). Oncogene 8, 2283-2292.

Hoskins, D.D., Acott, T.S., Critchlow, L., Vijayaraghavan, S., 1983. Studies on the roles of cyclic AMP and calcium in the development of bovine sperm motility. Journal of submicroscopic cytology 15, 21-27.

Huang, B., Wang, W., Bates, M., Zhuang, X., 2008. Three-dimensional superresolution imaging by stochastic optical reconstruction microscopy. Science (New York, N.Y.) 319, 810-813.

Huszar, G., Stone, K., Dix, D., Vigue, L., 2000. Putative creatine kinase M-isoform in human sperm is identified as the 70-kilodalton heat shock protein HspA2. Biology of reproduction 63, 925-932.

Ickowicz, D., Finkelstein, M., Breitbart, H., 2012. Mechanism of sperm capacitation and the acrosome reaction: role of protein kinases. Asian journal of andrology 14, 816-821.

Iwanishi, M., Czech, M.P., Cherniack, A.D., 2000. The protein-tyrosine kinase fer associates with signaling complexes containing insulin receptor substrate-1 and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. The Journal of biological chemistry 275, 38995-39000.

Jagan Mohanarao, G., Atreja, S.K., 2011. Identification of capacitation associated tyrosine phosphoproteins in buffalo (Bubalus bubalis) and cattle spermatozoa. Animal reproduction science 123, 40-47.

Jagan Mohanarao, G., Atreja, S.K., 2012. Identification of NO induced and capacitation associated tyrosine phosphoproteins in buffalo (Bubalus bubalis) spermatozoa. Research in veterinary science 93, 618-623.

Jha, K.N., Salicioni, A.M., Arcelay, E., Chertihin, O., Kumari, S., Herr, J.C., Visconti, P.E., 2006. Evidence for the involvement of proline-directed serine/threonine phosphorylation in sperm capacitation. Molecular human reproduction 12, 781-789.

Jha, K.N., Shivaji, S., 2002. Identification of the major tyrosine phosphorylated protein of capacitated hamster spermatozoa as a homologue of mammalian sperm a kinase anchoring protein. Molecular reproduction and development 61, 258-270.

Jones, R.C., Murdoch, R.N., 1996. Regulation of the motility and metabolism of spermatozoa for storage in the epididymis of eutherian and marsupial mammals. Reproduction, fertility, and development 8, 553-568.

Kadam, K., D'Souza, S., Natraj, U., 2007. Spatial distribution of actin and tubulin in human sperm nuclear matrix-intermediate filament whole mounts-a new paradigm. Microscopy research and technique 70, 589-598.

Kalina, M., Socher, R., Rotem, R., Naor, Z., 1995. Ultrastructural localization of protein kinase C in human sperm. The journal of histochemistry and cytochemistry : official journal of the Histochemistry Society 43, 439-445.

Kawai, Y., Hata, T., Suzuki, O., Matsuda, J., 2006. The relationship between sperm morphology and in vitro fertilization ability in mice. The Journal of reproduction and development 52, 561-568.

Khajah, M., Andonegui, G., Chan, R., Craig, A.W., Greer, P.A., McCafferty, D.M., 2013. Fer kinase limits neutrophil chemotaxis toward end target chemoattractants. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950) 190, 2208-2216.

Kierszenbaum, A.L., Rivkin, E., Tres, L.L., 2008. Expression of Fer testis (FerT) tyrosine kinase transcript variants and distribution sites of FerT during the development of the acrosome-acroplaxome-manchette complex in rat spermatids. Developmental dynamics : an official publication of the American Association of Anatomists 237, 3882-3891.

Kim, L., Wong, T.W., 1995. The cytoplasmic tyrosine kinase FER is associated with the catenin-like substrate pp120 and is activated by growth factors. Molecular and cellular biology 15, 4553-4561.

Kim, L., Wong, T.W., 1998. Growth factor-dependent phosphorylation of the actin-binding protein cortactin is mediated by the cytoplasmic tyrosine kinase FER. The Journal of biological chemistry 273, 23542-23548.

Kirichok, Y., Navarro, B., Clapham, D.E., 2006. Whole-cell patch-clamp measurements of spermatozoa reveal an alkaline-activated Ca2+ channel. Nature 439, 737-740.

Kito, S., Ohta, Y., 2008. In vitro fertilization in inbred BALB/c mice II: effects of lactate, osmolarity and calcium on in vitro capacitation. Zygote (Cambridge, England) 16, 259-270.

Klingbeil, C.K., Hauck, C.R., Hsia, D.A., Jones, K.C., Reider, S.R., Schlaepfer, D.D., 2001. Targeting Pyk2 to beta 1-integrin-containing focal contacts rescues fibronectin-stimulated signaling and haptotactic motility defects of focal adhesion kinase-null cells. The Journal of cell biology 152, 97-110.

Krapf, D., Arcelay, E., Wertheimer, E.V., Sanjay, A., Pilder, S.H., Salicioni, A.M., Visconti, P.E., 2010. Inhibition of Ser/Thr phosphatases induces capacitationassociated signaling in the presence of Src kinase inhibitors. The Journal of biological chemistry 285, 7977-7985.

Kumar, V., Rangaraj, N., Shivaji, S., 2006. Activity of pyruvate dehydrogenase A (PDHA) in hamster spermatozoa correlates positively with hyperactivation and is associated with sperm capacitation. Biology of reproduction 75, 767-777.

Laemmli, U.K., 1970. Cleavage of Structural Proteins during the Assembly of the Head of Bacteriophage T4. Nature 227, 680-685.

Lakkakorpi, P.T., Nakamura, I., Nagy, R.M., Parsons, J.T., Rodan, G.A., Duong, L.T., 1999. Stable association of PYK2 and p130(Cas) in osteoclasts and their colocalization in the sealing zone. The Journal of biological chemistry 274, 4900-4907.

Lax, Y., Rubinstein, S., Breitbart, H., 1994. Epidermal growth factor induces acrosomal exocytosis in bovine sperm. FEBS letters 339, 234-238.

Leclerc, P., de Lamirande, E., Gagnon, C., 1996. Cyclic adenosine 3',5'monophosphate-dependent regulation of protein tyrosine phosphorylation in relation to human sperm capacitation and motility. Biology of reproduction 55, 684-692.

Leclerc, P., de Lamirande, E., Gagnon, C., 1997. Regulation of protein-tyrosine phosphorylation and human sperm capacitation by reactive oxygen derivatives. Free radical biology & medicine 22, 643-656.

Leclerc, P., Goupil, S., 2002. Regulation of the human sperm tyrosine kinase c-yes. Activation by cyclic adenosine 3',5'-monophosphate and inhibition by Ca(2+). Biology of reproduction 67, 301-307.

Lee, M.A., Storey, B.T., 1986. Bicarbonate is essential for fertilization of mouse eggs: mouse sperm require it to undergo the acrosome reaction. Biology of reproduction 34, 349-356.

Lefievre, L., Chen, Y., Conner, S.J., Scott, J.L., Publicover, S.J., Ford, W.C., Barratt, C.L., 2007. Human spermatozoa contain multiple targets for protein Snitrosylation: an alternative mechanism of the modulation of sperm function by nitric oxide? Proteomics 7, 3066-3084.

Lev, S., Moreno, H., Martinez, R., Canoll, P., Peles, E., Musacchio, J.M., Plowman, G.D., Rudy, B., Schlessinger, J., 1995. Protein tyrosine kinase PYK2 involved in Ca(2+)-induced regulation of ion channel and MAP kinase functions. Nature 376, 737-745.

Levine, N., Kelly, H., 1978. Measurement of pH in the rat epididymis in vivo. Journal of reproduction and fertility 52, 333-335.

Levine, N., Marsh, D.J., 1971. Micropuncture studies of the electrochemical aspects of fluid and electrolyte transport in individual seminiferous tubules, the epididymis and the vas deferens in rats. The Journal of physiology 213, 557-570.

Lewis, B., Aitken, R.J., 2001. Impact of epididymal maturation on the tyrosine phosphorylation patterns exhibited by rat spermatozoa. Biology of reproduction 64, 1545-1556.

Li, Y.F., He, W., Kim, Y.H., Mandal, A., Digilio, L., Klotz, K., Flickinger, C.J., Herr, J.C., 2010. CABYR isoforms expressed in late steps of spermiogenesis bind with AKAPs and ropporin in mouse sperm fibrous sheath. Reprod Biol Endocrinol 8, 101.

Li, Y.F., He, W., Mandal, A., Kim, Y.H., Digilio, L., Klotz, K., Flickinger, C.J., Herr, J.C., Herr, J.C., 2011. CABYR binds to AKAP3 and Ropporin in the human sperm fibrous sheath. Asian journal of andrology 13, 266-274.

Lin, R.Y., Moss, S.B., Rubin, C.S., 1995. Characterization of S-AKAP84, a novel developmentally regulated A kinase anchor protein of male germ cells. The Journal of biological chemistry 270, 27804-27811.

Liu, D.Y., Clarke, G.N., Baker, H.W., 2006. Tyrosine phosphorylation on capacitated human sperm tail detected by immunofluorescence correlates strongly with sperm-zona pellucida (ZP) binding but not with the ZP-induced acrosome reaction. Human reproduction (Oxford, England) 21, 1002-1008.

Luconi, M., Barni, T., Vannelli, G.B., Krausz, C., Marra, F., Benedetti, P.A., Evangelista, V., Francavilla, S., Properzi, G., Forti, G., Baldi, E., 1998a. Extracellular signal-regulated kinases modulate capacitation of human spermatozoa. Biology of reproduction 58, 1476-1489.

Luconi, M., Cantini, G., Baldi, E., Forti, G., 2011. Role of a-kinase anchoring proteins (AKAPs) in reproduction. Frontiers in bioscience (Landmark edition) 16, 1315-1330.

Luconi, M., Forti, G., Baldi, E., 2006. Pathophysiology of sperm motility. Frontiers in bioscience : a journal and virtual library 11, 1433-1447.

Luconi, M., Krausz, C., Barni, T., Vannelli, G.B., Forti, G., Baldi, E., 1998b. Progesterone stimulates p42 extracellular signal-regulated kinase (p42erk) in human spermatozoa. Molecular human reproduction 4, 251-258.

Lund, P.A., 1995. The roles of molecular chaperones in vivo. Essays in biochemistry 29, 113-123.

Luo, J., Gupta, V., Kern, B., Tash, J.S., Sanchez, G., Blanco, G., Kinsey, W.H., 2012. Role of FYN kinase in spermatogenesis: defects characteristic of Fyn-null sperm in mice. Biology of reproduction 86, 1-8.

Luo, J., McGinnis, L.K., Carlton, C., Beggs, H.E., Kinsey, W.H., 2014. PTK2b function during fertilization of the mouse oocyte. Biochemical and biophysical research communications 450, 1212-1217.

Mahony, M.C., Gwathmey, T., 1999. Protein tyrosine phosphorylation during hyperactivated motility of cynomolgus monkey (Macaca fascicularis) spermatozoa. Biology of reproduction 60, 1239-1243.

Marchiani, S., Tamburrino, L., Giuliano, L., Nosi, D., Sarli, V., Gandini, L., Piomboni, P., Belmonte, G., Forti, G., Baldi, E., Muratori, M., 2011. Sumo1-ylation of human spermatozoa and its relationship with semen quality. International journal of andrology 34, 581-593.

Mariappa, D., Aladakatti, R.H., Dasari, S.K., Sreekumar, A., Wolkowicz, M., van der Hoorn, F., Seshagiri, P.B., 2010. Inhibition of tyrosine phosphorylation of sperm flagellar proteins, outer dense fiber protein-2 and tektin-2, is associated with impaired motility during capacitation of hamster spermatozoa. Molecular reproduction and development 77, 182-193.

Marin-Briggiler, C.I., Gonzalez-Echeverria, F., Buffone, M., Calamera, J.C., Tezon, J.G., Vazquez-Levin, M.H., 2003. Calcium requirements for human sperm function in vitro. Fertility and sterility 79, 1396-1403.

Maru, Y., Peters, K.L., Afar, D.E., Shibuya, M., Witte, O.N., Smithgall, T.E., 1995. Tyrosine phosphorylation of BCR by FPS/FES protein-tyrosine kinases induces association of BCR with GRB-2/SOS. Molecular and cellular biology 15, 835-842.

McGinnis, L.K., Luo, J., Kinsey, W.H., 2013. Protein tyrosine kinase signaling in the mouse oocyte cortex during sperm-egg interactions and anaphase resumption. Molecular reproduction and development 80, 260-272.

Miki, K., Qu, W., Goulding, E.H., Willis, W.D., Bunch, D.O., Strader, L.F., Perreault, S.D., Eddy, E.M., O'Brien, D.A., 2004. Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase-S, a sperm-specific glycolytic enzyme, is required for sperm motility and male fertility. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 101, 16501-16506.

Miki, K., Willis, W.D., Brown, P.R., Goulding, E.H., Fulcher, K.D., Eddy, E.M., 2002. Targeted disruption of the Akap4 gene causes defects in sperm flagellum and motility. Developmental biology 248, 331-342.

Mishra, S., Somanath, P.R., Huang, Z., Vijayaraghavan, S., 2003. Binding and inactivation of the germ cell-specific protein phosphatase PP1gamma2 by sds22 during epididymal sperm maturation. Biology of reproduction 69, 1572-1579.

Mitchell, L.A., Nixon, B., Aitken, R.J., 2007. Analysis of chaperone proteins associated with human spermatozoa during capacitation. Molecular human reproduction 13, 605-613.

Mitra, K., Rangaraj, N., Shivaji, S., 2005a. Novelty of the pyruvate metabolic enzyme dihydrolipoamide dehydrogenase in spermatozoa: correlation of its localization, tyrosine phosphorylation, and activity during sperm capacitation. The Journal of biological chemistry 280, 25743-25753.

Mitra, K., Shivaji, S., 2004. Novel tyrosine-phosphorylated post-pyruvate metabolic enzyme, dihydrolipoamide dehydrogenase, involved in capacitation of hamster spermatozoa. Biology of reproduction 70, 887-899.

Mitra, S.K., Hanson, D.A., Schlaepfer, D.D., 2005b. Focal adhesion kinase: in command and control of cell motility. Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology 6, 56-68.

Modregger, J., Ritter, B., Witter, B., Paulsson, M., Plomann, M., 2000. All three PACSIN isoforms bind to endocytic proteins and inhibit endocytosis. Journal of cell science 113 Pt 24, 4511-4521.

Morgan, D.J., Weisenhaus, M., Shum, S., Su, T., Zheng, R., Zhang, C., Shokat, K.M., Hille, B., Babcock, D.F., McKnight, G.S., 2008. Tissue-specific PKA inhibition using a chemical genetic approach and its application to studies on sperm capacitation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 105, 20740-20745.

Mortimer, S.T., Mortimer, D., 1990. Kinematics of human spermatozoa incubated under capacitating conditions. Journal of andrology 11, 195-203.

Mortimer, S.T., Swan, M.A., Mortimer, D., 1998. Effect of seminal plasma on capacitation and hyperactivation in human spermatozoa. Human reproduction (Oxford, England) 13, 2139-2146.

Moseley, F.L., Jha, K.N., Bjorndahl, L., Brewis, I.A., Publicover, S.J., Barratt, C.L., Lefievre, L., 2005. Protein tyrosine phosphorylation, hyperactivation and progesterone-induced acrosome reaction are enhanced in IVF media: an effect that is not associated with an increase in protein kinase A activation. Molecular human reproduction 11, 523-529.

Moss, S.B., Turner, R.M., Burkert, K.L., VanScoy Butt, H., Gerton, G.L., 1999. Conservation and function of a bovine sperm A-kinase anchor protein homologous to mouse AKAP82. Biology of reproduction 61, 335-342.

Muratori, M., Marchiani, S., Forti, G., Baldi, E., 2005. Sperm ubiquitination positively correlates to normal morphology in human semen. Human reproduction (Oxford, England) 20, 1035-1043.

Naaby-Hansen, S., Mandal, A., Wolkowicz, M.J., Sen, B., Westbrook, V.A., Shetty, J., Coonrod, S.A., Klotz, K.L., Kim, Y.H., Bush, L.A., Flickinger, C.J., Herr, J.C., 2002. CABYR, a novel calcium-binding tyrosine phosphorylation-regulated fibrous sheath protein involved in capacitation. Developmental biology 242, 236-254.

Naresh, S., Atreja, S.K., 2015. The protein tyrosine phosphorylation during in vitro capacitation and cryopreservation of mammalian spermatozoa. Cryobiology 70, 211-216.

Nauc, V., De Lamirande, E., Leclerc, P., Gagnon, C., 2004. Inhibitors of phosphoinositide 3-kinase, LY294002 and wortmannin, affect sperm capacitation and associated phosphorylation of proteins differently: Ca2+- dependent divergences. Journal of andrology 25, 573-585.

Navarrete, F.A., Garcia-Vazquez, F.A., Alvau, A., Escoffier, J., Krapf, D., Sanchez-Cardenas, C., Salicioni, A.M., Darszon, A., Visconti, P.E., 2015. Biphasic role of calcium in mouse sperm capacitation signaling pathways. Journal of cellular physiology 230, 1758-1769.

Naz, R.K., 1998. c-Abl proto-oncoprotein is expressed and tyrosine phosphorylated in human sperm cell. Molecular reproduction and development 51, 210-217.

Naz, R.K., Ahmad, K., 1992. Presence of expression products of c-erbB-1 and cerbB-2/HER2 genes on mammalian sperm cell, and effects of their regulation on fertilization. Journal of reproductive immunology 21, 223-239.

Naz, R.K., Ahmad, K., Kaplan, P., 1992. Expression and function of ras protooncogene proteins in human sperm cells. Journal of cell science 102 (Pt 3), 487-494.

Naz, R.K., Ahmad, K., Kumar, R., 1991. Role of membrane phosphotyrosine proteins in human spermatozoal function. Journal of cell science 99 (Pt 1), 157-165.

Naz, R.K., Padman, P., 1999. Identification of insulin-like growth factor (IGF)-1 receptor in human sperm cell. Archives of andrology 43, 153-159. Niswender, C.M., Ishihara, R.W., Judge, L.M., Zhang, C., Shokat, K.M., McKnight, G.S., 2002. Protein engineering of protein kinase A catalytic subunits results in the acquisition of novel inhibitor sensitivity. The Journal of biological chemistry 277, 28916-28922.

Nixon, B., Bielanowicz, A., Anderson, A.L., Walsh, A., Hall, T., McCloghry, A., Aitken, R.J., 2010. Elucidation of the signaling pathways that underpin capacitation-associated surface phosphotyrosine expression in mouse spermatozoa. Journal of cellular physiology 224, 71-83.

Nolan, M.A., Babcock, D.F., Wennemuth, G., Brown, W., Burton, K.A., McKnight, G.S., 2004. Sperm-specific protein kinase A catalytic subunit Calpha2 orchestrates cAMP signaling for male fertility. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 101, 13483-13488.

O'Flaherty, C., de Lamirande, E., Gagnon, C., 2004. Phosphorylation of the Arginine-X-X-(Serine/Threonine) motif in human sperm proteins during capacitation: modulation and protein kinase A dependency. Molecular human reproduction 10, 355-363.

O'Flaherty, C., de Lamirande, E., Gagnon, C., 2005. Reactive oxygen species and protein kinases modulate the level of phospho-MEK-like proteins during human sperm capacitation. Biology of reproduction 73, 94-105.

Oh, M.A., Choi, S., Lee, M.J., Choi, M.C., Lee, S.A., Ko, W., Cance, W.G., Oh, E.S., Buday, L., Kim, S.H., Lee, J.W., 2009. Specific tyrosine phosphorylation of focal adhesion kinase mediated by Fer tyrosine kinase in suspended hepatocytes. Biochimica et biophysica acta 1793, 781-791.

Okigaki, M., Davis, C., Falasca, M., Harroch, S., Felsenfeld, D.P., Sheetz, M.P., Schlessinger, J., 2003. Pyk2 regulates multiple signaling events crucial for macrophage morphology and migration. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 100, 10740-10745.

Organization, W.H., 2010. WHO Laboratory Manual for the Examination and Processing of Human Semen, 5th ed. World Health Organization press, Geneva, CH.

Ovesny, M., Krizek, P., Borkovec, J., Svindrych, Z., Hagen, G.M., 2014. ThunderSTORM: a comprehensive ImageJ plug-in for PALM and STORM data analysis and super-resolution imaging. Bioinformatics (Oxford, England) 30, 2389-2390.

Owen, K.A., Pixley, F.J., Thomas, K.S., Vicente-Manzanares, M., Ray, B.J., Horwitz, A.F., Parsons, J.T., Beggs, H.E., Stanley, E.R., Bouton, A.H., 2007a. Regulation of lamellipodial persistence, adhesion turnover, and motility in macrophages by focal adhesion kinase. The Journal of cell biology 179, 1275-1287.

Owen, K.A., Thomas, K.S., Bouton, A.H., 2007b. The differential expression of Yersinia pseudotuberculosis adhesins determines the requirement for FAK and/or Pyk2 during bacterial phagocytosis by macrophages. Cellular microbiology 9, 596-609.

Parrish, J.J., Susko-Parrish, J.L., First, N.L., 1989. Capacitation of bovine sperm by heparin: inhibitory effect of glucose and role of intracellular pH. Biology of reproduction 41, 683-699.

Petrunkina, A.M., Friedrich, J., Drommer, W., Bicker, G., Waberski, D., Topfer-Petersen, E., 2001. Kinetic characterization of the changes in protein tyrosine phosphorylation of membranes, cytosolic Ca2+ concentration and viability in boar sperm populations selected by binding to oviductal epithelial cells. Reproduction (Cambridge, England) 122, 469-480.

Piehler, E., Petrunkina, A.M., Ekhlasi-Hundrieser, M., Topfer-Petersen, E., 2006. Dynamic quantification of the tyrosine phosphorylation of the sperm surface proteins during capacitation. Cytometry. Part A : the journal of the International Society for Analytical Cytology 69, 1062-1070.

Pommer, A.C., Rutllant, J., Meyers, S.A., 2003. Phosphorylation of protein tyrosine residues in fresh and cryopreserved stallion spermatozoa under capacitating conditions. Biology of reproduction 68, 1208-1214.

Porambo, J.R., Salicioni, A.M., Visconti, P.E., Platt, M.D., 2012. Sperm phosphoproteomics: historical perspectives and current methodologies. Expert review of proteomics 9, 533-548.

Qualmann, B., Kelly, R.B., 2000. Syndapin isoforms participate in receptormediated endocytosis and actin organization. The Journal of cell biology 148, 1047-1062.

Robaire, B., Viger, R.S., 1995. Regulation of epididymal epithelial cell functions. Biology of reproduction 52, 226-236.

Roebroek, A.J., Schalken, J.A., Verbeek, J.S., Van den Ouweland, A.M., Onnekink, C., Bloemers, H.P., Van de Ven, W.J., 1985. The structure of the human c-fes/fps proto-oncogene. The EMBO journal 4, 2897-2903.

Rogers, B.J., Bastias, C., Coulson, R.L., Russell, L.D., 1989. Cytochalasin D inhibits penetration of hamster eggs by guinea pig and human spermatozoa. Journal of andrology 10, 275-282.

Rogers, R.S., Inselman, A., Handel, M.A., Matunis, M.J., 2004. SUMO modified proteins localize to the XY body of pachytene spermatocytes. Chromosoma 113, 233-243.

Roy, S.C., Atreja, S.K., 2008. Tyrosine phosphorylation of a 38-kDa capacitationassociated buffalo (Bubalus bubalis) sperm protein is induced by L-arginine and regulated through a cAMP/PKA-independent pathway. International journal of andrology 31, 12-24.

Salicioni, A.M., Platt, M.D., Wertheimer, E.V., Arcelay, E., Allaire, A., Sosnik, J., Visconti, P.E., 2007. Signalling pathways involved in sperm capacitation. Society of Reproduction and Fertility supplement 65, 245-259.

Sampson, M.J., Decker, W.K., Beaudet, A.L., Ruitenbeek, W., Armstrong, D., Hicks, M.J., Craigen, W.J., 2001. Immotile sperm and infertility in mice lacking mitochondrial voltage-dependent anion channel type 3. The Journal of biological chemistry 276, 39206-39212.

Santi, C.M., Martinez-Lopez, P., de la Vega-Beltran, J.L., Butler, A., Alisio, A., Darszon, A., Salkoff, L., 2010. The SLO3 sperm-specific potassium channel plays a vital role in male fertility. FEBS letters 584, 1041-1046.

Schaller, M.D., 2010. Cellular functions of FAK kinases: insight into molecular mechanisms and novel functions. Journal of cell science 123, 1007-1013.

Schlaepfer, D.D., Mitra, S.K., Ilic, D., 2004. Control of motile and invasive cell phenotypes by focal adhesion kinase. Biochimica et biophysica acta 1692, 77-102.

Schumacher, J., Ramljak, S., Asif, A.R., Schaffrath, M., Zischler, H., Herlyn, H., 2013. Evolutionary conservation of mammalian sperm proteins associates with overall, not tyrosine, phosphorylation in human spermatozoa. Journal of proteome research 12, 5370-5382.k

Sharma, D., Kinsey, W.H., 2013. PYK2: a calcium-sensitive protein tyrosine kinase activated in response to fertilization of the zebrafish oocyte. Developmental biology 373, 130-140.

Shen, C.J., Raghavan, S., Xu, Z., Baranski, J.D., Yu, X., Wozniak, M.A., Miller, J.S., Gupta, M., Buckbinder, L., Chen, C.S., 2011. Decreased cell adhesion promotes angiogenesis in a Pyk2-dependent manner. Experimental cell research 317, 1860-1871.

Shibuya, M., Hanafusa, T., Hanafusa, H., Stephenson, J.R., 1980. Homology exists among the transforming sequences of avian and feline sarcoma viruses. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 77, 6536-6540.

Si, Y., Okuno, M., 1999. Role of tyrosine phosphorylation of flagellar proteins in hamster sperm hyperactivation. Biology of reproduction 61, 240-246.

Signorelli, J., Diaz, E.S., Morales, P., 2012. Kinases, phosphatases and proteases during sperm capacitation. Cell and tissue research 349, 765-782.

Smith, G.D., Wolf, D.P., Trautman, K.C., da Cruz e Silva, E.F., Greengard, P., Vijayaraghavan, S., 1996. Primate sperm contain protein phosphatase 1, a biochemical mediator of motility. Biology of reproduction 54, 719-727.

Snyder, S.P., Theilen, G.H., 1969. Transmissible feline fibrosarcoma. Nature 221, 1074-1075.

Songyang, Z., Carraway, K.L., 3rd, Eck, M.J., Harrison, S.C., Feldman, R.A., Mohammadi, M., Schlessinger, J., Hubbard, S.R., Smith, D.P., Eng, C., et al., 1995. Catalytic specificity of protein-tyrosine kinases is critical for selective signalling. Nature 373, 536-539.

Steptoe, P.C., Edwards, R.G., 1978. Birth after the reimplantation of a human embryo. Lancet 2, 366.

Stival, C., La Spina, F.A., Baro Graf, C., Arcelay, E., Arranz, S.E., Ferreira, J.J., Le Grand, S., Dzikunu, V.A., Santi, C.M., Visconti, P.E., Buffone, M.G., Krapf, D., 2015. Src Kinase Is the Connecting Player between Protein Kinase A (PKA) Activation and Hyperpolarization through SLO3 Potassium Channel Regulation in Mouse Sperm. The Journal of biological chemistry 290, 18855-18864.

Suarez, S.S., 1996. Hyperactivated motility in sperm. Journal of andrology 17, 331-335.

Suarez, S.S., 2008. Control of hyperactivation in sperm. Human reproduction update 14, 647-657.

Suarez, S.S., Ho, H.C., 2003. Hyperactivation of mammalian sperm. Cellular and molecular biology (Noisy-le-Grand, France) 49, 351-356.

Suarez, S.S., Osman, R.A., 1987. Initiation of hyperactivated flagellar bending in mouse sperm within the female reproductive tract. Biology of reproduction 36, 1191-1198.

Sun, C.K., Ng, K.T., Lim, Z.X., Cheng, Q., Lo, C.M., Poon, R.T., Man, K., Wong, N., Fan, S.T., 2011. Proline-rich tyrosine kinase 2 (Pyk2) promotes cell motility of hepatocellular carcinoma through induction of epithelial to mesenchymal transition. PloS one 6, e18878.

Sutovsky, P., 2003. Ubiquitin-dependent proteolysis in mammalian spermatogenesis, fertilization, and sperm quality control: killing three birds with one stone. Microscopy research and technique 61, 88-102.

Sutovsky, P., Terada, Y., Schatten, G., 2001. Ubiquitin-based sperm assay for the diagnosis of male factor infertility. Human reproduction (Oxford, England) 16, 250-258.

Tang, H., Hao, Q., Fitzgerald, T., Sasaki, T., Landon, E.J., Inagami, T., 2002. Pyk2/CAKbeta tyrosine kinase activity-mediated angiogenesis of pulmonary vascular endothelial cells. The Journal of biological chemistry 277, 5441-5447.

Tardif, S., Dube, C., Chevalier, S., Bailey, J.L., 2001. Capacitation is associated with tyrosine phosphorylation and tyrosine kinase-like activity of pig sperm proteins. Biology of reproduction 65, 784-792.

Thundathil, J., de Lamirande, E., Gagnon, C., 2002. Different signal transduction pathways are involved during human sperm capacitation induced by biological and pharmacological agents. Molecular human reproduction 8, 811-816.

Tian, L., Nelson, D.L., Stewart, D.M., 2000. Cdc42-interacting protein 4 mediates binding of the Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein to microtubules. The Journal of biological chemistry 275, 7854-7861.

Toutant, M., Costa, A., Studler, J.M., Kadare, G., Carnaud, M., Girault, J.A., 2002. Alternative splicing controls the mechanisms of FAK autophosphorylation. Molecular and cellular biology 22, 7731-7743.

Travis, A.J., Jorgez, C.J., Merdiushev, T., Jones, B.H., Dess, D.M., Diaz-Cueto, L., Storey, B.T., Kopf, G.S., Moss, S.B., 2001. Functional relationships between capacitation-dependent cell signaling and compartmentalized metabolic pathways in murine spermatozoa. The Journal of biological chemistry 276, 7630-7636.

Urner, F., Leppens-Luisier, G., Sakkas, D., 2001. Protein tyrosine phosphorylation in sperm during gamete interaction in the mouse: the influence of glucose. Biology of reproduction 64, 1350-1357.

Varano, G., Lombardi, A., Cantini, G., Forti, G., Baldi, E., Luconi, M., 2008. Src activation triggers capacitation and acrosome reaction but not motility in human spermatozoa. Human reproduction (Oxford, England) 23, 2652-2662.

Vemuganti, S.A., Bell, T.A., Scarlett, C.O., Parker, C.E., de Villena, F.P., O'Brien, D.A., 2007. Three male germline-specific aldolase A isozymes are generated by alternative splicing and retrotransposition. Developmental biology 309, 18-31.

Vigodner, M., Ishikawa, T., Schlegel, P.N., Morris, P.L., 2006. SUMO-1, human male germ cell development, and the androgen receptor in the testis of men with normal and abnormal spermatogenesis. American journal of physiology. Endocrinology and metabolism 290, E1022-1033.

Vigodner, M., Morris, P.L., 2005. Testicular expression of small ubiquitin-related modifier-1 (SUMO-1) supports multiple roles in spermatogenesis: silencing of sex chromosomes in spermatocytes, spermatid microtubule nucleation, and nuclear reshaping. Developmental biology 282, 480-492.

Vijayaraghavan, S., Goueli, S.A., Davey, M.P., Carr, D.W., 1997. Protein kinase Aanchoring inhibitor peptides arrest mammalian sperm motility. The Journal of biological chemistry 272, 4747-4752.

Vijayaraghavan, S., Stephens, D.T., Trautman, K., Smith, G.D., Khatra, B., da Cruz e Silva, E.F., Greengard, P., 1996. Sperm motility development in the epididymis is associated with decreased glycogen synthase kinase-3 and protein phosphatase 1 activity. Biology of reproduction 54, 709-718.

Visconti, P.E., 2009. Understanding the molecular basis of sperm capacitation through kinase design. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 106, 667-668.

Visconti, P.E., Bailey, J.L., Moore, G.D., Pan, D., Olds-Clarke, P., Kopf, G.S., 1995a. Capacitation of mouse spermatozoa. I. Correlation between the capacitation state and protein tyrosine phosphorylation. Development (Cambridge, England) 121, 1129-1137.

Visconti, P.E., Johnson, L.R., Oyaski, M., Fornes, M., Moss, S.B., Gerton, G.L., Kopf, G.S., 1997. Regulation, localization, and anchoring of protein kinase A subunits during mouse sperm capacitation. Developmental biology 192, 351-363.

Visconti, P.E., Krapf, D., de la Vega-Beltran, J.L., Acevedo, J.J., Darszon, A., 2011. Ion channels, phosphorylation and mammalian sperm capacitation. Asian journal of andrology 13, 395-405.

Visconti, P.E., Moore, G.D., Bailey, J.L., Leclerc, P., Connors, S.A., Pan, D., Olds-Clarke, P., Kopf, G.S., 1995b. Capacitation of mouse spermatozoa. II. Protein tyrosine phosphorylation and capacitation are regulated by a cAMP-dependent pathway. Development (Cambridge, England) 121, 1139-1150.

Visconti, P.E., Westbrook, V.A., Chertihin, O., Demarco, I., Sleight, S., Diekman, A.B., 2002. Novel signaling pathways involved in sperm acquisition of fertilizing capacity. Journal of reproductive immunology 53, 133-150.

Weigel, A.V., Simon, B., Tamkun, M.M., Krapf, D., 2011. Ergodic and nonergodic processes coexist in the plasma membrane as observed by single-molecule tracking. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 108, 6438-6443.

Weinbauer, G.F., Schlatt, S., Walter, V., Nieschlag, E., 2001. Testosterone-induced inhibition of spermatogenesis is more closely related to suppression of FSH than to testicular androgen levels in the cynomolgus monkey model (Macaca fascicularis). The Journal of endocrinology 168, 25-38.

Wertheimer, E.V., Salicioni, A.M., Liu, W., Trevino, C.L., Chavez, J., Hernandez-Gonzalez, E.O., Darszon, A., Visconti, P.E., 2008. Chloride Is essential for capacitation and for the capacitation-associated increase in tyrosine phosphorylation. The Journal of biological chemistry 283, 35539-35550.

Wilks, A.F., Kurban, R.R., 1988. Isolation and structural analysis of murine c-fes cDNA clones. Oncogene 3, 289-294.

Wu, S.S., Jacamo, R.O., Vong, S.K., Rozengurt, E., 2006. Differential regulation of Pyk2 phosphorylation at Tyr-402 and Tyr-580 in intestinal epithelial cells: roles of calcium, Src, Rho kinase, and the cytoskeleton. Cellular signalling 18, 1932-1940.

Xie, F., Garcia, M.A., Carlson, A.E., Schuh, S.M., Babcock, D.F., Jaiswal, B.S., Gossen, J.A., Esposito, G., van Duin, M., Conti, M., 2006. Soluble adenylyl cyclase (sAC) is indispensable for sperm function and fertilization. Developmental biology 296, 353-362.

Yanagimachi, 1994a. Mammalian Fertilization. Raven Press, New York. Yanagimachi, R., 1994b. Mammalian fertilization. In The Phyisiology of Reproduction.

Yeung, C.H., Cooper, T.G., Oberpenning, F., Schulze, H., Nieschlag, E., 1993. Changes in movement characteristics of human spermatozoa along the length of the epididymis. Biology of reproduction 49, 274-280.

Yeung, Y.G., Soldera, S., Stanley, E.R., 1998. A novel macrophage actin-associated protein (MAYP) is tyrosine-phosphorylated following colony stimulating factor-1 stimulation. The Journal of biological chemistry 273, 30638-30642.

Zeng, Y., Clark, E.N., Florman, H.M., 1995. Sperm membrane potential: hyperpolarization during capacitation regulates zona pellucida-dependent acrosomal secretion. Developmental biology 171, 554-563.

Zeng, Y., Oberdorf, J.A., Florman, H.M., 1996. pH regulation in mouse sperm: identification of Na(+)-, Cl(-)-, and HCO3(-)-dependent and arylaminobenzoate-dependent regulatory mechanisms and characterization of their roles in sperm capacitation. Developmental biology 173, 510-520.